MODELLING LAKE LEVEL VARIATIONS, WATER BALANCE, AND FISHERIES OF LAKE BARINGO, KENYA

BY

RIZIKI WALUMONA JACQUES

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT FOR THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN FISHERIES AND AQUATIC SCIENCES (FISHERIES MANAGEMENT) OF THE UNIVERSITY OF ELDORET, KENYA

FEBRUARY, 2022

DECLARATION

Declaration by the Candidate

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University. No part of this thesis may be reproduced without the prior written permission of the author and/or University of Eldoret.

Riziki Walumona Jacques

2nd March 2022

SNAT/FAS/P/003/18

Declaration by the Supervisors

This thesis is submitted for examination with our approval as University Supervisors.

Asc

2nd March 2022

Professor Boaz Kaunda-Arara Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences University of Eldoret, Kenya

2nd March 2022

2nd March 2022

Professor Philip Okoth Raburu Planning, Research and Extension Division University of Eldoret, Kenya

Professor Fabrice Muvundja Amisi Department of Chemistry and Physics Institut Supérieur Pédagogique de Bukavu (ISP-Bukavu), DR. Congo

DEDICATION

To my Almighty God who ever does miracles,

To my beloved wife, *Hukasi Musibira Micheline*, and **our children**. This is for the many sad and joyful moments in your individual and collective lives, that I was physically absent during the period of this study.

And

To the memory of my late Father, *Symphorien M. Mwapu*, and his beloved wife, my mother, *Espérance M. Katundji*, and all my siblings, for their "great love".

This is my only way to acknowledge and appreciate all your efforts and sacrifices from primary education to this educational level.

Your encouragement got me this far.

The fear of the Lord is the beginning of knowledge (Proverbs 1:7)

ABSTRACT

Lake Baringo has the worst eroded catchment area and whose water levels (WLs) have been fluctuating at inter- and intra-annual time scales. These changes have been related to natural events and to human activities in the lake catchment. Changes in Lake Baringo water levels and water quality have affected fisheries production, ecological functioning and livelihoods. However, like for most tropical lakes, little is known about the linkages between WL changes, water quality parameters, fisheries production, and water/nutrient balance components of Lake Baringo. This study aimed to bridge this gap by modelling the linkages between WL variations, fisheries production, water quality, and water balance parameters of the lake. The study used both short and long-term datasets. Shortterm data were generated through monthly sampling of nine stations in the lake that extended from January 2020 to June 2021 while, long-term data (1956-2018) were sourced from grey and published data on the lake. Water samples were analyzed for selected physico-chemical variables using the standard methods for the analysis of water and wastewater at the Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) Baringo and Kisumu laboratories. Water balance of the lake was modeled through determination of input (river discharges, rainfall) and output (evaporation, abstraction, seepage) components of the balance. Lake level changes were analyzed based on annual and monthly deviations from long-term average (DLTM) and from patterns of lake level amplitude obtained from the annual/monthly maximum and minimum lake levels (WLamp). The fisheries and ecological functioning of Lake Baringo were described using the Ecopath mass-balanced model. Four main inputs required in the Ecopath model were used and included: biomass (B) production/biomass ratio (P/B), consumption/biomass ratio (Q/B), and ecotrophic efficiency (EE). Three annual Ecopath models (1999, 2010, 2020) were generated in order to compare the temporal trend in ecosystem functioning of the lake. Statistical approaches used to analyze the data majorly included; analysis of variance (ANOVA) applications, Locally-Weighted Scatter Plot Smoother (LOWESS), linear and waveform regression analyses, and Principal Component Analysis (PCA). Results indicated that, at inter-annual scale, the lake's trophic status shifted from eutrophic to mesotrophic status at long-term (2008-2020) and short-term (2020-2021) scales, following the Carlson's Trophic Status Index (CTSI) values. Water balance modelling indicated the water inputs from the runoff contributed for 75% in 1970-1995 and 71% in 2008-2021 to the lake's storage while, direct precipitation into the lake contributed 25% in 1970-1995 and 29% in 2008-2021 to the lake's storage, indicating that runoff is the major input component of Lake Baringo's water balance. The water losses from the lake were contributed by evaporation (59-42%), abstraction (29-7%) and underground seepage (7-3%) during 1970-1995 and 2008-2021, respectively. Waveform regression significantly modeled DLTM and showed a 20-year oscillation between peak water levels in the lake. There were significant positive correlations between Water Level Fluctuations (WLFs) and both the water quality variables and Water Quality Index (WQI), and between fishery yields and WLFs in Lake Baringo. Three annual Ecopath models (1999, 2010, 2020) confirmed three trophic levels for the lake and suggested a strong bottom-up control in the lake's food web. Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis is modeled as the keystone species in the lake. The Ecopath network analysis for the three models provided the ecosystem functioning and fisheries indicators whose temporal trends are variable and are described in the thesis. Overall, it is recommended that water resource management policies should guide the uses of water from the lake based on WHO guidelines. Water quality assessment, WLFs, species keystonness and other Ecopath results should be considered in the application of holistic and integrated lake basin management (ILBM) approaches in Lake Baringo and its watershed in order to sustain ecological services and the lake-dependent livelihoods.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONi
DEDICATIONii
ABSTRACTiii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF TABLESviii
LIST OF FIGURESxi
LIST OF APPENDICESxiv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS, AND SYMBOLSxv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSxvii
CHAPTER ONE1
INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Background of the study1
1.2 Statement of the problem5
1.3 Justification
1.4 Objectives of the study10
1.4.1 Main Objective10
1.4.2 Specific objectives10
1.5 Hypotheses10
1.6 Thesis structure11
CHAPTER TWO13
LITERATURE REVIEW13
2.1 Overview of African Lakes
2.1.1 Location and origin of African Rift Valley Lakes13
2.2 Water Quality impacts and Trophic Status in Lakes17
2.3 Lake water Balance models and Hydro-metereological components21
2.4 Effect of Lake Level Changes on Water Quality and Fish Yields24
2.5 Modelling of Ecosystem Functioning using Food Web and Energy Flow models
– Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE)26
2.5.1 Overview of Ecopath Model
CHAPTER THREE
MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1 Description of Study Area

3.1.1 Origin, and evolution	0
3.1.2 Geomorphology	1
3.1.3 Human population around the lake	2
3.1.4 Changes in water levels	2
3.1.5 Historical changes in the limnological status	5
3.1.6 Sedimentation	7
3.1.7 Hydrological and climatic conditions	9
3.1.8 Fisheries and fish biology4	2
3.2 Objective 1: Spatio-temporal variations in selected water quality parameters an	ıd
trophic status of Lake Baringo4	15
3.2.1 Sampling4	15
3.2.2 Analytical procedures4	18
3.2.3 Determination of Chlorophyll-a (Chla)5	50
3.2.4 Planktonic population sampling5	51
3.2.5 Detritus détermination	3
3.2.6 Calculation of Water Quality Index (WQI) of Lake Baringo54	1
3.2.7 Calculation of Organic Pollution Index (IPO)57	7
3.2.8 Lake Baringo trophic status estimation5	;9
3.3 Objective 2: Lake water balance modelling and its sensitivity to hydro-	
meteorological variations	2
3.3.1 Lake Water Balance Model (LWBM)62	2
3.3.2 Determination of parameters for water balance model63	3
3.3.3 Lake level sensitivity analysis7	1
3.4 Objective 3: Effects of water level fluctuations on water quality variables and	
fisheries of the lake7.	3
3.4.1 Data collection7	73
3.4.2 Water Level Fluctuations (WLFs) indices7	7
3.4.3 Water quality parameters	7
3.4.4 Lake Baringo Fisheries7	78
3.5 Objective 4: Modelling the food web properties and fisheries dynamics in Lake	9
Baringo using Ecopath mass-balanced model8	30
3.5.1 Mass balanced ecosystem model	31
3.5.2 Data collection and model set-up8	32
3.5.3 Functional groups used in the model	33

3.5.4 Fish landing catches used in the model
3.5.5 Estimation of length-based parameters used in the models
3.5.6 Diet composition per group85
3.5.7 Basic Input parameters used in the Ecopath models
3.5.8 Ecological functioning and fisheries indicator outputs
3.5.9 Keystoneness Index (KSi)93
3.5.10 Prebalancing conditions (PREBAL) of Ecopath model94
3.5.11 Balancing and calibration of the models95
3.5.12 Pedigree Index (P)95
3.6 General Data treatment and Statistical Analyses96
CHAPTER FOUR100
RESULTS100
4.1 Objective 1: Spatio-temporal variations in selected water quality parameters and
lake trophic status100
4.1.1 Physico-chemical water quality variables and Quality standards100
4.1.2 Relationship between limnological parameters in the lake109
4.1.3 Water quality (WQI) and Organic Pollution (OPI) Indices112
4.1.4 Trophic status of the lake114
4.2. Objective 2: Water balance modeling and its sensitivity to hydro-
meteorological variables119
4.2.1 Water level and rainfall trends119
4.2.2 Evaporation and rainfall in Lake Baringo basin
4.2.3 Inflow and loss Components
4.2.4 Sensitivity of Lake levels to meteorological variables
4.3 Objective 3: Effects of lake water level fluctuations on water quality variables
and lake fisheries128
4.3.1 Temporal variation in lake properties129
4.3.2 Water Level Fluctuation Patterns
4.3.3 Relationship between lake level fluctuations (WLFs) and water quality
parameters133
4.3.4 Relationship between lake level fluctuations and fisheries140
4.4 Objective 4: Modeling the food web properties and fisheries dynamics in Lake
Baringo using Ecopath mass-balanced model143
4.4.1 Catch composition and Trends in commercial fish landings143

4.4.2 EcopathTrophic flow models for Lake Baringo14	.5
4.4.3 Network analysis and Ecosystem indices15	52
4.4.4 Comparative analysis with African lakes16	1
4.4.5 Prebal and model balancing diagnostics16	4
CHAPTER FIVE	5
DISCUSSION16	6
5.1 Spatio-temporal variations in selected water quality parameters and lake trophic	с
status16	6
5.2 Water balance modeling and its sensitivity to hydro meteorological	
variations16	9
5.3 Effects of lake level fluctuations on water quality variables and fisheries17	'3
5.4 Modeling the food web properties and fisheries dynamics in Lake Baringo usin	ıg
Ecopath mass-balanced model17	8
CHAPTER SIX	4
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	4
6.1 Conclusions	4
6.2 Recommendations	7
REFERENCES191	l
APPENDICES	7
Appendix I: Identification Keys for phytoplankton population: a large file available	e
online:	,
Appendix II: Supplementary Tables (S)	,
Appendix III: Similarity Report	3

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Characteristics of the sampled 9 stations in the three ecological zones in
Lake Baringo. Summarized from Several studies (Mlewa, 2003; Odada et al., 2006,
Mlewa et al., 2006; Omondi et al., 2014; Nyakeya et al., 2020, Walumona et al.,
2021)
Table 3.2: Water quality classification based on WQI values (Bhateria and Jain,
2016)
Table 3.3: Parameter classes and limits for IPO index calculation. Adopted from
Leclercq and Maquet (1987)58
Table 3.4: Categories of water pollution based on the IPO index and watercolors.
Adopted from Leclercq and Maquet (1987)58
Table 3.5: Parameter trophic state indices and Carlson's Trophic State Index values
for classification of lakes (Carlson and Simpson, 1996). SD = Secchi depth; TP =
Total Phosphorus; Chl-a = Chlorophyll-a values; CTSI = Carlson Trophic State
Index61
Table 3.6: Morphometric and physico-chemical characteristics of Lake Baringo
(Kenya), data from various sources
Table 3.7: Input data used in the calculations of evaporation from the surface of Lake
Baringo, air temperature data coolected from Eldama Ravine online station and
literature (Omondi et al., 2014) (2008-2019) and this study (2020-2019)70
Table 3.8: Meteorological stations in the catchment of Lake Baringo (Kenya), period
of data collection, and mean annual rainfall recorded by the station (Ngaira, 2006;
Odada <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Okech <i>et al.</i> , 2019)74
Table 3.9: Number of fish specimens per species used in the estimation of individual
relative condition factor for the period 2008-2020 in Lake Baringo,
Kenya80
Table 3.10: Diet composition matrix (in % of the weight of the stomach content) of
consumers used in Ecopath model for Lake Baringo, Kenya86
Table 4.1: Statistical summary of annual means of some physico-chemical parameters
of Lake Baringo for the period 2008-2020, Kenya. Bold figures are significantly
different between stations or were above WHO/APHA thresholds. ANOVA results
are significant at P < 0.05

Table 4.2: Statistical summary of some physico-chemical parameters of Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period January 2020 - June 2021, Kenya. Bold figures are significantly different between stations or were above value criteria (WHO/APHA thresholds and/or others, Table 4.1)......108 Table 4.3: Pearson's linear correlation matrix of physico-chemical parameters derived within Lake Baringo, Kenya, from March 2008 to June 2021.....111 Table 4.4: The effective weight contribution of physico-chemical parameters to Water Quality Index (WQI) in Lake Baringo, Kenya, in relation to the WHO standards during the period 2008-2020.....113 Table 4.5: Organic pollution index (OPI) values and organic pollution types of sampling sites in Lake Baringo during the period 2008-2020. Different letters indicate significant differences between stations......114 Table 4.6: Temporal variation of TN:TP and DIN:SRP ratios as indicators of phytoplankton nutrient limitation in the lake, and Trophic Status Indices in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period 2008-2020.....116 Table 4.7: Monthly variation of TN:TP and DIN:SRP ratios as nutrient limitation indicators and Trophic Status Indices of Lake Baringo from January 2020 to June Table 4.8: (a) Monthly mean (\pm SD) and (b) total annual evaporation and rainfall values over Lake Baringo's catchment as estimated by Thornthwaite method for the period from 2008 to 2021. Monthly means are compared over the Table 4.9: Inflow and outflow components for the water balance model of Lake Baringo for two periods 1970-1995 and 2008-2021. Water balance components of the lake are in mm, except the residence time which is in years......126 Table 4.10: The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (r) between selected variables describing the water quality parameters and hydrological indices describing the water level fluctuations (WLFs) in Lake Baringo (Kenya) between 2008 and Table 4.11: The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (r) between selected variables describing the water quality parameters and hydrological indices (DLTM and WLamp) describing the water level fluctuations (WLFs) in Lake Baringo, Kenya,

Table 4.12: The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (r) between hydrological variables describing the water level fluctuations (WLFs) and fisheries ofLake Baringo, Kenya, between 2008 and 2020.....141 Table 4.13: Final parameters for ecopath models representing the Lake Baringo's fishery for 1999, 2010 and 2020, where TL = trophic level, B = biomass reported in wet weight, P/B = turnover rate, Q/B = consumption rate, EE = ecotrophic efficiency, and P/Q = gross efficiency. Bold figures (TL, EE and P/Q) are outputs from the Table 4.14. Proportional total system biomass (g wet weight m-2) for discrete trophic levels (TL) from Lake Baringo ecosystem models for years 1999, 2010, and Table 4.15: Summary output statistics of the mass-balance Ecopath model of Lake Baringo showing ecosystem attributes; network flow indices, and information flow Indices during 1999, 2010, and 2020. The trend indicates the direction towards a mature system (\pm indicating increasing/decrease respectively). N/a stands for Table 4.16: Comparison of system statistics estimated by Ecopath model for Lake Baringo and other tropical lakes163 Table S1: Two-way ANOVA (P < 0.05) results for 10 selected variables measured in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period of 2008-2020. Bold figures depict parameters Table S2: Two-way ANOVA (P < 0.05) results for 15 selected variables measured in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period of January 2020- June 2021. Bold figures depict parameters with significant differences of either both the seasons and stations or one of them, the interaction between station x years did not show significant differences Table S3: Annual catch landings, surface water temperature, length and growth coefficient estimates of fish species used in Ecopath model for Lake Baringo (Kenya) for 1999, 2000, and 2020......242

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Map of Eastern African lakes showing their neighboring landmasses.
Adopted from Nyamweru (1983)14
Figure 2.2: Map showing the location of lakes in the eastern arm of the Kenyan Great
Rift Valley including Lake Baringo, adopted from Nyamweya et al. (2010)16
Figure 3.1: Map of Lake Baringo (Kenya) showing the sampling stations (S2 =
southern station; C1, C2, and C3 = three stations in the central part and N2 = northern
station) (adopted from Nyakeya <i>et al.</i> , 2020)30
Figure 3.2: a) Bathymetric map for Lake Baringo (August 2003) (Hickley et al., 2003)
and b) water occurrence from 1984 to 2020 in the lake emphasizing the variability of
the surface area (Hermegger <i>et al.</i> , 2021)
Figure 3.3: Map of Lake Baringo and its drainage basin in the Kenyan Rift Valley
with a display of its hydrographic network in relation to those of other rift lakes and
lakeshore position in 2003 (stippled line) and during the flooded situation of 2014.
Adopted from Okech <i>et al.</i> (2019)
Figure 3.2: Cross-section of a stream divided into vertical sections for measurement
of discharge (Bartram and Balance, 1996)67
Figure 3.3: Relationship between Lake Baringo storage capacity and water level for
the period from January 1970 to June 202172
Figure 3.4: Scatter plots of rainfall as derived from satellite station (ELDR) over Lake
Baringo vs rainfall measured water over its catchment: (a) relationship of monthly
means (2008-2021), and (b) Averages of annual data computed at the 23 stations in
the lake catchment for the years 1959-2021 (Table 3.8)77
Figure 4.1: Temporal variation of physico-chemical water quality parameters in Lake
Baringo, Kenya, for the period 2008-2020. Circles are means of all samples collected
monthly from stations while the smoothing trendline is estimated by LOWESS
smoother104
Figure 4.2: Time-series of nutrient loads in Lake Baringo, Kenya. Circles are means
of all samples collected monthly in the sampling stations from 2008 to 2020. The
solid line within the time-series plot is the trendline of monthly means calculated
usingLOWESS smoother105

Figure 4.3: Relationship between a) Chlorophyll-a and Total suspended solids, b)
Turbidity of lake water and rainfall in the catchment of Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the
period 2008-2020
Figure 4.4: Changes in the monthly water quality index (WQI) in relation to turbidity
in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period 2008-2020. Blue line indicates upper limit of
WQI as per WHO standards
Figure 4.5: (a) Variations of annual Lake Baringo water level (black continuous line)
and precipitation (grey line) for the period 1960-2020 with average long-term long
lake (dashed line) and (b) monthly lake levels for the period January 2020-June
2021121
Figure 4.6: The depth - capacity curve for Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period
January 1970 - June 2021122
Figure 4.7: Comparison of water level variations (relative average levels) of selected
neighboring rift valley lakes with the levels observed from in-situ gauged data for
Lake Baringo, Kenya (period 1960-2020). Data from Lakes Turkana and Naivasha are
satellite derived
Figure 4.8: Lake water level sensitivity to changes in (a) temperature; (b) rainfall; (c)
Relative humidity; (d) cloudiness for the period January 2008-June 2021128
Figure 4.9: PCA analyses of Lake Baringo used to characterize water-level fluctuation
influences on its fishery production and water quality properties from 2008-2020.
Amp.: amplitude, Temp.: temperature, Tot. Bio.: total biomass and DLTM: is the
annual difference from the long-term mean or average lake level130
Figure 4.10: Long-term (1956-2020) patterns in yearly lake level amplitudes for Lake
Baringo, Kenya. The continuous line represents a LOWESS fit to the data131
Figure 4.11: Linear and waveform regressions of mean Water Level Fluctuations,
expressed as the difference from the long-term mean (DLTM) over time (1956-2020)
for Lake Baringo, Kenya. The positive trend suggests that water levels are rising over
time; a 20-year periodicity in oscillation is discerned132
Figure 4.12: a) Depth-frequency distributions displayed as a histogram of pixel depth
and b) Lake water level-surface area relationship of Lake Baringo, Kenya, measured
from 1956-2020
Figure 4.13: Gaussian model fit demonstrating unimodal response of water quality
index (WQI) with Water Level Fluctuations indices over a 13 year period (2008-
2020) for Lake Baringo, Kenya

Figure 4.14: (a) Gaussian and (b) linear models fit demonstrating both unimodal and linear responses of water quality index (WQI) to Water Level Fluctuations indices (DLTM and Amplitude) over 18 months (January 2020- June 2021) for Lake Baringo, Figure 4.15: Relationship between annual mean fisheries landings and water level fluctuations in Lake Baringo, Kenya, from 1982-2020.....140 Figure 4.16: Gaussian model fit demonstrating unimodal response of fisheries yields with Water Level Fluctuations over a 18 month period (January 2020-June 2021) for Lake Baringo......142 Figure 4.17: Time-series of commercial fish landings in Lake Baringo, Kenya. Circles are mean values of all samples collected monthly from 1982 to 2020. Solid line is LOWESS trendline of monthly mean values.....144 Figure 4.18: Trophic models for Lake Baringo's fishery during (a) 1999, (b) 2010 and (c) 2020. Vertical position approximates the trophic level. The circle size is proportional to the compartment (population and/or functional groups) biomass (g wet Figure 4.19. Fisheries indicators (trophic level of the catches; TLc, primary production required; PPR and gross fishing efficiency; GFE) calculated for three different trophic models for the food web of Lake Baringo, Kenya......159 Figure 4.20: Relative overall effect (ɛi) and keystoneness (KSi) of each species/functional group from the Lake Baringo ecosystem models for (a): 1999, (b): 2010, and (c): 2020. The number corresponds to keystoneness rankings from 1999 species/functional groups : 1-P. aethiopicus; 2-L. intermedius; 3-C. gariepinus; 4-O. niloticus; 5-Mollusks; 6-zooplankton and 7-phytoplankton.....161 Figure 4.21: Relationship between system biomass values and trophic levels for functional groups in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the years: (a): 1999, (b): 2010, and (c):

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix I: Identification Keys for phytoplankton community: a large	e file available
Online	237
Appendix II: Supplementary tables (S)	238
Appendix III: Similarity Report	243

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS, AND SYMBOLS

a.m.s.l.:	Above mean sea level
ANOVA:	Analysis of variance
BOD:	Biological Oxygen demand
COTRA:	Collaborative Training in Fisheries and Aquaculture in Eastern,
	Central, and Southern Africa
CTSI:	Carlson Trophic State Index
DLTM:	Difference from the long-term mean
DOC:	Dissolved Organic Carbon
EARVL:	East African Rift Valley Lakes
EE:	Ecotrophic Efficiency
EU:	European Union
EwE:	Ecopath with Ecosim
GE:	Gross Efficiency
ILBM:	Integrated Lake Basin Management
OPI:	Organic Pollution Index
KMFRI:	Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute
NPP:	Net Primary Production
NTU:	Nephelometric Turbidity Unit
OECD:	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
OI:	Omnivory Index
PAR:	Photosynthetic Available Radiation
PCA:	Principal Components Analysis

PET:	Potential Evapotranspiration
SD:	Secchi Disk
TDS:	Total Dissolved Solids
TL:	Trophic Level
TN:	Total nitrogen
TP:	Total phosphorus
TSI:	Trophic State Index
TSS:	Total suspended solids
TST:	Total system throughput
UoE:	University of Eldoret
WARA:	Kenyan Water Resource Authority
WHO:	World Health Organization
WLF:	Water Level Fluctuations
WQI:	Water Quality Index

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I sincerely acknowledge the funding from the Collaborative Training in Fisheries and Aquaculture in Eastern, Central, and Southern Africa Project (COTRA project) supported by European Union (EU). I also thank the Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI), Baringo Station for partly supporting the fieldwork, laboratory analyses and providing long-term data on the lake's limnology and fishery. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my major mentors and supervisors, Professors Boaz Kauda-Arara and Philip Raburu for guiding the development of ideas, field work and thesis write-up.

It was Prof. Fabrice Muvundja Amisi (ISP/Bukavu), my home Country supervisor, who attracted my attention to graduate study, guided and oriented my education, and stimulated my interest in aquatic science studies and research. Kindly, receive my grateful feelings.

A special thanks to Dr. Cyprian Odoli Ogombe (KMFRI/Baringo) whose facilities, kindness, and humility have not only taught me a lot but contributed to the completion of this thesis and made it possible for me to meet the COTRA Project and UoE timeframes. Doctor, you are and have been for me more like a supervisor and mentor.

A lot of gratitude to Prof. Mbalassa Mulongaibalu (UOB/Bukavu) for his guidance, time, and consideration during the COTRA project application and selection.

The support of Dr. Doreen ORAWO from the department of Communication skills (UoE) in improving my English language and communication skills is thankfully acknowledged.

I would like to thank my UERHA laboratory members: Professors and researchers: Boniface Kaningini M., Pascal Isumbisho M., Pascal Masilya M., Kise Kisekelwa T., Louisette Wimba and Héritier Milenge K. To CT Béni Hyangya, Jacques Mazambi L., Georges Alunga L., François Zabene Z., and others as well as madam Emilie Bahati K. Your support, encouragement, and guidance are much appreciated.

My gratitude to the Kenya State Department of Fisheries, especially madam Grace and Kenya Water Resource Authority (WARA) for providing long-term data on the fishery, data on rainfall and air temperature in the lake's basin, and water levels of the lake.

My thanks go to my brothers, classmates, and colleagues from various countries Benjamin N. Kondowe, Edwin Yongo, Mandela Hinneh, Joseph Kabanze, Nifuma Sofia Siwayi, Mukendwa Ndozi, Sellu Mawundu, Augustine Sitati and Alfred Ochieng for the entertainment and encouragement. Also to the technicians and friends from KMFRI at Kisumu station, Mrs. Joseph Mwanchi, and James Achiya, for lab work, and Benjamin Bett Arwait, Julius Kiplagat, Mzee Barongo, Caroline Kibet, and Winnie Chelagat from KMFRI Baringo station for assistance in the field and sample analysis, and Brian Keya for assistance in plankton identification. Besides, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to all my fellow COTRA and post-graduate students at the Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences at UoE for their constructive help and support during my academic journey.

To my fellow French speaker sisters Nelly Nakangu Furaha (UOB/Bukavu), Nicole Nshobole (UCB/Bukavu), Dorcas Sanginga from DR. Congo and Mamie Souadou Diop from Senegal, thank you for your assistance when it was most needed. Learning in a foreign language was not easy but at least I made it. "Roots are bitter but the fruits are sweet". This applies to my new colleagues in the program Félix Lunanga Kanyamwa and Bernadette ATOSHA Byemba (ISP/Bukavu) as well as Jean Nacishali Nteranya (UOB/Bukavu) and Felix MUHIZI (University of Rwanda).

Finally, to the most important people in my life, my beloved wife Micheline Hukasi Musibira and children, son Angelo Etebingi Mwapu and daughter Michaellange Kubota Mwapu, I owe you the greatest debt, for the love you give me and the faith in me you ever show. My eternal gratitude goes to my mother and late father, brothers, and sisters whose contribution to my life cannot be expressed in words.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

Lakes and rivers offer a variety of ecological services and support livelihoods. Despite their importance, freshwater ecosystems are threatened by many factors including, invasive species, climate change, and human impacts (Dudgeon et al., 2006). Closed lakes such as Lake Baringo (Kenya), are particularly vulnerable ecosystems because their hydrological balance is mostly controlled by evaporation due to the absence of a sufficient drainage outflow (Dunkley et al., 1993; Verschuren, 2003; Okech et al. 2019). Thus, closed lakes are very sensitive to changes in air temperature and precipitation, and in this way, they deserve special attention about the possible effects of environmental and anthropogenic changes on biodiversity (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Kolding et al., 2012, Grownaris et al., 2018). The chemical composition in closed lakes is thus a function of hydrological regime and the geological and agronomic nature of the surrounding catchment area (Schindler, 1978). Biological production in aquatic ecosystems (both open and closed water bodies) is partly dictated by abiotic factors such as lake morphology, water volumes, and nutrients (Kolding and van Zwieten, 2012). According to Schindler (1978), external nutrient loading mostly explains the changes in phytoplankton production irrespective pattern and/or climatic seasonality in lakes. In tropical lakes, little seasonal changes and high temperatures lead to temporal biological variability and cause seasonal variations in water volumes with effects on nutrient dynamics (Lowe-McConnell, 1979).

The changes in lake water levels are a major indicator of the variations in the hydrological regime of the lake drainage basin related to variations in the runoff properties (land-use changes) and/or climatic changes as well as meteorological changes in the catchment (Vuglinskiy, 2009). The variability in the water budget components results in water volume changes, flooding, submergence of littoral communities, and changes in ecological processes in the lake (Gownaris, 2015). Water level fluctuations (WLFs) in aquatic systems affect their physico-chemical properties, assemblage structures, ecosystem functions, and ecological services (Coops and Hosper, 2002). The reduction in precipitation and increase in temperatures especially in arid and semi-arid areas leads to elevated water temperatures, high evapotranspiration rate, and reduced lake level and/or volume (Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2012; Okech et al., 2019; Herrnegger et al., 2021). Water level changes in lakes can be caused by natural factors such as climatic forcing (Bergonzini et al., 2004; Dudgeon et al., 2006; Gownaris et al., 2015), human influences such as through damming abstraction (Aloo, 2002; Evtimova and Donohue, 2014). The changes in lake level may in turn affect physico-chemical parameters through volume changes and productivity of the system through ecohydrological influences (Zalewski et al., 1997; Coops and Hosper, 2002). Changes in water levels (WLFs) tend to affect lake productivity through nutrient supply variations, influence on breeding areas, and changes in shallow productive inshore areas (Kolding and van Zwieten, 2012; Gownaris et al., 2015; Musinguzi et al., 2019) in addition to changes in water quality parameters (White et al., 2008). The influence of water level variations on water quality and fisheries production has been widely studied in most temperate rivers, lakes, and reservoirs (Welcomme, 1970;

Hamerlynck *et al.*, 2011; Kolding *et al.*, 2016). However, there has been a paucity of studies in tropical freshwater bodies and especially the Afrotropical systems.

East African Rift Valley Lakes, such as Lake Baringo, are sensitive to climate changes due to their arid/semi-arid location, shallowness, and water level variations in response to environmental changes (Ngaira, 2006; Gownaris, 2015; Okech *et al.*, 2019; Herrnegger *et al.*, 2021). Historically, the Kenyan Rift Valley region has been receiving an insufficient amount of variable annual rainfall (Ngaira, 2006, Okech *et al.*, 2019) leading to no equilibrium between the water budget components of the lakes (Herrnegger *et al.*, 2021). This has dramatically affected water levels of the Rift Valley Lakes, water quality, and fishery production (Gownaris *et al.*, 2015; Okech *et al.*, 2019; Herrnegger *et al.*, 2021).

Lake Baringo in the Rift Valley of Kenya has had variable lake level changes due to droughts and floods (Odada *et al.*, 2006; Aura *et al.*, 2020; Herrnegger *et al.*, 2021). The lake supports the local economy and livelihoods through fisheries and several economic uses of water (Odada *et al.*, 2006; Aura *et al.*, 2020). However, all the benefits and multiple activities in the lake and its surroundings have increasingly put it under threats (Onyando *et al.*, 2005; Omondi *et al.*, 2014). The population surrounding the lake has been growing rapidly in recent years (KNBS, 2015). This has led to an increase in urban runoff, and effluent discharges from industries, agriculture, and mining activities in the lake catchment with potential effects on water quality (Aloo, 2002). The lake is thought to be experiencing eutrophication due to phosphate and nitrogen from intensive agricultural activities in its catchement (Aloo, 2002; Odada *et al.*, 2006; Omondi *et al.*, 2014). Lake Baringo is characterized

by low water depths (average of 9.5 m, as in 2020, Walumona, personal observation), the mixing of surface and bottom water induced by the wave actions together with soils with limited vegetative cover in the lake basin contributes to the lake's notable high turbidity, reported to affect primary productivity of the lake (Odada *et al.*, 2006; Hinckley *et al.*, 2014; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020).

The lake's fishery was mostly based on the endemic Oreochromis niloticus baringioensis before the introduction of the marbled lungfish, Protopterus aethiopicus (Mlewa, 2003; Mlewa et al., 2006; Odada et al., 2006). The fish landings have decreased in recent years due to overfishing and the cascading effects of environmental changes (Omondi et al., 2014). Also recently, some of the species such as Labeobarbus intermedius (Baringo barb) and Labeo cylindricus have not appeared or have appeared sporadically in fishermen's catches as they are becoming very rare in the lake (Aloo, 2002; Odada et al., 2006; Omondi et al., 2014) and are likely functionally extinct. The fisheries of the lake could be affected by both overfishing, polluted water from its tributaries, and runoff which causes water quality degradation. Additionally, the water level fluctuations in Lake Baringo believed to be influenced by both climate change and human activities (deforestation, damming on rivers, and land use patterns) in its basin likely have influences on the lake's ecohydrology but have not been well studied. The extent to which water level fluctuations affect the lake's physico-chemical parameters and hence productivity has not been quantified but may be significant and could as well be related to fluctuations in fish catches and the loss of biodiversity in the lake.

For the sustainable management of the lake ecosystems; information on factors affecting fisheries dynamics, the water quality changes of the lake, the quantities and temporal variations of river inflows and influence on water balance, and the influences of water level fluctuations of the lake is important for intervention policies and management. This study therefore aimed at generating these sets of information for Lake Baringo, a rift valley lake in Kenya, for purposes of sustainable management of the ecosystem and the livelihoods of riparian communities.

1.2 Statement of the problem

The effects of climate change on African water systems are seen through interchanges in the hydrological cycle and the temperature (Lundgren *et al.*, 2019). The lake level changes may expose or submerge littoral communities, and water volume changes may result in changes in physico-chemical properties, leading to changes in habitat quality for aquatic species which may, in turn, affect the distribution and abundance of fisheries species (Gownaris, 2015; Gownaris *et al.*, 2017). Reduced precipitation and higher temperatures can result in increased concentrations of pollutants in a lake due to reducing lake level and/or volume and warming surface water leading to high evapotranspiration (Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2012; Gownaris, 2015).

Warming of lake waters has been observed in tropical lakes in general including Lake Baringo (Hulme *et al.* 2001; Omondi *et al.*, 2014). Lake level induced by water warming may affect primary and secondary production and the spatial distribution of fishes (Grownaris *et al.*, 2015; 2017). However, there has been little quantification of these effects in African lakes (Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2012). Tropical African lakes are sensitive to climate change as their water balances are mostly dominated by direct precipitation on the lakes and evaporation, with river inflow and outflow making little contribution to the water balance (O'Reilly *et al.*, 2004; Verberg *et al.*, 2003; UNEP, 2004; Muvundja *et al.*, 2014; Grownaris, 2015).

Lake Baringo, a Ramsar site, is a shallow lake with high turbidity and high net evaporation that characterizes the Kenyan Rift Valley Lakes (Odada et al., 2006; Omondi et al., 2014). Lake Baringo basin is one of the worst-eroded areas in Kenya (Thom and Martin, 1983; Aloo, 2002; Odada et al., 2006). The lake is also characterized by fluctuations in water levels due to climate change effects, dam construction, abstraction of water for irrigation and drinking purposes, and catchment deforestation, amongst others (Onyandi, 2005; Omondi et al., 2011). Water level fluctuation (WLFs) affects productivity and influences the timing and breeding habitat areas and other biological events in aquatic systems (Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2012). Recently, there has been remarkable variations in climatic patterns (floods and droughts) that have negatively affected Lake Baringo water levels (Ngaira, 2006; Omondi et al., 2014; Aura et al., 2020; Hermegger et al., 2021). However, the influences of water level fluctuations on the lake's physico-chemical properties and ecological functioning have not been well documented (see Walumona et al., 2021a). In the tropics, rainfall remains the main factor that affects the aquatic ecosystems in arid and semi-arid areas such as Lake Baringo (Odada et al., 2006; Omondi et al., 2014). Water level fluctuations can alter habitat availability, complexity and quality depending on the morphology of the ecosystem and may lead to large variations in littoral habitats (Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2006; Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2016; Gownaris et al., 2017; Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2018) which is, for most lakes, considered as a reproduction habitat for most fish. It is likely that fish habitats in Lake Baringo may have been affected by changing water levels and hence recruitment rates and long-term fisheries harvests could be affected. The lake is known to be highly turbid due to volcanic soil deposited from erosion in the catchment (Onyando *et al.*, 2005). Turbidity of the lake is likely to vary with lake levels with consequent variations in lake productivity and effects on ecosystem functioning and structure (Gownaris *et al.*, 2018).

Recent and continuous time series in lake levels, river discharges, and meteorological data are important for updating and strengthening the models of lake water balance for flood forecasts and sensitivity analysis of Lake Baringo to climate variability (Aura *et al.*, 2020; Hermegger *et al.*, 2021). Therefore, many aspects of the functioning of the lake need to be examined to better understand the lake's responses to the environmental and anthropogenic drivers. The necessary data comprise, but are not restricted to, the sedimentation rate of the lake, the frequency of the fluctuations in water levels, the dynamics of the fish biomass and abundance, the biomass-trophic structure of the lake, the internal and external nutrient sources and the productivity and producer community structure (Schindler, 1978). Nutrient and water balance models of the lake are also needed for the assessment of the lake basin water and nutrient budgets for the establishment of the lake's responses to climatic and anthropogenic stressors.

This study, therefore, aimed to bridge the information gap with respect to the above parameters necessary for interpreting and predicting future limnological patterns and changes of the lake. The data are further necessary for the sustainable management of the lake's ecosystem. The study models lake level changes, the water balance and the tropho-dynamics of the lake.

1.3 Justification

Limnological studies are fundamental in understanding how physical, chemical, and biological processes interact and influence fisheries production in relation to the fluctuating water levels of lakes (Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2012). Water level variations affect the abundance and species composition, stability, productivity, and physiological condition of indigenous populations of aquatic organisms (APHA, 2005). Very little is known about how water level changes affect the ecological functioning of African lakes (Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2012). Lake Baringo is one of the Kenyan rift valley lakes where the water levels have been fluctuating overtime at different temporal scales. These changes have been related to natural events (climate change) and human activities (damming of river inflows and land use) in the lake catchment (Odada et al., 2006; Aura et al., 2020). These changes have recently been observed but are not known to affect the fish species composition and production from the lake (Walumona et al., 2021b) and may also influence fluctuating trophic status of the lake over time perhaps contributing to the declining fishery of the lake (Odada et al., 2006; Omongi et al., 2014; Walumona et al., 2021b).

Studies conducted in Lake Baringo have focused on fisheries production of the dominant and endemic *Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis* and its ecology (Odada *et al.*, 2006; Omondi *et al.*, 2011; Omondi *et al.*, 2014; 2016; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020), the ecology of *Protopterus aethiopicus* (Mlewa, 2003; Mlewa *et al.*, 2006) amongst

others. Although the decline in fish species catches is mostly attributed to overfishing (Aloo, 2002; Odada *et al.*, 2006), the changes may, in part, be attributed to changes in water quality and habitat structure due to the fluctuating lake levels but there have not been studies to relate cause and effect of WLFs in the lake. An integrated approach that models fish catches in relation to ecosystem functioning such as Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE) modeling (Polovina, 1984, Christensen, 1995) is necessary to determine the link between fisheries and the ecosystem. To accomplish this, data on water level fluctuations and the water balance model of the lake is needed in the assessment of the lake basin water budget for the establishment of the lake's sensitivity to the climatic and anthropogenic stressors.

Limnological, hydrological, and food web models (such as Ecopath with Ecosim, (EwE), Christensen, 1995) are necessary for a better understanding of the changes in the lake water balance, nutrient components, and the interconnection between the trophic levels in the lake's food web, water quality, and lake water levels. The modelling and forecasting of future limnological and ecological changes of Lake Baringo are important for sustainable management of the lake to ensure ecological stability and continued provision of livelihoods to riparian communities.

1.4 Objectives of the study

1.4.1 Main Objective

The main objective of the research was to study the effects of recent and long-term water level fluctuations on the ecohydrology, and fishery of Lake Baringo in addition to modelling the water balance and trophic relationships of the lake.

1.4.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives of the study were:

1. To determine the spatio-temporal variations in water quality and trophic status of Lake Baringo at intra- and inter-annual temporal scales.

2. To model the water balance of Lake Baringo and its sensitivity to variations in hydro-meteorological variables.

3. To evaluate the effects of lake level changes on the water quality variables and the fisheries yields (landings) at intra- and inter-annual temporal scales.

4. To model the ecosystem functioning in Lake Baringo using the Ecopath massbalanced model using food web relationships and energy flow vectors.

1.5 Hypotheses

This study was guided by the following null hypotheses:

H₀₁: The water quality and trophic status of Lake Baringo vary at spatial and intraand inter-annual temporal scales.

 H_{02} : Changes in hydro-meteorological variables influence the water balance components of Lake Baringo and the lake is sensitive to variations in hydro-meteorological variables.

H₀₃: Lake Baringo water level fluctuations affect the fishery and water quality parameters of the lake at intra- and inter-annual temporal scales.

 H_{04} : The lake's ecosystem functioning and structure have been unstable over time based on the energy flow between the different functional groups in its food web.

1.6 Thesis structure

The thesis is organized as follows:

The thesis chapters are preceded by an abstract that summarizes the findings of the study.

Chapter 1 summarizes the background information on lake functioning, the effects of water level changes on the fisheries, and water quality in African lakes including Lake Baringo. It also presents the statement of the problem and justification of the study, gives the objectives that guided the research, and presents the hypotheses of the study.

Chapter 2 contains an extensive literature review and summarizes the physicochemical properties of the lake, the ecosystem services provided by certain lakes, and possible threats to the lake's functioning. The relationships between the physicochemical properties and the lake's responses are discussed as well as the impacts of climatic variability on the lake. The lake's fisheries, composition, importance, and threats are also discussed. There is a brief review of the Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE) model used to study the lake's food web.

Chapter 3 presents the different materials and methods used to address the objectives of the thesis. It also gives details on the sampling frequency, types of equipment, and techniques used for the analysis of water quality parameters, water level measurements, and fisheries data collected from the lake. It provides the

statistical analyses and applications used in the present study. The methods are arranged sequentially according to the objectives.

Chapter 4 presents a description of the results of the study based on the objectives and applied methods.

Chapter 5 discusses the results presented in Chapter 4.

Chapter 6 contains the major conclusions and recommendations of the study based on the objectives.

References are listed at the end of Chapter 6, while Appendices are found after the references.

The thesis structure follows the guidelines provided by the University of Eldoret for writing theses.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Overview of African Lakes

2.1.1 Location and origin of African Rift Valley Lakes

The large East African Rift Valley Lakes (EARVL), to which Lake Baringo comprise, extend from the northern end of Lake Turkana Basin to the southern tip of Lake Malawi/Nyasa Basin and include all the natural habitat and associated human populations along the Rift Valley and on the adjacent escarpments (Figure 2.1). It comprises parts of the following countries; Kenya, Ethiopia, Sudan, Uganda, Tanzania, Rwanda, Burundi, Democratic Republic of Congo (DR. Congo), Zambia, Malawi, and Mozambique. The main lakes in the ecoregion are tropical and include the African Great Lakes: Turkana, Victoria, Tanganyika, Edward, Albert, Kivu, George, and Malawi. Each lake is different from others regarding the limnology, an assemblage of endemic organisms, catchment dynamics, drainage basin characteristics, and human influences (Hamilton, 1982). The lakes of the East African Rift Valley (Figure 2.1) constitute unique natural resources and play important roles in the riparian countries in the tropic region. The lakes, therefore, contribute to climate moderation, transportation, water supply, fisheries, waste disposal, recreation, and tourism. These services attract huge populations around lakes leading to negative influences (Cohen et al., 1996).



Figure 2.1: Map of Eastern African lakes showing their neighboring landmasses. Adopted from Nyamweru (1983).

Twelve million years ago, a tectonic fracture occurred on the African continent rising the Red Sea and a large part of the East African Lakes (Hamilton, 1982). The lakes of East Africa including Lake Baringo (Figure 2.2) were born from this fracture, some by filling pools created by west and east cleft formations like Lake Victoria and others by filling in the gaps created like Lakes Tanganyika and Malawi. These African lakes have an exceptional long geological existence, an uncommon behavior of lacustrine ecosystems (Wetzel, 1983). The Kenyan Rift Valley Lakes originate from volcanic activities with ongoing seismicity and geological exploration discovered late 19th century (Schlueter, 1997). Major differences in Rift Valley lakes in Kenya are seen in the dissolved salts ranging from the large alkaline Lake Turkana in Northern Kenya to small and shallow freshwater lakes such as Lakes Baringo and Naivasha, to saline or brackish Lake Nakuru and hypersaline Lake Bogoria in Central Kenya (Campbell *et al.*, 2003).

In the following section a description of the functional literature is made relating to the objectives of the thesis and highlighting the information gaps and provides a rationalization of the study.



Figure 2.2: Map showing the location of lakes in the eastern arm of the Kenyan Great Rift Valley including Lake Baringo, adopted from Nyamweya et al. (2010).

2.2 Water Quality impacts and Trophic Status in Lakes

The quality of water in an ecosystem (lakes or rivers) reflects the nature of the environment, the water body properties, and the ongoing anthropogenic activities in the ecosystem's watershed over time (Kithiia, 2011). Human activities are considered as environmental stressors that may accelerate natural processes affecting the water body's physico-chemical characteristics (Yidanaa et al., 2008). Rapid urbanization has been reported to make the riparian land to be covered by impervious surfaces that facilitate increasing surface runoff and erosion of river and stream beds towards lakes (Obire and Aguda, 2002). The urban storm runoff contributes to the pollution of lake ecosystems by loading nutrients, fecal microbes, and metals into the water especially for Lake Baringo (Aloo, 2002). Agricultural and industrial activities cause land-use changes resulting in the introduction of various harmful pollutants such as suspended sediments, heavy metals, organic and inorganic nutrients due to fertilization practices, fecal microbes, pesticides, and herbicides responsible of water pollution and high turbidity levels in the lakes (Ahuja, 2009). High turbidity levels in the lake water are known as the oxygen depletion factor in the ecosystem by limiting the photosynthesis process (Karenge and Kolding, 1995; Teng et al., 2007). Oxygen depletion depends on the total amount and nature of the organic material load in the lake and makes the aquatic life conditions stressful for some organisms in the ecosystem (Mason, 2002).

High soil erosion rate caused by overgrazing due to livestock and deforestation in the watershed of the lake results in the siltation in the lake that may affect some species communities and primary production of the lake (Chapman *et al.*, 1992). Siltation has been reported to have two sources; natural and human, and contributes to lake level fluctuations (Olilo, 1993) including in Lake Baringo (Aloo, 2002). Besides, the
damming of rivers inflowing into lakes and abstraction from lakes for irrigation and drinking purposes affect the lakes' water quality and ecological functioning by fluctuating their water levels thus affecting the feeding habitats and refugee areas for some species (Chapman *et al.*, 1992; Ssentongo, 1996).

Natural processes as well as exogenic influences play a big role in surface water degradation and weaken their agricultural, industrial, drinking utilizations as well as other purposes (Carpenter *et al.*, 1998; Kazi *et al.*, 2009). In addition, anthropogenic activities are considered as the major source of nutrients and trace metals which contaminate water bodies and make water quality poor for aquatic life (Sondergaard *et al.*, 2003; Li *et al.*, 2009). In most cases, nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon coming from human activities entering surface waters through wastewater and agricultural uses are known as the major source of water eutrophication in lakes (Kotak *et al.* 2000; Downing *et al.*, 2001; Oboh and Agbala, 2017).

Considering that human and natural activities cause many problems to ecosystems, lakes and rivers deserve to be given more attention since their waters properties can get altered and threatened by anthropogenic activities (Makhoukh *et al.*, 2011). Despite the many influences of riparian activities on lakes affecting water quality, it is not known how water quality changes affect lake functioning in many Afroafrican systems (Downing *et al.*, 2001; Aloo, 2002). Therefore, the understanding of interaction of water with lithologic units through which it flows is important for water chemistry and quality controls (Subramani *et al.*, 2009). The lake watershed interractions determines the nature of setting of geochemical properties of water which is an important factor determining its use for different purposes (Giridharan *et*

al., 2010). Consequently, water monitoring program of aquatic ecosystems (Lakes and rivers) seems to be of vital importance t to establish whether the lake water properties are admissible for aquatic life and/or various uses (Pesce and Wunderlin, 2000; Sener *et al.*, 2017).

Several approaches have been developed and used to assess the water chemistry and status of water quality in rivers, reservoirs and lakes (Aston et al., 1980; Afsin, 1997; Yidana and Yidana, 2010; Sener et al., 2017). Thus both water quality Index (WQI) and organic pollution Index (OPI) have been used to evaluate water quality of lakes and rivers both inorganically and organically (Leclercq and Maquet, 1987; Meybeck and Helmer, 1989). Studies by Ramakrishnaiah et al., (2009), and Sehner et al., (2017) assessed water quality of Tumkur and Karnataka (India) and of Aksu River (SW-Turkey) using Turkish water quality index but this is not as universal as the internationally accepted WQI or the OPI. Also, Yidana and Yidana (2010) used conventional graphical methods based on multivariate statistical methods and GIS to evaluate the controls on the hydrochemistry and the integrity of the controlling factors at different locations in a flow system. Furthermore, water quality index (WQI) method has been used to assess the suitability of groundwater for human consumption and environmental suitability (Sener et al., 2017). Kannel et al. (2007) have also used WQI to assess spatial and seasonal changes in the water quality in the Bagmati river basin. Other authors like Debels et al. (2005) calculated WQI in order to characterize the spatial and temporal variability of surface water quality in the basin, from nine physico-chemical variables. WQI is defined as a rating tool reflecting the composite effect of various water quality variables (Sahu and Sikdar, 2008). Thus, the WQI has been considered as criterion for surface water classification based on the use of standard parameters for water characterization (Sener *et al.*, 2017). It also provides a comprehensive picture of the quality of water for domestic usages, facilitates a water quality comparison among several sites chosen along a lake or a river and constitutes an easier mathematic tool which transforms great amounts of water characterization data to a simpler number that represents the water quality level (Bardalo *et al.*, 2006) and quantifies an individual effect of each and every parameter on the Lake water quality (Yidana and Yidana, 2010). In this study, WQI and IPO are used for the first time in Kenyan aquatic systems to describe temporal and spatial variations in the quality of Lake Baringo water and recommend use of the water to support livelihoods.

The trophic status index is a universal measure of water quality and eutrophication stress (Carlson, 1977). Studies on the trophic status variation in lakes have demonstrated that eutrophication is slow and a long process but it is one of the greatest risks to aquatic ecosystems (Zbierska *et al.*, 2015). Nutrient loading from the catchment has been reported to be responsible of phytoplankton growth over a long period of time and can also build up in the sediment creating the potential for an internal load facilitating the resuspension into the water column under different environmental conditions (Hou *et al.*, 2013). Chlorophyll-a is used to estimate the amount of phytoplankton or algae in a water body. It is a useful tool for determining the biological productivity of an aquatic system (Mahesh *et al.*, 2014). It is therefore an accurate parameter used for prediction productivity and algal biomass and evaluation of the trophic status of a water body attributed with the highest classification priority compared with other variables (Transparency, TP and TN) (Murphy et al., 2008). For trophic level assessment, some indicative variables such as,

chlorophyll a, total phosphorus, transparency, and total nitrogen are taken into account (Carlson, 1977; Popovicova and Celi, 2009; Rahul *et al.*, 2013).

Also, the Trophic State Index (TSI) introduced by Carlson (1977), an average of the above individual parameters, is widely used and acceptable index to estimate the limiting nutrient causing eutrophication (Nalamutt and Karmakar, 2014), and recommended for nutrient loading into lakes and reservoirs (EPA, 2000).

The trophic status of lakes is also evaluated using the nutrient availability considering the levels of readily bioavailable inorganic nutrients such as TN: TP ratio and SRP:DIN ratio (the latter is the sum of nitrate, nitrite and ammonium (OECD, 1982; Reynolds, 1999). The N limitation is considered probable when the molar TN:TP ratio is < 10, while P limitation when the TN:TP ratio is > 20 (Stephen *et al.*, 2020).

The effects of the pollutants on the Lake Baringo water quality and trophic status at both short- and long-term scales are not well established. This study is therefore more important for the region and aimed at the assessment of the physico-chemical properties of the Lake water using the water quality indices (WQI) and OPI (organic pollution index), and determine the variable that influences individually the water quality of the lake. It also determined the trophic status of the lake at intra-and interannual scales.

2.3 Lake water Balance models and Hydro-metereological components

The effects of climate change are seen in the increase of water temperatures and evaporation in many lakes through risen air temperature, in both temperate and tropical regions (Zinyowera *et al.*, 1998; Schindler, 2001). This is likely to lead to declines in inflows, outflow, and/or lake volume if the increase in rainfall does not compensate significantly. Tyedmers and Ward (2001) indicated that the lake water

levels and characteristics might be affected by the warming temperature and high evaporation rate leading to the reduction and/or loss of fish habitat in the lakes. Also, Schindler (2001) demonstrated that freshwater lakes with outlets might become closed lakes as a result of high temperature and evaporation due to climate change without supplying the downstream systems leading to an increase of the salinity level in endorheic freshwater lakes. Variations in mean air temperatures have also been shown to raise water temperatures in both temperate and tropical lakes, affecting their physico-chemical and biological properties (Yin and Nicholson, 1998; Yin, *et al.*, 2000; Verberg *et al.*, 2003; Verschuren, 2003).

African Great Lakes and especially closed lakes are more sensitive to climatic changes (Verschuren, 2003, Okech *et al.*, 2019) attributed to the lack of surface outflow and over-dependence on river inflow for recharge and precipitation-evaporation control on their water budget (Spigel and Coulter, 1996; Bergonzini, 1998; Odada *et al.*, 2003). However, the African Great Lakes' sensitivity to climate change is mostly related to the climatic effects on river input and/or outflow, the contributions to the lakes' water budget being very small, and their dependence on precipitation estimated at 80-90% for the survival of these basins (Vuglinskiy *et al.*, 2009; Becker *et al.*, 2010). Otherwise only minor declines in rainfall (10-20%) are expected to completely close these basins (Bootsma and Hecky, 1993) making it useful to determine the input and output variables of a lake. Most Great African Lakes basins such as Lakes Kivu, Zaway, Tanganyika, Victoria, and Malawi depend on the precipitation contributions more than the net inflow to their water balance (Bootsma and Hecky, 1993; Bergonzini, 1998; Vallet-Coulomb *et al.*, 2001; Kumambala and Ervine, 2010; Muvundja *et al.*, 2014). This study aimed to determine the relative

dependence of Lake Baringo on the water balance parameters (rainfall, evaporation, seepage and runoff).

Compared to temperate lakes, tropical lakes don't display sharper thermal gradients and larger seasonal changes in water temperature due to their position and seasons with stable temperature, but their chemistry may be affected by climate change in different ways (Schindler et al., 1990). Drought conditions and decreasing groundwater inflow expose some lakes to acidification, by breaking the acidneutralizing chemicals equilibrium in groundwater that is important to lake buffering (Schindler, 2001). Temperature and precipitation changes affect the chemical balance and water balance components in some water bodies in addition to their ecological processes in a number of ways (Verberg et al., 2003). White et al. (2008) found significant correlations with water quality parameters (DOC, Ca²⁺, conductivity, pH, SO₄²⁻) and water level fluctuations (WLFs) indicating patterns in natural WLFs and associated correlations with water quality in Boreal Shield research regions. Water balance parameters will, therefore, affect lake levels and their water chemistry. Human activities such as river damming have been reported to affect lake levels in Africa (Omondi et al., 2014; Grownaris, 2015). The water budgets on lake level changes are not known for most Afrotropical lakes including Lake Baringo but are well established for temperate lakes (White et al., 2008). Additionally, the parameters that affect the water balance of African lakes are only known for a few lakes such as Lakes Malawi and Kivu among others (Kumambala and Ervine, 2010; Muvundja et al., 2014). Consequently, this thesis establishes the relative importance of water balance components in affecting the levels of Lake Baringo. Information is laking for other Kenyan lakes.

2.4 Effect of Lake Level Changes on Water Quality and Fish Yields

Although the effects of climate change on the biotic communities of tropical lakes have not been widely documented in general, very little attention has been given to tropical lakes in Africa (Coops et al., 2003). Most studies demonstrate that a water level fluctuation (WLFs) between 1.5 and 2.0 m due to natural and/or human activities is the optimal level at which the highest macrophyte diversity is attained in lakes (Wilcox and Meeker, 1991; Hill et al., 1998; Wagner and Falter, 2002). However, large decreases in primary productivity due to climate warming effects on lake levels have been studied in Lake Tanganyika (Verberg et al., 2003) and are likely to have a significant impact on the rest of the food chain. The impacts of climate change are seen through the effects of water level variations and air temperature changes (Verschuren, 2003). Water levels directly affect emergent aquatic plant biomass (Wetzel, 1983) and have an indirect influence on submerged aquatic plant biomass through the decrease of light penetration intensity (Chambers and Kalff, 1986; Duarte and Kalff, 1990; Middelbøe and Markager, 1997). Some studies on relationships between water levels and biota indicated a significant relationship of macroinvertebrates species richness with natural WLFs demonstrating a partnership between these variables within the Laurentian Great Lakes region (White et al., 2008). Riis and Hawes (2002) found along 21 lakes in New Zealand the highest species richness of low growing mixed macrophyte community at 1.1 m fluctuation of water level. The same study indicated the importance of both inter-annual and intraannual WLFs in establishing high levels of species richness.

Studies on Lake Turkana, one of the African rift valley lakes in Kenya, showed that water level fluctuations are the key drivers of fisheries productivity in the lake ecosystem (Grownaris et al., 2015). The same study indicated that the WLFs alter the distribution of habitat types and seasonal flood pulses affecting some fish species of economic importance that are ecologically flexible (e.g. Oreochromis niloticus, Lates niloticus) and others (e.g. Tilapia zillii, Labeo horie) that are highly sensitive to changes in habitat availability and food web structure. The results of the study on Laurentian Great Lakes region (White et al., 2008) highlighted also the sensitivity of macroinvertebrates to WLFs compared to macrophytes and fish species indicating the highly responsive nature of macroinvertebrates to WLFs and their usefulness in assessing the associated effects on water bodies. In Lake Chilwa in Malawi, a shallow lake, seasonal fluctuating water levels affect the availability of refuge areas (Allison et al., 2006; Wantzen et al., 2008a) and affect differently the fish species depending on the resilience of organisms to such changes (Welcomme et al., 2010; FAO, 2012). The influences of lake level changes on water quality parameters are not well established for most Afrotropical lakes including Lake Baringo but are well established for temperate lakes (White et al., 2008). The information on the combined impacts of climate change and other effects on shallow-unstable lake system's fishery is limited in the literature. This study aimed to fill the knowledge gap with regard to how African lakes respond to WLFs using Lake Baringo as a test case.

2.5 Modelling of Ecosystem Functioning using Food Web and Energy Flow models – Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE)

2.5.1 Overview of Ecopath Model

Ecosystem models are largely used to study the interactions that occur within a system (Christensen, 1995), including those between different organisms and those between fisheries and targeted species (Ribeiro *et al.*, 2019). Trophic web models like Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE) (Christensen, 1995) can handle fishing fleets as a top predator, with a top-down impact on harvested organisms and energy flows between different functional groups in the food web. Ecopath with Ecosim model (EwE) is a descriptive, static, and dynamic model used to identify trophic interactions among functional groups within an aquatic system during a given period (Patterson and Kachinjika, 1995). The primordial use of EwE is the determination of energy budgets, trophic flow, and, area protection function and ecosytem structure (Christensen, 1995).

The Ecopath with Ecosim modeling package (Pauly *et al.*, 2000) comprises three main components: (i) Ecopath is a static, mass-balanced snapshot of the system; (ii) Ecosim is a time dynamic simulation module to allow prediction of the response to system perturbation, such as through fishing exploitation, and; (iii) Ecospace is a spatial and temporal dynamic module designed primarily for exploring the impact and placement of protected areas. Ecopath, based on an approach developed by Polovina (1984) for the estimation of biomass and food consumption of the various species or groups of species of the food web, was combined by Christensen *et al.* (2005) with various approaches from theoretical ecology, notably those proposed by Ulanowicz

(1986), for the analysis of flows between elements. The core routine of the Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE) model is basically function of two master equations, one to describe the production term, and one for the energy balance of each group (Christensen, 1995). This ecological tool has been largely used for quantitative descriptions of aquatic systems and the evaluation of fishing impacts in water bodies (Christensen and Pauly, 1993; Christensen and Walters, 2004a).

Ecopath with Ecosim modeling tool originates from classic ecology. Food webs are ecologically based on trophic flows between discrete trophic levels comprising functional groups (Lindeman, 1942) and the latter (species) occupy distinct trophic levels and positions in a food web.

The Ecopath model described here presents, routines of estimating biomass, or production/biomass ratios, as well as food consumption by the various elements of a steady-state trophic model and routines based on the theory of Ulonowicz (1986) for analyzing the flows estimated by applying the first routines to the data. Additionally, this part of Ecopath with Ecosim model has routines for deriving further statistics from the biomasses and flows based on the above routines. It also attempts to quantify a number of Odum's (1969) 24 indices of system maturity.

Although this software is a free online progressing software and is constantly updated, the principles have not changed (Christensen, 1995; Christensen *et al.*, 2005). The Ecopath model represents an ecosystem in which there is an interconnection between trophic groups based on biomass and is linked by mass transfers (Christensen and Pauly, 1993).

The Ecopath model, part of EwE, is used in this thesis in the assessment of the ecosystem functioning of Lake Baringo including fisheries impacts. The model has

been commonly applied in temperate regions on more than 400 water bodies including rivers, reservoirs, oceans, and lakes to assess the energy flows, trophic structure, and system functions (Christensen et al., 2000; Pauly et al., 2000; Christensen and Walters, 2004; Xu, et al., 2011; Ullah, 2012; Colléter et al., 2015). Only a few studies using EwE model have been conducted in tropics to evaluate the ecosystem functioning in both lakes and reservoirs. Lakes such as Victoria (Tanzanian part) (Moreau, 1995), Kariba in Zimbabwe (Moreau 1997), Bagre Reservoir in Burkina Faso (Villanueva et al., 2006), Tanganyika (Tanzanian part) (Sarvalla et al., 1999), Malawi (Malawian part) (Darwalla, et al., 2010), Awassa in Ethiopia (Fetahi and Mengistou, 2007) and Volta in Ghana (Mensah et al., 2019) have been studied using the Ecopath model to assess the trophic interactions and temporal dynamics of their fish species for the sustainable management of their fisheries. In Lake Victoria, for example, the Ecopath model was also used to reflect the ecosystem state in Winam Gulf in Kenya and to construct a new model for the entire lake following earlier models. The modelling highlighted that exploitation is unbalanced and skewed to the least productive species at high trophic levels with less fishing effects at lower productive trophic levels (Natugonza et al., 2016). Other Ecopath models have been applied to study the functioning of African lakes (Darwalla, et al., 2010; Villanueva et al., 2006). This thesis describes results of Ecopath modeling, for the first time, for Lake Baringo and only the second such study after Lake Victoria (Natugonza et al., 2016).

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Description of Study Area

This sub-section provides in addition to the lake description, the general morphological and ecohydrological information of the study area. It also presents information based on secondary data on some physical, biological and chemical parameters of the lake measured as well as on lake level collected previously in order to provide a basic understanding of the limnology and ecohydrology of the lake. The methods used to collect data under each of the objectives of the study are described below in the next sub-sections.

This study was conducted in Lake Baringo (Figure 3.1); a shallow lake in the eastern arm of the Great Rift Valley in Kenya (Beadle, 1932). Its commercial fishery depends on the naturalized population of the marbled lungfish *Protopterus aethiopicus* that was introduced in the lake in 1975 (Mlewa, 2003). The lake is also a designated Ramsar site, famous for its high bird diversity, hippopotamus and crocodile populations (Odada *et al.*, 2006).



Figure 3.1: Map of Lake Baringo (Kenya) showing the sampling stations (S2 = southern station; C1, C2, and C3 = three stations in the central part and N2 = northern station) (adopted from Nyakeya et al., 2020).

3.1.1 Origin, and evolution

Lake Baringo is considered as the remnant of a larger freshwater with high salinity and alkaline lake known as Lake Kapthurin, which was developed in the axial graben during the Pleistocene era (Renaut et al., 1999, 2000). This lake is a small and shallow perennial freshwater lake that lies between latitude 0°30'N and 0°45'N and longitude 36°00'E and 36°10'E in the axial graben of the central Kenya Rift (Tarits et al., 2006), lying approximately 60-km north of the Equator at an altitude of 975 m above sea level (Kallqvist, 1987). The lake is reported to have a surface area estimated at 130 km² and a catchment of 6,820 km² (Ondiba et al., 2018) with an average depth of 3 m, and the deepest point being about 7 m (Odada et al., 2006). Geophysical evidence has shown that modern Lake Baringo and the Loboi Plain are the surface expression of an 8 km deep, fault-controlled basin that was initiated during Palaeogene times (Hautot et al., 2000). The northern and central parts of the lake have several small fault-controlled islands, the largest island being the Ol Kokwe. The latter is the remnant of a small volcano that belongs petrogenetically to the Korosi volcanic massif and erupted during the Middle Pleistocene times (Clement et al., 2003), while the smaller ones are often submerged during periods of high water. The Soro hydrothermal system, situated in the northeastern part of Ol Kokwe Island, is clearly linked to the former volcanic activity (Tiercelin et al., 1987; Renaut et al., 2002).

3.1.2 Geomorphology

The geology of the area is mainly undifferentiated volcanic rocks, while the soils are of clay type (Ballot *et al.*, 2003). The lake occupies an area characterized by active tectonics, recent volcanism, and high sedimentation rates in an intensively faulted

area (Tiercelin *et al.*, 1987; Hackman, 1988; Dunkley *et al.*, 1993). The lake is reported to be 21 km long and 13 km wide with < 4 m average depth, lying in the axial graben of the Kenya Rift at an average altitude of 975 m (Odada *et al.*, 2006). The maximum elevation of the watershed is about 2500 m (Tarits *et al.*, 2006). The lake is bordered by littoral marshes and peripheral mudflats that facilitate the lakeward extension for hundreds of meters during periods of low lake level, except along the northern and mid-western shorelines (Renaut *et al.*, 2000; Owen *et al.*, 2004).

3.1.3 Human population around the lake

The human population around the lake depends on the lake for socio-economic services such as water for domestic use, fishing, livestock, and agriculture and has been estimated at between 8,000 and 10,000 people (KNBS, 2015). The community especially the youth depends on this lake as the only source of income or employment. This is for example the case of beach boys who depend on tourists that visit the lake, and the fishermen who rely mainly on the lake as their only source of income. The main fishing village on the shores of Lake Baringo (Kampi ya Samaki) has a population of about 1,500 people (KNBS, 2019). Most of the riparian community depends on the lake for their daily livelihood as a source of food and water for domestic use. The lake also serves as a watering point for livestock.

3.1.4 Changes in water levels

The water level of Lake Baringo has been fluctuating over time, mainly in response to short and long-term hydro-meteorological changes and as a function of the precipitation/evaporation balance (Herrnegger *et al.*, 2021). Both El Nino and La Nina climatic events have been recognized in the region (Johansson and Svensson, 2002; Hickley *et al.*, 2003; Ashley *et al.*, 2004), and these have controlled some of the larger

fluctuations of lake levels. Between 1950 and 1979, lake levels fluctuated between ~ 965 m and ~ 973 m above sea level (Renaut and Owen, 1980). Since 1978, there has been a general decline in lake level, punctuated by brief periods of high levels in 1997–1998 (Hickley et al., 2003, Figure 3.2). The lake was 8.6 m deep in 1975 but reduced to about 2.1 m deep in 2001 (Johansson and Svensson, 2002). The deepest waters lie in the northwestern zones of the lake whereas the southern zone is the shallowest part of the lake (Tiercelin et al., 1987; Hickley et al., 2003) (Figure 3.2a). However, low lake levels and shoreline retreat were reported since 2000 and had raised concern that the lake was eventually drying up to become a swamp, particularly if water continued to be withdrawn for irrigation in the catchment (Aloo, 2002). However, due to heavy rains experienced in 2011 in the Eastern African region, the lake water surface increased dramatically to 207 km² in 2016 (Obando et al., 2016) with the deepest point estimated at 11.22 m in June 2017 (Nyakeya et al., 2018) and then to more than 250 km² in 2020 (Hermegger et al., 2021, Figure 3.2b), the deepest point was found to be 15.8 m in 2019 (Nyakeya et al., 2020). Despite the perennial changes in lake water levels, very little is known as to how these affect the water quality and ecological functioning of the lake.



Figure 3.2: a) Bathymetric map for Lake Baringo (August 2003) (Hickley *et al.*, 2003) and b) water occurrence from 1984 to 2020 in the lake emphasizing the variability of the surface area (Hermegger *et al.*, 2021).

3.1.5 Historical changes in the limnological status

The physical conditions of Lake Baringo are characterized by high temperature and high turbidity levels that arose partly due to the high suspended matter from groundwater (Odada et al., 2006). The results of the previous studies on the physicochemistry of the lake showed that the water quality of Lake Baringo has been deteriorating over time (Oduor et al., 2003; Omondi et al., 2014; Nyakeya et al., 2018). The main concern is on turbidity, which has increased significantly because of high rates of sedimentation from increased soil erosion in the catchment. The turbidity values recorded in 2003 by Oduor et al. (2003) ranged between 350 and 900 NTU, which are rather high values than 5 NTU, the standard value for aquatic conditions (Bartram and Balance, 1996; APHA, 2005). Related to the increased turbidity is reduced water transparency of Lake Baringo, which has recorded < 0.1 m, as measured by Secchi disc (Odada et al., 2006; Omondi et al., 2014). The overall salinity of the lake water measured as a Na–Ca–HCO₃ composition has not changed greatly since the earliest analyses in 1929 – 1930 (Beadle, 1932; Jenkyn, 1936). From early 1987 to late 2001, the conductivity, salinity, and pH have gradually increased (Barton et al., 1987; Aloo, 2002; Oduor et al., 2003) with the shrinking volume of the lake. The pH of the lake in 2002 was relatively high varying between 7.77 and 8.91 because of the alkaline hot spring discharge from Kokwa Island, which is located in the lake (Oduor et al., 2003; Tarits et al., 2006). The high total nitrogen (TN) and total phosphorus (TP) concentrations estimated averagely at 2.8 mg L^{-1} and 1 mg L^{-1} respectively, reflect the lake's hypereutrophic condition (Odada et al., 2006; Omondi et al., 2016). Temperature measurements in Lake Baringo ranged between 23.7 and 26.3°C (Odada et al., 2006) that could facilitate the growth rates of bloom-forming cyanobacteria such as *Microcystis aeruginosa*. The main factors contributing to the dominance of *Microcystis aeruginosa* in Lake Baringo are temperature and nutrient loading typically TP and TN. The turbid water of Lake Baringo is characterized by a greenish color related to the presence of the cyanobacterium, *M. aeruginosa*, which dominates the lake's phytoplankton community (Ballot *et al.*, 2003). As a result of the turbid nature of the lake water, primary production in the open water is very low (Omondi *et al.*, 2014). Thus, the phytoplankton community is poor and reported to be limited to the positively buoyant species, comprising *M. aeruginosa*, *M. granulata* and *Anabaena carcinalis* (Kallqvist, 1987). The Lake's high turbidity limits light penetration into the water column, resulting in low biomass production (Odada, *et al.*, 2006). *M. aeruginosa* dominates in Lake Baringo, compared to the other phytoplankton, mainly because it can develop gas vacuoles in its cells, allowing it to regulate its buoyancy (Ballot *et al.* 2003; Odada *et al.*, 2006). The growth rates of bloom-forming cyanobacteria such as *Microcystis aeruginosa* are optimal at 25°C that fall within the temperature range of between 23.7 and 26.3°C reported in Lake Baringo (Odada *et al.*, 2006).

The heavy rains experienced in 2011 in Kenya and the eastern arm of Africa caused the surface area of the lake to increase to 207 km² in 2016 (Obando *et al.*, 2016). Currently, the concentrations of most physico-chemical variables have been gradually decreasing with the increasing volume of the lake level due to the dilution effect (Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020, Walumona *et al.*, 2021a). The total dissolved solids (TDS) were reported on an average of 600 mg L⁻¹ in most field studies with some values exceeding 800 mg L⁻¹ during 1976, 1977, 1984, 1990, and 1996 (Allen and Darling, 1992; Dunkley *et al.*, 1993; Darling *et al.*, 1996). The TDS values have lately decreased since 2020 to an average of 229 mg L⁻¹ (Walumona *et al.*, 2021a). A recent study on the spatial and temporal variation in the water quality parameters and trophic status of Lake Baringo showed significant decreases in most of the parameters between 2008 and 2020 indicating the fluctuations of the trophic status of the lake from hypereutrophic to mesotrophic and a great improvement in the water quality of the lake (Walumona *et al.*, 2021a).

3.1.6 Sedimentation

Lake Baringo water is highly turbid because of the heavy load of suspended solids carried into the lake mainly by the perennial rivers, and the daily resuspension of the bottom sediments by the wind actions blowing in the late afternoon and early evening (Oduor et al., 2003). The sedimentation in Lake Baringo is constituted of fine-grained siliciclastics (Tiercelin, 1981; Renaut et al., 2000). The high soil erosion rate in the lake catchment was reported to cover the lake floor by detrital muds and feldspathic silts (Snelder and Bryan, 1995; Oostwoud Wijdenes and Bryan, 2001; Aloo, 2002). The permanent rivers Perkerra and Molo drain a wide portion of the eastern flank of the Tugen Hills and the northern part of the Mau Highlands are the main source of the sediments into the lake (Tarits et al., 2006). River Molo is becoming seasonal over the last 3 years (Nyakeya et al., 2020, Walumona, Pers. Observation). The lake is also fed by four seasonal rivers (Endau, Lokesen, Mukutan, and Ol Arabel) and streams (Figure 3.3). The two perennial rivers carry a series of basalts, phonolites, and trachytes of Mio-Pliocene age, Pleistocene trachyphonolites, pyroclastic deposits, and siliciclastic fluvial and alluvial sediments into the lake from their upper reaches to their downstream (Snelder and Bryan, 1995). Two seasonal rivers (Mukutan and Ol Arabel) drain the eastern part of the Baringo watershed formed by a succession of basalts and phonolites of Miocene age, several hundred meters thick, which form the Laikipia Fault Escarpment (Renaut et al., 2000). The detrital sediment rate is high and

highly mixed by the wind actions throughout the year in August during heavy rains resulting in very high turbidity levels (Oduor *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 3.3: Map of Lake Baringo and its drainage basin in the Kenyan Rift Valley with a display of its hydrographic network in relation to those of other rift lakes and lakeshore position in 2003 (stippled line) and during the flooded situation of 2014. Adopted from Okech *et al.* (2019).

The sediment yield of the Lake Baringo basin has been estimated at around 10.38 million MT year⁻¹ by extrapolation from erosion studies of the Perkerra catchment (Onyando *et al.*, 2005). For instance, sedimentation is considered to be the main environmental threat to the lake (Odada *et al.*, 2006) and reduces both the depth and the surface area of the lake, and destroys the habitats of aquatic animals. The sedimentation of the lake also has increased the pH of the lake's waters in addition to high conductivity and salinity due to the alkaline hot spring discharge from Kokwa Island located in the lake affecting other lake's properties (Hammer, 1986). Land-use changes in the lake catchment (deforestation and agricultural activities) have increased the nutrient levels in the water and stimulated algal production in the lake Baringo sedimentation at 12.8% (Onyando, 2005) of the total annual estimated sediment yield (Aloo, 2002). Since the lake has no surface outflow, this quantity of sediments is trapped in the lake yearly and contributes to the perpetual reduction of the depth of the lake.

3.1.7 Hydrological and climatic conditions

Between 1969 and 1972, records indicated that the average depth of the lake was 8 m (Okech *et al.*, 2019). In early 2003, before the onset of the long rains, the average depth was 1.7 m (Onyando, 2005). The average depth increased from 1.7 m to 2.5 m in 2004-2006 with the deepest end of the lake being 3.5 m (Odada *et al.*, 2006). This increase in water depth was the result of the prolonged long rains during 2003, especially in the humid upper catchments (Odada *et al.*, 2006). Studies by Onyando (2002) demonstrated that the area of the lake was 219 km² in 1976, 136 km² in 1986, 114 km² in 1995, and 108 km² in 2001. Based on these trends, the author suggested

that the surface area will be reduced by 50% by 2025 if the conditions remained the same (Aloo, 2002; Onyando, 2002; Odada *et al.*, 2006).

Although Lake Baringo is located in a semi-arid zone, its catchment covers a range of climatic zones, from semiarid through semi-humid and sub-humid, to a small portion in the humid zone. The mean annual rainfall in the semiarid zone is 450-900 mm and the mean annual potential evaporation amount for this area ranges between 1650-2300 mm (Onyando *et al.*, 2005; Odada *et al.*, 2006). The risk of crop failure is high and estimated between 25-75% in the semi-arid zone compared to other zones where only between 5-10% is estimated in the semi-humid zone, 1-5% in the sub-humid zone, and < 1% in the humid zone (Kallqvist, 1987). Likewise, the potential growth for plant in these zones ranges from medium to low, high to medium, high, and very high, respectively. These figures indicate that the semi-arid zone, in which Lake Baringo is located, is a fragile environment with low natural life-sustaining properties, thereby requiring urgent conservation attention (Onyando *et al.*, 2005).

The rainfall characteristic of the lke's basin is bimodal, intense, and erratic (Ngaira, 2006). The long rains occur from April to August, whereas the short rains fall from October to December with inter-annual variations. Daily rainfall monitoring in the basin dates back to 1903 (Onyando *et al.*, 2005). A total of 101 rain gauge stations have been installed and monitored in the catchment by various organizations, including the Kenya Meteorological Department, research organizations, and individuals. However, about 66 stations were operational up to 1926, which gives an approximate gauge density of 97 km² gauge⁻¹. This number of stations (66) did not meet the World Meteorological Organization's requirement of 17 km² gauge⁻¹.

Streamflow monitoring started as it was early 1926, with a total of 26 river-gauging stations having been installed at different times in various locations in the rivers flowing into Lake Baringo (Onyando *et al.*, 2005; Ngaira, 2006). Most of the above stations are not currently operational because of poor maintenance of the gauges (Odada *et al.*, 2006).

The lake is known to has no surface groundwater outflow and is fed by inflows from seasonal (Endao, Lokesen, Makutan, and Ol Arabe) and permenent (Perkerra and Molo) rivers (Figure 2.4), river Molo is becoming seasonal these last three years (Nyakeya *et al.*, 200). The lake is believed to have an underground seepage that maintains its freshness by losing approximately 108 m³ yr ⁻¹ (Dunkley *et al.*, 1993). The streams flowing into Lake Baringo originate from humid and sub-humid hill slopes, where the annual rainfall is more than 1000 mm (Ballot *et al.*, 2003; Aura *et al.*, 2020).

The hill slopes, which are located in the water recharge areas, have undergone deforestation in the recent past, through land conversion to create more land for agriculture, and through harvesting of forest products for timber, wood fuel, and charcoal.

The forested areas of the catchment have decreased by $\approx 50\%$ since 1976 (Ballot *et al.*, 2003). Consequently, groundwater recharge has decreased, with streams drying up more often during the dry seasons, whereas they cause flash floods during the rainy seasons (Ballot *et al.*, 2003). Deforestation facilitates the accumulation of greenhouse gases, such as carbon dioxide, in the atmosphere (Ballot *et al.*, 2003). These gases can cause global warming and, hence, higher atmospheric temperatures. Increased air temperature due to climate change leads to increased evaporation from the lake which

causes a decreased water level in the lake (Odada *et al.*, 2006). The decreased water levels have significant impacts, especially on the livelihoods of the communities living downstream and likely the ecology of the lake. This problem is likely to continue in the Lake Baringo basin as long as the population in the upper catchment continues to increase (Odada *et al.*, 2006).

3.1.8 Fisheries and fish biology

Lake Baringo ichthyology has been reported to be poor and composed of five species (Omondi et al., 2014). Three species (Oreochromis niloticus, Clarias gariepinus and Protopterus aethiopicus) are of commercial value while, Labeobarbus intermedius is rarely appearing in fishermen's catches and Labeo cylindricus has almost disappeared in the lake (Aloo, 2002; Mlewa, 2003; Mlewa et al., 2006). Traditionally, the lake fishery was mostly based on the endemic Oreochromis niloticus Baringioensis (Mlewa et al., 2006; Odada et al., 2006) but the fish landings have decreased in recent years due to overfishing and perhaps the cascading effects of environmental changes (Omondi et al., 2014). The estimated economic value of the fishery of Lake Baringo for the year 2002 was almost half that of the year 2001, based on experimental fishing during the closure of the fishing activities in the lake. However, in 2001, a fishing moratorium was established, and the estimated economic value of the fishery was US\$ 344,560 and derived through interpolation of data (Odada et al., 2006). Recently (2020), the fishery landings from Lake Baringo had an economic value estimated at around US\$ 1,414,820 which has doubled that of 2015 estimated at US\$ 548,596 (Fisheries Bulletin, 2014-2016). The lake fisheries production is locally important, fishing being the main activity, source of animal protein, and income for the riparian community (Aura *et al.*, 2020). *L. intermedius* started reappearing in fishermen's catches from 2008 to 2020 (from 0.96% in the 2000s to 3.34% in 2020s) but remains low in the total fishery catches of the lake (Walumona, Pers., Observation).

Recently, some species such as *Labeobarbus intermedius* and *Labeo cylindricus* that had been rarely reported or appear occasionally in catches (Aloo, 2002; Odada *et al.*, 2006; Omondi *et al.*, 2014) are currently frequent in the fishers' catches (Walumona, pers. observation). Also, the species composition of commercial catches in Lake Baringo has shifted and is currently dominated by *P. aethiopicus* (61.3 %) followed by *O. niloticus* (21.5%) and *C. gariepinus* (13.9 %). Traditionally, thes fishery was dominated by the native tilapia, *O. niloticus baringoensis* (80.4%) and *C. gariepinus* (9.8 %) up to year 2000s. The dominance of *P. aethiopicus* in the catches from Lake Baringo has also been reported by Mlewa (2003), Mlewa *et al.*, (2006), and Aura *et al.* (2020).

The fish community has been very much impacted by both water level changes due to both climate variations and human actions such as upstream river damming and overfishing (Omondi *et al.*, 2014; Aura *et al.*, 2020; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020). Currently, four fish species (*O. niloticus*, *C. gariepinus* and *P. aethiopicus and L. intermedius*) are exploited for commercial purposes. All four species are caught by gillnets despite the *P. aethiopicus* that is also caught using hook and longline (Mlewa, 2003, Mlewa *et al.*, 2006). Most fishermen use 2.5 mesh sizes of gillnets while the legal fishing regulations recommend the use of only gillnets of 4" and 5" mesh sizes (Aloo, 2002; Fisheries Department, Annual Reports, 2000, 2020). This has led to the landing of

small-sized *O. niloticus* in fishermen's catches in addition to the reduction of the fishery production of the lake. The mean size of *O. niloticus* for example decreased to 15 cm in 2001 from 35 cm in 1999, necessitating a fishing moratorium in 2001 (Odada *et al.*, 2006). The situation worsened to an extent that the *O. niloticus* in Lake Baringo matured at 13 cm of total length (TL) in 2002 and dropped at 8 cm TL in 2017 with a lower contribution to the lake's total landings suggesting its extinction from Lake Baringo (Britton and Harper, 2008; Tsuma *et al.*, 2017; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020). Several reasons have been reported to be the main factors explaining the decline of *O. niloticus* in the fishery of Lake Baringo including environmental stressors, overfishing, climate variability, and insufficiency of food in addition to the presence of the predator and believed invasive (without a conclusive study) species, *Protopterus aethiopicus*, in the lake (Britton *et al.*, 2005; Mlewa *et al.*, 2006; Britton *et al.*, 2009; Omondi *et al.*, 2013; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020).

Labeo cylindricus which migrates upstream of rivers (Molo and Perkerra) to spawn was reported to be close to extinction in the lake (Odada *et al.*, 2006). *P. aethiopicus* was intentionally introduced in Lake Baringo in 1975, appeared for the first time in the lake's landing fisheries in 1984, and is currently the dominant fish in the total fish landing at the beaches (De Vos *et al.*, 1998; Mlewa and Green, 2004; Mlewa *et al.*, 2006; Aura *et al.*, 2020; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020). The fecundity of females in Lake Baringo is low ranging between 77.0 and 125.0-cm with eggs numbering varying from 4179 to 16,528 (Mlewa, 2003; Mlewa and Green, 2004). The population generation time of this fish is relatively long increasing its vulnerability to high exploitation (Mlewa, 2003; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020). In 1936, studies on the lake's fishery indicated that *Labeobarbus intermedius* (Baringo barb) was the dominant fish species over the entire (Worthington and Ricardo, 1936). Recent investigations on

Labeobarbus intermedius (Baringo barb) suggest that it is functionally extinct from the lake (Odada *et al.*, 2006; Omondi *et al.*, 2014) and its size has slightly decreased (Odhiambo and Osure, 2021).

Few studies have been conducted so far on the biology and ecology of *Labeo* cylindricus in Lake Baringo where it is almost disappearing in the fishermen's catches.

3.2 Objective 1: Spatio-temporal variations in selected water quality parameters and trophic status of Lake Baringo

3.2.1 Sampling

A total of 27 water samples were collected monthly from 9 stations (C1-S3, Figure 3.1) for each sampling campaign from January 2020-June 2021. Samples were collected in triplicates at each station for the 18 sampling campaigns. The nine representative stations were chosen because of the existence of consistent historical data and they were regularly sampled by Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) before and after the lake levels dramatically increased over time. The selected nine stations included three sites in the northern part (Stations N1, N2, N3), three stations in the central part (Stations C1, C2, and C3), and three stations in the southern part (Stations S1, S2, S3) (Figure 3.1). Station S2 experienced daily influences of river Molo and partly Perkerra. Station C3 had the influence of rivers Molo and Makutan. C1 was situated on the west adjacent to rocky shores, while N2 lied in the north without any river influence (Table 3.1). In order to study long-term changes, the data collected in this study was complemented by 126 water samples previously collected monthly from five of the nine stations (N2, C1, C2, C3 and S2)

by the Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI), Baringo research team from March 2008 to June 2019.

The geographical positions of sampling stations (Table 3.1 and Figure 3.1) were recorded using a hand-held Global positioning System (GPS) navigational unit (Garmin II model). Water samples for nutrient analysis, total suspended solids (TSS), and chlorophyll-a were collected monthly directly from the lake surface using clean pre-treated 1-liter polyethylene sample bottles (APHA, 2005). The bottles were labeled, filled and samples were preserved using sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄ 50%) then stored in cooler boxes at temperatures of about 4°C, for further laboratory analysis. Monthly average rainfall data for the period 2008-2020 used to assess the influence of rainfall in the lake watershed on the turbidity levels in the lake were obtained from the station within the same basin, Eldama Ravine online station nearest (https://www.worldweatheronline.com/baringo-weather-averages/rift valley/ke.aspx).

Table 3.1:	Characteristics	of the sample	1 9 stations in t	he three	ecological	zones ir	n Lake	Baringo.	Summarized fi	rom Several	studies
(Mlewa, 20	03; Odada <i>et al.</i> .	, 2006, Mlewa	et al., 2006; Ome	ondi <i>et al</i>	., 2014; Ny	akeya <i>et</i>	t al., 202	20, Waluı	nona <i>et al.</i> , 2021	l).	

Zone	Station codes	Coordinates (Altitude)	Station names	Station names Shoreline features		Wind exposure	Bathymetry	Depth range
North	NI	985.8	Loruk Low inf	luence by small seasonal stream of Katuit	rocky	moderate	Deep area	8.2-13.9
	N2	986.1	Lokoros	No river disturbance	rocky	Extreme	Deepest area	11.3-15.4
	N3	985.4	Komolion Influ	enced by the seasonal river of Mukutani	rocky	moderate	Deep area	10.4-15.0
Central	Cl	982.4	Ngenyin	East-west transects and west adjacent to rocky shores with ngenyin seasonal river	rocky	moderate	Moderate depth	10.6-14.0
	C2	987.0	Samatian	At the center of the lake	muddy	Extreme	Gradual slop	10.0-14.5
	C3	988.3	Ruko Conservancy	Influenced by Hot springs and to some extent rivers Molo and Mukutani	muddy	moderate	Moderate depth	7.0-13.4
South	S1	983.9	Salabani Influenc	eed by Rivers Endau & perkerra with a few settlements	muddy	moderate	shallow area with macrophytes	6.3-10.2
	S2	983.	Molo river mouth	Macrophytes and daily influences of 2 rivers Molo and partly Perkerra	muddy	Extreme	shallowest area with macrophytes	4.4-7.5
	S3	990.8	Kiserian Influe	nced by Arabel river plus few settlements	muddy	moderate	shallow area with macrophytes	6.2-11.9

3.2.2 Analytical procedures

Measurements of pH, total dissolved solids (TDS), dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (T), and electrical conductivity (EC) were carried out *in situ* with the Professional Plus multi-parameter instrument (YSI 550) calibrated with standard solutions (SMEWW, 1998). In situ measurement of turbidity (TUR) was performed using a calibrated portable turbidimeter probe (HACH 21000Q). Before measurements, the turbidimeter was calibrated using standard chemical solutions made of stabilized formazin with turbidity values of 20, 100, and 800 NTU (HACH, 2009). Samples with high turbidity exceeding 800 NTU were diluted with distilled water to make them fit into the turbidimeter reading capacity limits (HACH, 2009). Then, the turbidity of diluted samples was estimated by multiplying the actual reading by the number of dilutions applied on the sample. Water transparency (m) was measured by a standard Secchi disk of 20 cm diameter. The effective Secchi depth was calculated as the average of the depth at disappearance and that of reappearance of the disk. The obtained Secchi disk values were used to calculate the euphotic zone (Zeu) of the lake at each sampling station. The euphotic zone (Zeu), defined as a depth at which photosynthetically available radiation (PAR) is 1% of its surface value, was estimated by using the formula:

Zeu = 4.6/k (Bartram and Balance, 1996), and derived from estimates of the vertical light extinction coefficient from Secchi disk transparency using a coefficient k (k = 1.5/Secchi disk depth in meters) at each sampling station.

Ammonium, orthophosphate, total phosphorus, nitrite, nitrate, total nitrogen, and ractive soluble were determined usind various methods following the procedure of Bartram and Balance (1996), and APHA (2005). Soluble Reactive silica (SRSi) was determined using the molybdate complex method while, Soluble Reactive Phosphorus (SRP) was determined using the molybdenum blue method (APHA, 2005). Ammonium (NH₄⁺) was determined by the dichloroisocyanurate – salicylate method, nitrate (NO₃⁻) by the cadmium reduction method, and nitrite (NO₂⁻) from the azo – dye complex formation (APHA, 2005; Rodier *et al.*, 2009). Beer-Lambert law ($A = \epsilon lC$) (Bartram and Ballance, 1996) and APHA (2005) (A = absorbance, l = cuvette width, ε = extinction coefficient) was used to convert the obtained absorbance of each nutrient to its corresponding contracentration.

Total phosphorus and total nitrogen were analyzed by the ascorbic acid reduction method and diazotization method, respectively, using unfiltered water (APHA, 2005). Total alkalinity was estimated by the volumetric method, using sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄), phenolphthalein and methyl orange indicator (APHA, 2005). Fluoride ion (F^-) concentrations were analyzed using titrimetric methods based on titration of a sample with silver nitrate (Bartram and Balance, 1996). Total suspended solids (TSS) were determined by filtration of a known volume of the lake water through GF/F filter which was firstly dried and thereafter pre-weighed and then oven-dried after filtration and final weights were taken to determine the difference as the TSS weight (g) per unit volume of the sample (Rodier *et al.*, 2009). Total dissolved solids (TDS) were determined using gravimetric analysis based on filtration and gravimetric methods by the temperature-controlled oven.

The water total hardness (TH) was determined by a complexometric method using EDTA solution. The analytical methods and procedures used are described in detail

by APHA (2005). In the laboratory, water samples for above nutrient analysis were filtered using GF/F filter papers (47 mm in diameter and 0.7 μ m pore size) within 24 hours from collection. Water samples for water quality analyses were shipped refrigerated from KMFRI Baringo Station to KMFRI Kisumu whenever water quality analyses were not possible in Baringo.

3.2.3 Determination of Chlorophyll-a (Chla)

The water samples for chlorophyll-a (Chl-a) analysis were collected at each station using a small 5-liter polyethylene canister, previously rinsed with distilled water. Before Chl-a analysis, water samples were filtered using Macherey-Nagel GF/F filters with a porosity of 0.7 μ m and 47 mm in diameter. The labeled vials were placed in a portable freezer at 4°C and later stored in a fridge at -20°C for further chlorophyll-a analysis.

The chlorophyll-*a* concentration was determined through three steps (APHA, 2005) as follows:

a) the extract in acetone was sonicated once, kept at 4°C protected from light for 12 hours,

b) the extract was sonicated a second time for a complete transformation, and

c) the algal concentration was finally calculated according to the Lorenzen equation (APHA, 2005) from the absorbance values of the chlorophyll-a extracts before and after acidification with 0.1N HCl using the following formula:

Chl. a (
$$\mu$$
g) = 11.9 * [2.43 (D_b - D_a)] * ($\frac{V}{L}$) (1)

Where, Db = optical density before acidification; Da = optical density after acidification; V: a volume of solvent (acetone) (in mL); and L = thickness of the

spectrophotometer cuvette. The absorbance was transformed into concentrations using the Beer-Lambert method (Brtram and Balance, 1996).

3.2.4 Planktonic population sampling

3.2.4.1 Water sample collection and conservation

Planktons are a heterogeneous group of organisms that include both phytoplankton and zooplankton. Triplicate samples for both phytoplankton and zooplankton were collected using a conical net with a mesh size of 60 µm and a diameter of 30 cm at the opening. The net was towed horizontally to a 3 m distance from the marked rope. The net was towed and washed after each collection to rinse off any plankton (zoo and phyto) that could remain in the net body. After collection, the material retained in the net was kept in 400 mL plastic bottles and fixed in Lugol's solution before analysis. At the lower end of the plankton net, a graduated glass bottle is fitted to retain sedimented planktonic organisms. The final volume (125 mL) of the filtered sample was transferred to another plastic bottle of volume 125 mL which was labeled indicating the time, date, and name of the sampling station.

The plankton (both zoo and phyto) samples kept in 125 mL plastic bottles were preserved by the addition of 3-5 drops of Lugol's solution. After adding the Lugol's solution, the preserved samples were kept for 24 hours undisturbed allowing the sedimentation of suspended plankton in the water before taking the samples for phytoplankton and zooplankton identification. After 24 hours, a dropper was used to carefully remove the supernatant without disturbing the sediments and 50 mL of concentrated sample was taken for plankton (phyto and zoo) analysis. The phytoplankton and zooplankton densities in the samples were quantified using the formulae in Rahimibashar *et al.* (2009) and Niyoyitungiye (2019).

3.2.4.2 Quantitative analysis of planktons

Sedgwick-Rafter cell and Lackey's drop methods (Onyema, 2008; Niyoyitungiye, 2019) were used for both qualitative and quantitative planktonic analyses (Appendex 1). Sedgwick-Rafter cell method is used when the density of plankton and filamentous microalgae are less abundant in the sample, while Lackey's drop method is commonly used for samples with high plankton densities (Kamaruzzaman *et al.*, 2010; Niyoyitungiye, 2019). The quantitative analysis of plankton estimated the numbers of individuals observed under light microscope for each taxonomic group and the number of organisms was expressed in total organisms per liter using the Sedgwick-Rafter's formulas for zooplankton (Niyoyitungiye, 2019). Among phytoplankton, many are multi-celled filamentous, others are colonized, while some are solitary cells. Thus they are more conveniently expressed as units/Liter in abundance (Kamaruzzaman *et al.*, 2010).

Plankton taxa were counted in subsamples of 1-3 mL, depending on their density, using a plastic pipette and a gridded counting chamber under an optical microscope (x 25). During analysis, the effect of surface tension on the specimens was minimized by adding some drops of liquid detergent whereas drops of Lugol's solution were used to improve the visibility.

Both zooplankton and phytoplankton were identified using relevant taxonomic literature (Culver *et al.*, 1985; online source in Appendex 1). Korovchinsky (1992), and Smirnov, and Timms (1983) were used in Cladocera identification, while Koste

and Shiel (1986), and Segers (1995; 2007) were used to identify the Rotifera community. The zooplankton was identified up to a taxonomic precision of order-level. Phytoplankton and zooplankton biomass (g m⁻²) estimates followed Jones (1979), Culver *et al.* (1985), and Azevedo *et al.* (2012) methods.

3.2.5 Detritus determination

The primary production (PP) estimates and euphotic zone (Zeu) were used to estimate the detritus biomass (g C m^{-2} yr⁻¹) for 1999, 2010, and 2020 based on Christensen and Pauly's equation (Christensen and Pauly, 1993) as follows:

 $Log(D) = [0.954 \times log (PP)] + [0.8631 \times log (Z_{eu})] - 2.41$ (2)

Where: D = stock of detritus (g C m⁻²); PP = primary production (g C m⁻² yr⁻¹); and Zeu = euphotic zone (m).

The euphotic zone (Zeu), defined as the depth at which photosynthetically available radiation (PAR) is 1% of its surface value, was estimated as Zeu = 4.6/k (Bartram & Balance, 1996) and derived from estimates of the vertical light extinction coefficient from the Secchi disk transparency using a coefficient k (k = 1.5/Secchi disk depth in metres) at each sampling site.

Then, the calculated detrital biomass used for the three models was 0.35 g C m⁻² year⁻¹ for 1999 trophic model, 0.32 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ for 2010 trophic model and 152.70 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ for 2020 trophic model, respectively.

The data on phytoplankton, zooplankton, and detritus were used in the Ecopath with Ecosim model (see section 4.4).
3.2.6 Calculation of Water Quality Index (WQI) of Lake Baringo

The water quality index (WQI) is a rating that reflects the composite influence of different water quality parameters (Sahu and Sikdar, 2008; Ramakrishnaiah *et al.*, 2009). Firstly, each of the chemical parameters (e.g. pH, TDS, turbidity, total alkalinity, hardness, fluoride, nitrate, nitrite, silica, phosphate) is assigned different weights (w_i) on a scale of 1 (least effect on water quality) to 5 (highest effect on water quality) based on its perceived effects on human health and according to its relative importance in the drinking water or groundwater quality (Brown *et al.*, 1972; Sener *et al.*, 2017). The highest weight of 5 is assigned to parameters that have critical health effects and whose presence above the critical concentration limits could hinder the usability of water for domestic and drinking purposes (Bhateria and Jain, 2016; Sener *et al.*, 2017). In this study, nutrients and fluoride were assigned the highest weight (5) because of their health influence (WHO, 2008) and importance in water quality assessment while, a minimum weight of 1 was assigned to total alkalinity and electrical conductivity parameters due to their least importance in water quality assessment (Brown *et al.*, 1972; Katyal, 2011).

The relative weight (RW_i) which is the contribution of each parameter to the WQI was then computed from the following equation (Sener *et al.*, 2017):

$$RW_i = \frac{W_i}{\sum_{i}^{n} x W_i} \tag{3}$$

Where, w_i is the assigned weight of each parameter (Table 3.2) and n is the number of parameters. Then, a quality rating (Q_i) for each parameter except pH and DO was assigned by dividing its concentration (C_i) in each water sample by its limits values/standards given by the WHO (2008, 2011) and the result multiplied by 100:

$$Q_i = \frac{C_i}{S_i} \times 100 \tag{4}$$

Where:

 Q_i = the quality rating,

 C_i = the concentration of the chemical parameter in each water sample in mg/L, and

 S_i = is the drinking water standard for the chemical parameter in mg/L according to the guidelines of WHO (2008).

Table 3.2. Variables used in the water quality index calculation, scores of normalization (*Ci*) and relative weights (*Pi*).

Variable	Units	Relative					Non	nalizatio	n factor	(Ci)			
		weight (Wi)	100	90	80	70	60	50	40	30	20	10	0
Temp.	°C	3	21/16	22/15	24/14	26/12	28/10	30/5	32/0	36/-2	40/-4	45/-6	> 45/< -6
pH	Unit pH	1	7	7–8	7-8.5	7–9	6.5–7	6-9.5	5-10	4-11	3-12	2-13	1-14
EC	μ S/cm	1	< 750	< 1000	< 1250	< 1500	< 2000	< 2500	< 3000	< 5000	< 8000	≤ 12000	> 12000
DO	mg/L	4	≥7.5	> 7	> 6.5	> 6	> 5	>4	> 3.5	> 3	> 2	≥ 1	< 1
TDS	mg/L	2	< 100	< 500	< 750	< 1000	< 1500	< 2000	< 3000	< 5000	< 10000	≤ 20000	> 20000
Turb.	mg/L	4	< 5	< 10	< 15	< 20	< 25	< 30	< 40	< 60	< 80	≤ 100	> 100
SiO44-	mg/L	1	< 25	< 50	< 75	< 100	< 150	< 250	< 400	< 600	< 1000	≤ 1500	> 1500
PO4 3-	mg/L	1	< 0.025	< 0.05	< 0.1	< 0.2	< 0.3	< 0.5	< 0.75	< 1	< 1.5	≤2	> 2
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	mg/L	3	< 0.01	< 0.05	< 0.1	< 0.2	< 0.3	< 0.4	< 0.5	< 0.75	< 1	≤ 1.25	> 1.25
NO ₂	mg/L	2	< 0.005	< 0.01	< 0.03	< 0.05	< 0.1	< 0.15	< 0.2	< 0.25	< 0.5	≤ 1	>1

EC: Electrical conductivity; Turb.: turbidity and Tem.: temperature

The quality rating for pH or DO (QpH, DO) was calculated following Alobaidy et al.

(2010) as:

$$Q_{p^{h}}, DO = \frac{[C_{i} - V_{i}]}{[S_{i} - V_{i}]} \times 100$$
(5)

Where, V_i = the ideal value which is considered as 7.0 for pH and 14.6 for DO (WHO, 2011).

Equations (4) and (5) ensure that $Q_i = 0$ when a pollutant is totally absent in the water and $Q_i = 100$ when the value of this parameter is just equal to its permissible value (Bhateria and Jain, 2016). Hence, the higher the value of Q_i , the more polluted is the water.

Consequently, to calculate WQI, firstly, sub-index (SI_i) value is determined for each water quality parameter and then used to derive WQI with the following equations (Bhateria and Jain, 2016; Kumar *et al.*, 2018):

$$SI_i = RW_i \, x \, Qi \tag{6}$$

$$WQI = \sum_{1}^{n} x \, Sl_i \tag{7}$$

Where, SI_i is the sub-index of ith parameter; Q_i is the quality rating based on the concentration of ith parameter. The computed WQI values were classified into five categories ranging from 1 (excellent) to 5 (unsuitable for drinking) as in Table 3.3 following the equation proposed by Bhateria and Jain (2016). Thus, the highest WQI reflects the poorest water quality of the lake in space and time.

Table 3.3: Water quality classification based on WQI values (Bhateria and Jain,2016)

N°	WQI Values	Water quality
1	< 50	Excellent water
2	50 - 100	Good water
3	100 - 200	Poor water
4	200 - 300	Very poor water
5	> 300	Unsuitable for drinking

The effective weight (Ewi) of each water quality parameter corresponds to the individual parameter weightage compared to the overall weight on the water quality. Ewi were calculated using the derived WQI values. The effective weight for each parameter was derived by dividing its sub-index value (SIi) by the overall Water Quality Index value and the result multiplied by 100 as (Sener *et al.*, 2017):

$$EW_i = \frac{Sl_i}{WQI} \times 100$$

(8)

Where Ew_i is the effective weight of ith parameter; SI_i is the sub-index value of ith parameter (Equation 6) and WQI is the overall Water Quality Index computed by Equation (7). The relative weights were compared with effective weights to reflect the significance of each parameter compared to other parameters used in WQI calculations.

3.2.7 Calculation of Organic Pollution Index (OPI)

The organic pollution index (OPI) of Lake Baringo, a measure of organic load, was calculated for each sample collected at all the five stations following the procedure described by Bahroun and Bousnoubra (2011). The OPI derivation is based on the calculation of the average values of four parameters which are: biological oxygen demand (BOD), ammonium, nitrite, and phosphate (Bartram and Balance, 1996). The concentrations of the four parameters are compared with the standard limits to determine the parameter class numbers (Leclercq and Maquet, 1987; Rodier *et al.*, 2009) (Table 3. 4 and Table 3.5). For this study, the OPI class for the samples was assessed using three nutrient variables (ammonium, nitrite, and phosphate) of the recommended parameters. Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) was not estimated during data collection and analysis. The OPI was then calculated as the average of the

class numbers (Table 3.4) of the three parameters used in this study (Bahroun and Bousnoubra, 2011). Thus, the lower the value of OPI, the more organically polluted is the water body based on categories shown in Table 3.5.

 Table 3.4: Parameter classes and limits for OPI index calculation. Adopted from

 Leclercq and Maquet (1987)

Parameters	ammonium	nitrite	phosphate
Classes	mg –N/L	µg-N/L	µg-P/L
5	< 0.1	5	15
4	0,1-0.9	6 – 10	16 – 75
3	-2.4	11 – 50	76 - 250
2	2.5 - 6.0	51 - 150	251 - 900
1	> 6	> 150	> 900

Table 3.5: Categories of water pollution based on the OPI index and watercolors.Adopted from Leclercq and Maquet (1987)

Category of pollution	OPI	Colors allocated to the index
Null pollution	5.0-4.6	Blue
Weak pollution	4.5 - 4.0	Green
Moderated pollution	3.9 - 3.0	Yellow
Strong pollution	2.9 - 2.0	Orange
Very strong pollution	1.9 - 1.0	Red

3.2.8 Lake Baringo trophic status estimation

The Trophic Status of Lake Baringo was evaluated using information collected on the concentration of the nutrient (total phosphorus), chlorophyll-a as an indicator of phytoplankton biomass, and water transparency (dependent on both algal biomass and sediment resuspension, expressed as Secchi depth) (Istvánovics, 2010). The nutrient availability was assessed using concentrations of readily bioavailable inorganic nutrients: TN:TP ratio and SRP:DIN ratio comprising (DIN: nitrate, nitrite and ammonium (OECD, 1982; Reynolds, 1999). N limitation was considered probable when molar TN:TP < 10 and P limitation when TN:TP > 20 (Stephen *et al.*, 2020). The intermediate ratios indicate potential co-limitation between TN and TP (Stephen *et al.*, 2020). Additionally, the Carlson Trophic State Index (CTSI) (Carlson and Simpson, 1996) was also used to evaluate and classify the trophic status of the lake (Table 3.6). The accepted standard limits used to evaluate the lake's trophic status were adopted from the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) for the individual parameters (total phosphorous, chlorophyll-a, and Secchi depth), and following Carlson and Simpson (1996).

To quantitatively assess the trophic status of a lake ecosystem and/or a reservoir, a Trophic State Index (TSI) based on the values of individual parameters and with a scale of 0 - 100 was used (Carlson and Simpson, 1996). The TSI value obtained facilitates qualitative descriptions of the lake trophic status (Table 3.6).

The TSI is split into five groups: 0-20, 20-40, 40-60, 60-80, and 80-100 corresponding to five lake trophic states, hyper oligotrophic, oligotrophic, mesotrophic, eutrophic, and hypereutrophic, respectively (Likens *et al.*, 1977; Al-Haidarey *et al.*, 2016).

The Carlson's Trophic State Index (CTSI) (Carlson and Simpson, 1996) was calculated based on the average TSI of the individual parameter values using the following formulae:

$$TSI for chlorophyll - a TSI(chl - a) = 9.89 * Inn[chl - a(\frac{\mu g}{L})] + 30.6$$
(9)

$$TSI for Secchi depth TSI(SD) = 60 - 14.41\% (SD)(m)$$
(10)

$$TSI for Total phosphorus TSI(TP) = (14.42 * TP(\frac{\mu g}{l})) + 4.15$$
(11)

The Carlson's Trophic State Index (CTSI) was then obtained by calculating the average of the equations 9, 10, and 11 (Carlson and Simpson 1996):

$$(CTSI) = \frac{[TSI(TP) + TSI(Chl - a) + TSI(SD)]}{3}$$
(12)

Based on the derived CTSI, the trophic state of Lake Baringo was determined according to Table 3.6 (Carlson and Simpson, 1996).

Table 3.6: Parameter trophic state indices and Carlson's Trophic State Index values for classification of lakes (Carlson andSimpson, 1996).SD = Secchi depth; TP = Total Phosphorus; Chl-a = Chlorophyll-a values;CTSI = Carlson Trophic StateIndex.

	ТР	Chl-			
SD (m)	(µg/L)	a(µg/L)	CTSI	Lake trophic state	Attributes
> 8	< 6	< 0.95	< 30	Oligotrophic	With clear water, oxygen throughout the year in the hypolimnion Oligotrophy, but some shallower lakes will become anoxic during
8-4	6 – 12	0.95 – 2.6	30-40	Oligotrophic	the dry season Water moderately clear, but increasing of anoxia during the dry
3.9 - 2	12.1 - 24	2.6 - 7.2	40 - 50	Mesotrophic	season
1.9 – 1	24.1 - 48	7.2 - 25	50 - 70	Eutrophic	Decreased transparency, warm-water fisheries only
0.9 - 0.5	48.1 - 98	25 – 55	70 - 80	Eutrophic Eutrophic	the tendency of becoming hypereutrophic Reduction in macrophyte species, algal scum and loses in fish
< 0.5	> 98	> 55	> 80	(Hypereutrophic)	stocks in dry season

3.3 Objective 2: Lake water balance modelling and its sensitivity to hydrometeorological variations

3.3.1 Lake Water Balance Model (LWBM)

The lake water balance is defined as the exchange of the water mass between input and output over the lake and its catchment area (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). The lake water balance is also considered as the magnitude and timing of each of the flows entering and leaving the lake (Dessie *et al.*, 2015). A water balance model for the lake's system was used to evaluate the exchange of water between the different components of Lake Baringo.

The lake water balance modeling was estimated by including inflow and outflow components represented by Eq. (13) and (14). Two models were run, the first one for the period from 1970-1995 based on existing data (Ngaira, 2006; Aura *et al.*, 2020) and the second one for the period from 2008 to June 2021 based on the short-term data collected by this study from January 2020 to June 2021. The two models incorporated all component values estimated following the described steps and procedures (Mbanguka *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2002; 2015).

$$\frac{dL}{dt} = RL(t) - EvapL + Qbala + \varepsilon(t)$$
(13)

and

$$A_L x \left[(P_{(t)} + Qr_{(t)}) - (E_{(t)} + Qout_{(t)}) \right] = Qbala_{(t)}$$
(14)

Where, *Qbala* (mm yr⁻¹) is net runoff, *RL* is the possible runoff volume to the lake (mm yr⁻¹), A_L is the lake surface area (m²), P(t) precipitation (mm yr⁻¹) at time t, $Qr_{(t)}$ surface runoff entering into the lake at time *t*, EvapL(t) or (E_t) (mm yr⁻¹) water lost from the lake surface due to evaporation at time t, P(t) is the rainfall (mm yr⁻¹) on the

lake surface at time t (yr), L is the water level (m) in the lake and ε represents uncertainties in the water balance arising from errors in the data and/or other terms such as minor abstraction or inflow from ungauged catchments.

In this study, the model was done at a yearly time step (t). $Qout_{(t)}$ (Equation 14) is the discharge of the outflow of the lake due to water abstractions from the inflows and the underground seepage (S) and was estimated as $Q_{out}(t) = A_{(t) +} S_{(t)}$.

S (t) is the loss due to the underground seepage estimated at 108 m³yr⁻¹ (Dunkley *et al.*, 1993) and A_(t) losses due to river water abstractions (mm yr⁻¹). All the lake water balance components have been converted in the same units for comparisons purposes. The stored water in the lake (storage rate; S) per time unit (S = total inflows – total outflows) is the difference between the total inflows in the lake and total outflows from the lake over time.

3.3.2 Determination of parameters for water balance model

3.3.2.1 River sampling for velocity and discharge

Four rivers (Perkerra, Molo, Endao, and Lokesen, Figure 3.1) in the Lake Baringo basin were sampled for the discharge measurement into Lake Baringo from January 2020 to June 2021 on a monthly schedule. These rivers were selected among the seven rivers flowing into the lake (Aloo, 2002; Odada *et al.*, 2006; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020) according to their perennity, size, geographical location, accessibility, and prevailing land use. Additional long-term data on river discharge were obtained on two permanent rivers (Perkerra and Molo) from 1970-1995 based on the literature (GOK, 1989, 2002, 2007; Akivaga, 2010). The selected four rivers drain ~ 1765 km² in the southern region, representing ~75% of the river-active area catchment of around 2294.5 km² (the total catchment of the lake is 6820 km², Table 3.7). Other geomorphological, physical, and chemical properties of the lake are detailed in Table 3.6.

		Physico-chemical	
Morphometric characteristics		characteristics	Range
Maximum depth (m)	~ 20 ^(f)	Surface temperature (°C)	23.2-30.2°C ^(f)
Mean depth (m)	10.8 ^(f)	Conductivity (µS/cm)	303.3-846.2 ^(f)
Lake surface area (AL) (km ²)	250 ^(g)	Turbidity (NTU)	5.7-481,9 ^(f)
Lake basin area (AB) (km ²)	6820 ^(c)	рН	7.1-9.8 ^(f)
Northern and central areas without rivers (km ²)			
(AWR) (AC-AR)	4525.5 ^(f)	Na+ (meq L^{-1}) (mean)	15.5 ^(h)
River active area (Southern part)(AR) (km ²)	2294.5 ^(f)	$K+ (meq L^{-1}) (mean)$	0.6 ^(h)
Catchment area without lake (AC) (= AB-AL)			
(km ²)	6570 ^(f)	$Ca++ (meq L^{-1}) (mean)$	0.6 ^(h)
Lake volume (VL) (km ³)	930 ^(b)	Mg++ (meq L^{-1}) (mean)	0.2 ^(h)
Subaquatic seepage (m ³ yr ⁻¹)	108 ^(d)	Cl^{-} (mg L^{-1}) (mean)	3.2 ^(h)
Water residence time (Rt) (months) (VL/Tot			
inflows)	(f)	TDS (mg L^{-1})	90.1-471.1 ^(f)
Major water use	Navigation, fishing, drinking ^(b)	Surface DO (mg L ⁻¹)	4.5-8.7 ^(f)
Altitude (m)	97 ^(e)	Chlorophyll a (µg L ⁻¹)	2.1-39.6 ^(f)
Latitude	0°30'N and 0°45' N $^{(e)}$	Alkalinity (mg L ⁻¹ CaCO3)	79.5-312.0 ^(f)
Longitude	36° 00' E and 36° 10' E $^{(e)}$	Secchi depth (cm)	83.8-182.5 ^(f)
AL/AC	0.03 ^(f)	TN (μg L ⁻¹)	1.2-733.3 ^(f)
Runoff coefficient (k)	1.48 ^(f)	TP ($\mu g L^{-1}$)	8.3-292.6 ^(f)

Table 3.7: Morphometric and physico-chemical characteristics of Lake Baringo (Kenya), data from various sources

(a) : Omondi *et al.*, 2014; (b): Obando *et al.*, 2016; © : Odada *et al.*, 2006; (d) Dunkley *et al.*, 1993; (e) Kallqvist, 1987; (f) this study; g) Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020, h) Oduor *et al.*, 2003. River active area in this study takes into account the two perennial rivers Molo and Perkerra and two seasonal rivers Endao and Lokesen areas in the lake watershed.

The geographical coordinates of the river sampling locations were recorded using a Garmin Olathe 72 hand-held GPS (Garmin, USA). Three rivers (Molo, Endau, Lokesen) were sampled at a distance of ~100 m from the mouth, while river Perkerra was sampled far away from the mouth at 5 km because of difficulties with near-shore accessibility. River discharge was measured by determining the velocity of a floater and the total cross-sectional area of the river following the Float Method Procedure (Harrelson *et al.* 1994; Bartram and Balance, 1996). A correction factor of 0.85 was used to adjust the calculated velocity of the river surface (Harrelson *et al.* 1994; Rodier *et al.*, 2009).

The river width was measured by a 50 m-long tape measure and then divided into sub-sections for which the depths were determined according to the procedure in Bartram and Balance (1996). Six to seven vertical sub-sections were selected along the cross-section of the river depending on the width and shape at the site of each river. A 50 m-long tape measure was used to also measure the length (L) (in meters) of floatation of a float in a given period (t) (in seconds) measured using a chronometer. A stick meter allowed the determination of the width of each vertical segment of the cross-section of sites (Figure 3.2).

The discharge was computed at each site cross-section based on the assumption that the average velocity measured on a vertical line is valid for a rectangle that extends half of the distance to the verticals on each side of it, as well as throughout the depth at the vertical plane (Harrelson *et al.* 1994; Bartram and Balance, 1996). In Figure 3.2, the mean velocity (vn) (v_n = b_n/t_n) applies to each rectangle bounded by the given colored line. The area (a_n) of each rectangle is given in the function of the width (b_n) and the depth (d_n) at each sub-section by (Harrelson *et al.* 1994):

$$a_n = d_n * \frac{[(bn+1)-(bn-1)]}{2};$$
 (15)

and the discharge (Qn) through it was estimated using the following equation:

$$\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{n}} = \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{n}}^* \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{n}} \tag{16}$$

Therefore, the total discharge (Qt) across the entire cross-section of the river was given by summation:



$$Qt = Q_1 + Q_2 + Q_3 + \dots Q_{(n-1)} + Q_n$$
(17)

Figure 3.2: Cross-section of a stream divided into vertical sections for measurement of discharge (Bartram and Balance, 1996)

3.3.2.2 Outflow and Water Extraction volumes for Irrigation Supply

Lake Baringo has no known surface outflow; however, water is being extracted from the lake's watershed for irrigation purposes. The volumetric method was adopted to estimate Lake Baringo water extraction for dams in the lake watershed for irrigation such as the Perkerra irrigation scheme by the urban population. The average pump discharge at two inflows (Perkerra and Molo rivers, Figure 3.1) was measured based on daily observations and recorded pump operational hours. Water extraction quantities (I_i) from the ith inlet for the entire crop season (for irrigation) were estimated from the following empirical formula (Törnqvist and Jarsjö, 2012; Machiwal *et al.*, 2016):

$$\mathbf{I}_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{ni} q_{ij} \mathbf{x} \, \mathrm{d}_{ij} \tag{18}$$

Where q_{ij} pump discharge at ith inlet on jth day (m³ h⁻¹), dij operational pumping hours at ith outlet on jth day (h), n_i is the number of days when pump at ith inlet was operating during a crop season and i inlet number.

3.3.2.3 Evaporation estimation over Lake Baringo

The evaporation losses from lakes have been determined with various methods estimating the evaporation losses from an open or free water surface (Singh and Kar, 1996; Tanny *et al.*, 2008). The Penman method (Penman, 1948), Thornthwaite method (Mather, 1978; 1981), and the energy balance method (Rosenberry *et al.*, 2007) have been widely used in the estimation of evaporation in studies of East African lakes (Yin *et al.*, 1998; Kebede *et al.*, 2006; Mbanguka *et al.*, 2016). Due to data availability constraints, the semi-arid location of Lake Baringo, and the complexity of methods in terms of inputs, the Thornthwaite Method, a very simple and data-poor approach based only on air temperature data, was used at a monthly

time-step for annual evaporation estimates of Lake Baringo for water balance modeling and sensitivity analysis. Moreover, despite the perceived underestimation of the evaporation outcome by this method (Mbanguka *et al.*, 2016), it is well adapted and largely used in semi-arid areas (Rosenberry *et al.*, 2007).

The climatological data (air temperature) measured in the lake watershed were collected from Eldama Ravine online station (ELDR, <u>https://www.worldweatheronline.com/baringo-weather-averages/rift-valley/ke.aspx</u>)

and air temperature measured at around 2 meters above the lake surface were as well collected from various literature for the period from 2008 to 2019 (Omondi *et al.*, 2014; KMFRI, unpublished reports, 2020) and complemented with additional data collected in this study from 2020-2021. The data sources were averaged to get the representative estimates of air temperature on the Lake Baringo watershed that were used for the estimation of evaporation over the lake. The Thornthwaite Method was then used to estimate the lake potential evapotranspiration (*PET*) and active evapotranspiration (*ETP*). The monthly evaporation rate (E) from the lake was determined as proposed by Mather (1978; 1981) using Thornthwaite's equation and variables below:

$$PET = [1.6 (10 \frac{T}{I})^{a} (\frac{10}{d})]$$
(19)

Where, I is the annual heat index, T is the air temperature in °C, d is the number of days in a month and the parameter "a" is a function of I (Mather, 1978; 1981) as.

$$\mathbf{I} = \sum_{i=1}^{12} i \tag{20}$$

and

$$i = \left[\frac{T}{5}\right]^{1.514} \tag{21}$$

Where, *i* is the heat index per month.

$$a = 6.75 * 10^{-7} I^3 - 7.71 * 10^{-5} I^2 + 1.79 * 10^{-2} I + 0.49$$
(22)

with "a" being a factor that takes into account the actual number of days in a month (28-31) and the number of daylight hours, the latter being a function of the altitude and the season (Rosenberry *et al.*, 2007). The input data (air temperature, T) used in the Thornthwaite approach were collected from 2008 to 2021 and are given in Table 3.8. The air temperature was measured monthly at around 2 meters above the lake's surface water, while the water temperature was directly measured at the lake's surface from 2008 to 2021.

Table 3.8: Input data used in the calculations of evaporation from the surface of Lake Baringo, air temperature data coolected from Eldama Ravine online station and literature (Omondi et al., 2014) (2008-2019) and this study (2020-2019).

Month	i	T (°C)	a	d
January	22.75 ± 2.3	25.03 ± 1.2	0.87 ± 0.02	31
February	12.82 ± 1.1	25.39 ± 0.8	0.70 ± 0.03	28-29
March	10.36 ± 1.9	23.67 ± 0.5	0.66 ± 0.13	31
April	11.80 ± 1.7	25.96 ± 1.1	0.68 ± 0.12	30
May	11.08 ± 1.4	24.88 ± 1.5	0.67 ± 0.14	31
June	23.02 ± 2.3	25.33 ± 1.2	0.87 ± 0.12	30
July	22.70 ± 1.8	24.97 ± 2.1	0.86 ± 0.09	31
August	23.35 ± 2.5	25.69 ± 1.6	0.87 ± 0.06	31
September	23.01 ± 2.2	25.31 ± 1.8	0.87 ± 0.07	30
October	21.29 ± 2.4	23.42 ± 1.1	0.84 ± 0.09	31
November	22.40 ± 2.3	24.65 ± 1.3	0.86 ± 0.10	30
December	21.28 ± 2.1	23.41 ± 1.5	0.84 ± 0.02	31
	(I =225.86)			

I: is the annual heat index and represents the sum of monthly i, T is air temperatures in °C, d is the number of days in a month and the parameter "a" is a function of I, i is the heat index per month, a is the factor that takes into account the actual number of days (d) in the month (28-31) and the number of daylight hours.

3.3.2.4 Water residence time (R_t)

The water residence time (R_T) was estimated every month in nine sampling stations chosen in the lake from the northern zone to the southern zone for the period from January 2020 to June 2021 by the following equation (Galizia and Matsumura-Tundisi, 2011):

$$R_t = \frac{V}{Q(t)(year)}$$
(23)

Where V is the volume of the lake estimated from Obando *et al.* (2016) and Q(t) is the annual total flow (Qt = Precipitation (P) + inflows).

The estimated lake surface (S) obtained from Obando *et al.* (2016) and the monthly depths measured during the data collection period were used to estimate the average volumes of the lake (V) for the sampling period (January 2020-June 2021) using the volume $V = Depth (m) * S (m^2)$ (Harrilson *et al.*, 1994).

3.3.3 Lake level sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity is defined as how the lake responds in relation to variations in its water balance components (precipitation, evaporation, runoff, underground seepage inflow and outflow; etc.) or water levels related to changes in hydrological regimes (Yin and Nicholson, 1998). The sensitivity analysis determines the magnitude of change in each of the required hydrological parameters (air temperature, precipitation, cloud cover, and relative humidity) required to bring the lake level from dry-out to overflow conditions (Mbanguka *et al.*, 2016). For sensitivity analysis, monthly meteorological data including air temperature, cloud cover, precipitation, and relative humidity were collected monthly from Eldama Ravine meteorological station from March 2008-June 2021. The annual means were calculated for all the parameters and were used for the water balance modeling and sensitivity analysis. The choice of the annual time frame

was motivated by data availability. Furthermore, the annual time frame was appropriate than seasonal dynamics since the study focused on the establishment of an annual water balance of the lake-catchment system and the assessment of the sensitivity to changes in long-term hydroclimatic conditions on an annual basis.

Prior to the sensitivity analysis of the lake level to meteorological variables, the missing water level data for previous years with available lake surface information were derived by using the estimated lake storage capacity (C) curve equation (C = 249.52*Depth - 298.55). The equation was obtained from the lake volume-depth relationship derived using a linear model from January 1970 to June 2021 data. The simple linear model showed a good fit of the lake storage-lake level relationship (Figure 3.3, R² = 0.96).



Figure 3.3: Relationship between Lake Baringo storage capacity and water level for the period from January 1970 to June 2021.

The influences of the changes in rainfall, evaporation, air and water temperature, cloud cover, and relative humidity on the annual lake levels were assessed. Multiple

scatter regressions were performed between the lake level and each of the selected meteorological variables (rainfall, evaporation, air temperature, cloud cover, and relative humidity) to analyze the sensitivity of the lake level to changes in the parameters as well as to evaluate the effects of the four selected meteorological variables (rainfall, air temperature, cloud cover, and relative humidity on the evaporation from the lake. All the regression analyses were performed using the Sigma Plot statistical package.

3.4 Objective **3:** Effects of water level fluctuations on water quality variables and fisheries of the lake

3.4.1 Data collection

Lake water levels (WLs) data were obtained from the Kenya Water Resources Authority (WARA) for the period from 1956-2018. WARA monitors water levels by a graduated wooden scale of 5 m height with the nearest 1-cm accuracy in graduations. The scale was installed at the lowest elevation in the southern part of the lake (Figure 3.1, Table 3.1) to enable monitoring even during low lake levels. Additional water level data were collected through this study from January 2020 to June 2021 using the same sampling methods as WARA. In the year 2019, no data were collected for water levels because the measurement scale got submerged due to rising water levels occasioned by heavy rains. For each year of record, both for the two periods (1956-2018) and (2020-2021), both monthly and yearly mean lake levels were estimated and used to derive the lake water level fluctuation (WLF) indices as described below (see section 3.4.2). Both the water quality variabless and fish landings were measured from three ecological zones (northern, central, and southern) in the lake extending from the northern to the southern parts of the lake (Figure 3.1) in order to cover the representative lake area. The characteristics of the three ecological zones of Lake Baringo are described in Table 3.1.

Long-term rainfall data (1959 to 2021; Table 3.9) collected from 24 meteorological stations installed in the lake's watershed were compiled from the literature (Ngaira, 2006; Obando *et al.*, 2016) and the local meteorological services. Meteorological stations are installed in the lake's catchment in both high and lowlands by the Kenyan Water Resource Authority in Rift Valley Basin (Table 3.9).

Table 3.9: Meteorological stations in the catchment of Lake Baringo (Kenya), period of data collection, and mean annual rainfall recorded by the station (Ngaira, 2006; Odada *et al.*, 2006; Okech *et al.*, 2019).

				M. A. rainfa	11
No	Station name	Station ID/Altitude	Data duration	$(mm yr^{-1})$	# of years
1	Elburgon Divisional Forest	9035237	1961-2003	2774	44
2	Mau Summit	9035038	1959-1991	1602	32
3	Molo Water Bailiff	9035266	1967-2001	2115	35
4	Molo Pyrethrum	9035093	1959-1990	2089	32
5	Gatheri Turi	9035099	1959-1975	1083	17
6	Marioshoni Forest	9035117	1959-2003	2772	45
7	Molo Forest	9035273	1959-2003	2250	35
8	Eldama Ravine (ELDR)	Online (from 2009)	1960-2021	959	62
9	Perkerra Station	NA	1968-2000	636	33
10	Tangulbei Station	NA	1960-2000	587	42
11	Station HQ (Omari)	NA	2012-2020	491	9
12	Station F.1	NA	2012-2020	694	9
13	Station F.2	NA	2012-2020	759	9
14	Station F.3	NA	2012-2020	855	9
15	Station F.4	NA	2012-2020	710	9
16	Station F.4a	NA	2012-2020	504	9
17	Station F.5	NA	2012-2020	563	9
18	Station F.6	NA	2012-2020	810	9
19	Station F.7	NA	2012-2020	688	9
20	Station F.9	NA	2012-2020	924	9
21	Station F.10	NA	2012-2020	593	9
22	Station F.11	NA	2012-2020	662	9
23	Station F.13	NA	2012-2020	584	9
24	WARA station	NA	1980-2018	438	38

NA: Not applicable, WARA: Water resource authority, F: Field station, HQ: Headquarter and Nursery station, M.A.: mean annual.

The monthly data on rainfall collected from Eldama Ravine station (ELDR), the station with the longest data series were averaged and compared to the combined average of the rainfall data collected from 23 other local meteorological stations around Lake Baringo for the years from 1959 to 2021. The information was used for the calibration and validation of data collected from Eldama Ravine station. The correlation between the two-time series was done for both monthly mean data and yearly mean data (Figure 3.4a and b) in order to validate the data from Eldama Ravine meteorological station to enable further use of tha data in the lake water balance modeling and lake level sensitivity analysis. The monthly comparisons were based on data collected from 1959 to 2021 (Table 3.9 and Figure 3.4).

The meteorological data (precipitation, air temperature, relative humidity, and cloudiness) collected from the 24 stations were combined to represent significantly the climatic condition in the lake watershed. Nevertheless, the Eldama Ravine (ELDR) dataset being of reliable satellite products and with the longest dataset in the Rift valley region, this station database was used for meteorological data collection and further analyses in this study due to the good correlation with other stations (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: Scatter plots of rainfall as derived from satellite station (ELDR) over Lake Baringo vs rainfall measured water over its catchment: (a) relationship of monthly means (2008-2021), and (b) Averages of annual data computed at the 23 stations in the lake catchment for the years 1959-2021 (Table 3.8).

3.4.2 Water Level Fluctuations (WLFs) indices

For both long-term (1956-2020) and short-term (January 2020-June 2021) water level data analyses, two differently time-lagged indices were used as indicators of water level fluctuations in Lake Baringo as proposed by White *et al.* (2008): (1): the

difference from the long-term mean (DLTM) (m) was calculated by determining the mean water level from 1956 to 2020 for the lake and then subtracting that mean value (across years) from the mean water level for a particular year. For the short-term analysis, DLTM (m) was calculated by determining the mean water level from January 2020 to June 2021 and then subtracting that mean value (across months) from the mean water level for a particular month. These calculations result in positive and negative values indicating the mean water level for a particular year relative to the lake's overall long-term mean. (2): the annual amplitude (WLamp, m) determined as the difference between the lowest annual (minimum) and highest (maximum) recorded lake level within a year (WLmax-WLmin); provides a measure of the strength of the flood pulse for that particular year. Also, the monthly amplitude (WLam, m) was determined using the same procedure as WLmax-WLmin within a month on daily water level data.

3.4.3 Lake Baringo Fisheries

Long-term data on fish landings (1982-2018) from the lake were obtained from the monthly records of the Kenya Fisheries Department at Baringo Station and the additional short-term data by sampling the landings from January 2020 to June 2021 in this study. The fish landings data used for the two periods (1982-2018) and (January 2020-June 2021) were collected monthly from three major fish landing beaches representative of the lake's fishery, selected based on their accessibility and quantity landed. The three beaches cover the entire lake from the northern to the southern regions and include "Kampi Samaki" in the southern part of the lake, "Ngenyin" in the central zone, and "Komolion" in the northern part of the lake. At each beach, the catch was separated into species before the counting and weighing of

the fish. The fish weight was measured by species using a weighing balance (digital scale) while a measuring board was used to measure the fish lengths (standard and total lengths). The data recorded included weight (nearest 0.1 kg), stomach content and length (nearest mm) for each specimen of species landed and randomly sampled from the fishers.

A sample sizes of **92,799** (Table 3.10) were used to calculate the relative condition factors of landed fish used as fisheries performance index. The effects of water level fluctuations on the long-term fish conditions were assessed through regression analysis. The relative condition factor (Kn) was estimated for each species over the period (2008-2020) from the ratio of observed weight to the expected weight-forlength following Le Cren's equation (Le Cren, 1951):

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{n}} = \frac{Wi}{aL\mathbf{i}^{b}} \tag{24}$$

Where, W_i is an observed individual fish weight and L_i is observed individual fish total length.

The regression constants (a and b) were obtained from the overall length-weight relationship ($W = aL^b$) derived for the species.

The number of fish collected in 2021 was not considered in the long-term analysis but used in the short-term analysis because the fish landings were collected for only 6 months (January to June 2021).

Table 3.10: Number of fish specimens per species used in the estimation of individual relative condition factor for the period 2008-2020 in Lake Baringo, Kenya

Fish	0.000000	- market	-3.55.54				-esservi				100000-1		-	ana
species/years	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
P. aethiopicus	1435	2361	509	507	1085	2260	828	327	671	545	1194	5963	5376	23061
B. intermedius	1539	2444	633	510	1160	2263	814	289	619	848	922	425	5889	18355
C. gariepinus	1541	2450	631	556	1156	2273	814	328	669	3028	2185	5929	2016	23576
O. niloticus	1552	2452	652	564	1168	2274	819	333	830	2994	7405	5737	1027	27807
Total	6067	9707	2425	2137	4569	9070	3275	1277	2789	7415	11706	18054	14308	92799
	Fish species/years P. aethiopicus B. intermedius C. gariepinus O. niloticus Total	Fish species/years2008P. aethiopicus1435B. intermedius1539C. gariepinus1541O. niloticus1552Total6067	Fish 2008 2009 P. aethiopicus 1435 2361 B. intermedius 1539 2444 C. gariepinus 1541 2450 O. niloticus 1552 2452 Total 6067 9707	Fish 2008 2009 2010 P. aethiopicus 1435 2361 509 B. intermedius 1539 2444 633 C. gariepinus 1541 2450 631 O. niloticus 1552 2452 652 Total 6067 9707 2425	Fish 2008 2009 2010 2011 P. aethiopicus 1435 2361 509 507 B. intermedius 1539 2444 633 510 C. gariepimus 1541 2450 631 556 O. niloticus 1552 2452 652 564 Total 6067 9707 2425 2137	Fish 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 P. aethiopicus 1435 2361 509 507 1085 B. intermedius 1539 2444 633 510 1160 C. gariepinus 1541 2450 631 556 1156 O. niloticus 1552 2452 652 564 168 Total 6067 9707 2425 2137 4569	Fish 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 P. aethiopicus 1435 2361 509 507 1085 2260 B. intermedius 1539 2444 633 510 1160 2263 C. gariepinus 1541 2450 631 556 1156 2273 O. niloticus 1552 2452 652 564 1168 2274 Total 6067 9707 2425 2137 4569 9070	Fish species/years2008200920102011201220132014P. aethiopicus1435236150950710852260828B. intermedius1539244463351011602263814C. gariepinus1541245063155611562273814O. niloticus1552245265256411682274819Total6067970724252137456990703275	Fish species/years 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 P. aethiopicus 1435 2361 509 507 1085 2260 828 327 B. intermedius 1539 2444 633 510 1160 2263 814 289 C. gariepinus 1541 2450 631 556 1156 2273 814 328 O. niloticus 1552 2452 652 564 1168 2274 819 333 Total 6067 9707 2425 2137 4569 9070 3275 1277	Fish 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 P. aethiopicus 1435 2361 509 507 1085 2260 828 327 671 B. intermedius 1539 2444 633 510 1160 2263 814 289 619 C. gariepinus 1541 2450 631 556 1156 2273 814 328 669 O. niloticus 1552 2452 652 564 1168 2274 819 333 830 Total 6067 9707 2425 2137 4569 9070 3275 1277 2789	Fish species/years2008200920102011201220132014201520162017P. aethiopicus1435236150950710852260828327671545B. intermedius1539244463351011602263814289619848C. gariepinus15412450631556115622738143286693028O. niloticus15522452652564116822748193338302994Total6067970724252137456990703275127727897415	Fish species/years20082009201020112012201320142015201620172018P. aethiopicus14352361509507108522608283276715451194B. intermedius1539244463351011602263814289619848922C. gariepinus154124506315561156227381432866930282185O. niloticus155224526525641168227481933383029947405Total606797072425213745699070327512772789741511706	Fish species/years200820092010201120122013201420152016201720182019P. aethiopicus143523615095071085226082832767154511945963B. intermedius1539244463351011602263814289619848922425C. gariepinus1541245063155611562273814328669302821855929O. niloticus1552245265256411682274819333830299474055737Total60679707242521374569907032751277278974151170618054	Fish species/years2008200920102011201220132014201520162017201820192020P. aethiopicus1435236150950710852260828327671545119459635376B. intermedius15392444633510116022638142896198489224255889C. gariepinus15412450631556115622738143286693028218559292016O. niloticus15522452652564116822748193338302994740557371027Total6067970724252137456990703275127727897415117061805414308

P = Protopterus, B = Barbus, C = Clarias and O = Oreochromis

3.5 Objective 4: Modelling the food web properties and fisheries dynamics in Lake Baringo using Ecopath mass-balanced model

The study used the Ecopath component of the Ecopth with Ecosim (EwE) (<u>http://www.ecopath.org</u>) (Christensen, 1995) software to model the ecosystem structure and functioning of Lake Baringo. An overview of EwE model is presented in section 2.3.0. The Ecopath model employs the principle of mass-balance, which assumes that the production of any given preys is equal to the biomass consumed by the predators plus the biomass caught (eg. in fisheries) plus any exports from the system (Equation 25). It also applies the energy flow balance which applies Newton's second law of thermodynamics (Christensen, 1995). Both the mass-balance and energy balance models are discribed below:

3.5.1 Mass balanced ecosystem model

3.5.1.1 Mass-balance of production

The sum of fishery catches, predation mortality, biomass accumulation, net migration, and other mortality represents the fisheries production (Pi) in the lake and is estimated as follows (Christensen, 1995):

$$Pi = Yi + Bi \times M2i + Ei + BAi + MOi + Pi \times (1 - EEi)$$
⁽²⁵⁾

Where, *Pi* stands for the total production rate of the group (*i*), *Yi* represents the total fishery catch rate of (*i*), *M2i* is the total predation rate for the group (*i*), *Bi* is the biomass of the group (*i*), *Ei* is the net migration rate (emigration - immigration) and, $Pi \times (1 - EEi)$ is an expression of the "other mortality" rate for the group (*i*), MO*i*, representing mortality other than caused by predation and fishing. *EE*i, the ecotrophic efficiency, is the proportion of production of the group (*i*) which is incorporated into the next trophic level through predation with the balance being lost through other sources of mortality such as disease, starvation, and old age. *BAi* is the bioaccumulation rate for (*i*) and expresses a positive or negative value indicating changes in population sizes of a fishery or when a group is in decline related to overfishing (Christensen and Pauly, 1993).

Equation (25) can be rewritten based as below:

$$Bi x \left(\frac{P}{B}\right)i - \sum_{j=1}^{n} Bj x \left(\frac{Q}{B}\right)j x DCji - \left(\frac{P}{B}\right)i x Bi x (1 - EEi) - Yi - Ei - BAi = 0$$

$$(26)$$

Where for each functional group: P/B is the production/biomass ratio also equal to total mortality Z. yr⁻¹, Q/B is the consumption per unit of predation j biomass, and DCji is the fraction of prey (*i*) in the average diet of predator (*j*).

3.5.1.2 Energy flow balance

In the mass-balanced model (Equation 26), the Energy input and output of all biomass compartments must be balanced, such that (Christensen *et al.*, 2000; Darwalla *et al.*, 2010):

Consumption = production + respiration + unassimilated food (27) Respiration (a parameter rarely measured in fisheries analysis) is estimated as the difference between consumption and production (plus unassimilated food) which are parameters commonly estimated in fisheries analyses. Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE) software uses six basic parameters (Natungonza *et al.*, 2016) of which at least four input parameters (B, P/B, Q/B, and EE) are required to estimate the missing parameters and to estimate energy flows and standing biomasses between functional groups based on equations (26), and (27) (Pauly *et al.*, 2000). EE is oftenly estimated automatically by the Ecopath model (Christensen, 1995).

3.5.2 Data collection and model set-up

Three annual Ecopath mass-balance models (1999, 2010, 2020) were constructed for the Lake Baringo ecosystem and temporal trends in the parameters compared. The 1999 and 2010 models were based on secondary data collected from the literature (Aloo, 2002; Ballot *et al.*, 2003; Mlewa, 2003; Terras-Wahlberg *et al.*, 2003; Mlewa *et al.*, 2006; Odada *et al.*, 2006; Omondo *et al.*, 2014; Aura *et al.*, 2020) and unpublished reports from Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) and Kenya Fisheries Department. The third Ecopath model (2020) was built based on this study's sampling for the year 2020. All models were run using the Ecopath with Ecosim (EwE) Software 6.6 (Christensen and Walters, 2004). The models were fit for the trophically linked biomass pools and concentrated on the major system biomass components (Walters *et al.*, 1997; Pauly *et al.*, 2000; Christensen *et al.*, 2005). Biomass groups used in the model were defined as species or functional groups (biota performing the same function or of similar traits) quantified as wet weights. Each of the three models represented the annual average condition of Lake Baringo's ecosystem and its functioning. For comparison reasons at the system level, the three ecosystem models were constructed with the same number of functional groups (n =8) to reduce bias associated with different aggregation strategies (Gaichas *et al.*, 2009). The current study did not include aquatic birds and mammal (hippos) and reptiles (crocodiles) in the models due to a lack of scientific information (biomass, diet, biological measurements) on the groups in Lake Baringo.

3.5.3 Functional groups used in the model

Eight functional groups were identified in the present study for use in the model, including four (4) fish species (*Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis, Protopterus aethiopicus, Clarias gariepinus*, and *Labeobarbus intermedius*). *Labeo cylindric* was not considered in this study because of lack of information, the fish being rare in the landings, and being of less economic importance. The fish species were selected based on the availability of reports on the fish catch data for the lake and their economic importance (KMFRI Technical Reports 2017, 2018; Fisheries Department Technical Reports, 2015, 2016, 2018). Further, four other groups constituting important functional groups included; mollusks, zooplankton, phytoplankton, and detritus made the remaining functional groups.

3.5.4 Fish landing catches used in the model

Data on fish landings for the 1999 and 2010 models were collected from the monthly records of the Kenya Fisheries Department at Baringo Station and different literature sources (Aloo 2002; Mlewa, 2003; Mlewa *et al.*, 2006; Odada *et al.*, 2006; Omondi *et al.*, 2014; Aura *et al.*, 2020). The landings data used in the 2020 model were collected from January 2020 to December 2020 in this study. The fish landings data used in the three annual models (1999, 2010, 2020) were collected monthly from the same three major fish landing beaches selected based on their accessibility and quantity landed (see section 3.4.4; Table 3.9). The annual fish yields (kg) were used for the biomass calculations in the model using EwE software 6.6 (Christensen *et al.*, 2005). The data on annual landings, total length, number of specimens for each fish species (n), and related estimated variables (L_{xc} , L_{mean} , L_c and L_{max}) used as inputs in the three models of Lake Baringo are presented in section 4.4.3 (Table 4.15).

3.5.5 Estimation of length-based parameters used in the models

The individual total length (TL) and the determination of the length at first capture (*Lc*), mean length (*L*mean), and maximum length (*L*max) for each species of the four fish species (*Protopterus aethiopicus, Oreochromis niloticus, Clarias gariepinus,* and *Labeobarbus intermedius*) used in the models (See section 4.4.3; Table 4.15) were obtained after each monthly sampling for the years 1999, 2010 (Aloo 2002; Mlewa, 2003; Mlewa *et al.*, 2006; Odada *et al.*, 2006; Omondi *et al.*, 2014; Aura *et al.*, 2020) and 2020 (this study). For the three Ecopath models, a total of 18,237 fish specimens were used for the determination of the different length categories (Lmax, Lmean, Lc) and included 6,338 specimens of *P. aethiopicus;* 6,781 specimens of *L. intermedius;* 3,105 specimens of *C. gariepinus,* and 2,014 specimens of *O. niloticus baringoensis*

(See section 4.4.3; Table S3). The empirical formula described by Froese and Binohlan (2000) was used to estimate the asymptotic length ($L\infty$), as follows:

$$\log L\infty = 0.044 + 0.9841 \times \log (Lmax)$$
(28)

The total mortality (Z), also equal to P/B, was then calculated using Beverton and Holt's equation (Beverton and Holt, 1957) incorporated in FiSAT Software (Gayanilo *et al.*, 1996) as follows:

$$Z = k \times \frac{(L\infty - Lmean)}{(Lmean - Lc)}$$
(29)

Where, k = growth coefficient calculated using FiSAT packages.

3.5.6 Diet composition per group

The diet composition required in the Ecopath model is a key information in the dynamics of ecosystems. The connection of food networks between different ecological groups (Fetahi and Mengistou, 2007) in Lake Baringo were estimated by the stomach content analysis. The monthly data samples collected in the year 2020 were used for diet composition analysis for the 4 commercial species. While, for 1999 and 2010 secondary data on the diet composition of the species were obtained from different literature sources (Oduor *et al.*, 2003; Schagerl and Oduor, 2003; Tarras-Wahlberg *et al.*, 2003; Odada *et al.*, 2006) and KMFRI unpublished monthly reports (KMFRI technical reports 2017, 2018). The stomach content composition of the species (DCJi, equation 30) was then used in the three Ecopath models of Lake Baringo. The diet composition information for the four commercial species and other functional groups used in the Ecopath model of the lake is summarized in Table 3.11.

 Table 3.11: Diet composition matrix (in % of the weight of the stomach content)
 of consumers used in Ecopath model for Lake Baringo, Kenya

Groups/species name	1 2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1-P. aethiopicus	-	-	-	94.3 ^(a,d)	_	_	5.7 ^(a,c, d)
2-B. intermedius	-	-	-	$8.8^{(b)}$	-	19.7 ^(b)	71.5 ^(b,d)
3-C. gariepinus	-	-	-	49.2 ^(a)	19.6 ^(a)	2.9 ^(a)	28.3 ^(a)
4-O. niloticus	-	-	-	-	12 ^(a)	88 ^(a)	-
5-Mollusks			-	-	50 ^(d,e)	50 ^(d,e)	-
6-Zooplankton	-	-	-	-	-	100 ^(a,b,d)	-
7-Phytoplankton	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
8-Detritus	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

(a) Omondi *et al.* (2014); (b) Odhiambo and Osure (2021); (c) Mlewa (2003); (d) this study. Species names are as in section 3.5.3.

3.5.7 Basic Input parameters used in the Ecopath models

Four main basic inputs required in EwE (Christensen, 1995) were used in each constructed Ecopth model including; biomass (B) in t km⁻², production/biomass ratio (P/B) per year, consumption/biomass ratio (Q/B) per year and ecotrophic efficiency (EE). For each functional group, three of the four parameters (B, P/B, Q/B, and EE) were estimated and entered as model inputs. The missing parameter (EE) was estimated by the Ecopath parameterization routine (Christensen *et al.*, 2005; Christensen and Walters, 2004). EE is the most difficult one to estimate and is thus often left unknown in Ecopath models (Christensen, 1995).

3.5.7.1 Fish species biomass (B)

The biomass (*B*) is the total mass per functional group expressed as metric ton/km². The biomass per habitat area of each fish species and time period (1999, 2010, 2020) was calculated using the equation B = Y/F (Gulland, 1971) assuming $F = 0.5 \times Z$ (Rehren *et al.*, 2018), where *Y* is the fish catch and *F* is the fishing mortality coefficient obtained from FishBase for each species and rationalized with estimates in other Kenyan lakes (Njiru *et al.*, 2018). All fish biomasses were expressed in wet weight.

3.5.7.2 Production/biomass ratio (P/B)

Production/biomass ratios are difficult to estimate directly but the ratio is equal to total mortality (Z) (Pauly *et al.*, 2000). The P/B ratio of fish groups presents the steady state of the ecosystem (Allen, 1971) and is equivalent to the instantaneous rate of natural total mortality (Z) (Pauly *et al.*, 2000). Total mortality (Z) of exploited fish species was determined by summing the value of fishing mortality (F) and natural mortality (M) as Z = F + M.

In this study, the Production/ Biomass ratio (P/B) was therefore assumed to be equal to the instantaneous mortality (Z) estimated for all fish species using the length-converted catch curve routine incorporated in FiSAT software (Gayalino *et al.*, 1996).

3.5.7.3 Consumption/biomass ratio (Q/B)

Q/B was estimated for each consumer functional group using based on the relationship proposed by Palomares and Pauly (1998) as follows:

$$Log (Q/B) = 7.964 - 0.204 log W \infty - 1.965T + 0.083A + 0.532h + 0.398d$$
(30)

Where, $W\infty$ ($W\infty = qL\infty^3$ is the asymptotic weight (g) equivalent of $L\infty$; T is an expression for the mean annual temperature of the water body, expressed using T = $\frac{1000}{K}$, (K = °C + 273.15);

A is the aspect ratio_ $(A = \frac{hc^2}{s})$ of the caudal fin of the fish, giving the height of the caudal fin (A approximately equals to 1.32 and 1.9 for fish with round and forked tails) (Froese and Pauly, 2016), (hc) and surface area of the caudal fin (s); h is a dummy variable defining the type of food (1 for herbivores and 0 for detritivores and carnivores), and d is also a dummy variable expressing food type (1 for detritivores and 0 for herbivores and carnivores). A mean annual water temperature was determined for each year from literature and this study and used in the model.

3.5.8 Ecological functioning and fisheries indicator outputs

After the models were balanced, the ecosystem stability and system maturity (indexed by P/R) were assessed by different network statistics and flow indices based on Odum's (1969) and Christensen's (1995) approaches. Then, the modeled structure and function of lake ecosystem were compared during the three time periods (1999, 2010, 2020) using various calculated network and information flow indices (Christensen, 1995) as below:

(1) Ecotrophic efficiency (EE) is the parameter used to define a balanced mass model.

EE is defined as a fraction of the production of an ecological functional group (species) consumed by another ecological group in the system or caught by fishing activities (Dutta *et al.*, 2017) and varies between 0 (relating to less exploitation of a group in the systems) and 1 (relating to exploited systems) (Christensen *et al.*, 2000).

EE value was an output estimated (auto-estimated) by Ecopath with Ecosim software based on *B*, *P/B*, and *Q/B*, the key input parameters. EE was used in this study to estimate the exploitation rate of fish species and the need for formulating conservation measures for a sustainable fishery in the lake if necessary.

(2) Network flow indices used in the present study: included the total system respiration

(TR), total production (P), total consumption (Q), total export (EXP), total primary production (TPP), net system production (NSP), total primary production/total production ratio (TPP/TP), total primary production/total respiration ration (TPP/TR) and total flow to detritus (FD) represented by the total system throughput (TST).

TST is a quantitative and summative variable that determines both the size of the entire system based on flow and all biomass flows within an ecosystem (Ulanowicz, 1986). The TST is defined as the sum of all flows in a system. It represents the "size of the entire system in terms of flow" (Ulanowicz, 1986). As such, it is an important parameter for comparisons of flow-networks and describing network lengths between models.

Other indexes included the sum of all system production (P), and net primary production (NPP), which provide an index of activity in the ecosystem associated with the first trophic level. The total biomass without detritus (B), mean trophic level of catch (TL), and total catch (Ca). Odum (1969) and Finn (1976) indexes (total primary production/total respiration (TPP/R), total primary production/total biomass (TPP/B), biomass supported per unit of energy flow (B/TST), net system production (P), connectivity index (CI), omnivory index (OI), average path length (APL) and Finn's cycling index, FCI) were also used to evaluate the ecosystem maturity and
development stage. The transfer efficiency (TE) of each trophic level (TL) was calculated as the ratio of the summed exports from a given TL plus the flow transferred from one TL to the next TL indicating the efficiency of a transfer from TL_{n-1} to TL_n (Lindeman, 1942). The ratio of total system biomass to the total system throughput (*B*/TST) (Christensen, 1995) is directly proportional to system maturity where the estimated value tends to be low during the ecosystem development phase and increases as a function indicating the maturity stage of the ecosystem (Odum, 1971; Ulanowicz, 1986). This index was used to assess the maturity stage of the lake in this study.

The Net Primary Production to Total Respiration (NPP/TR) ratio is another system maturity index (Odum, 1969; Pérez-España and Arreguín-Sánchez, 1999) with values close to 1 indicating mature ecosystems. The net production of the system defined as the difference between primary production and total respiration (TPP-TR) is another index of system maturity (Odum, 1969) and equals to zero in a truly balanced ecosystem.

The System Omnivory Index (SOI) is the average omnivory index of all consumers weighted by the logarithm of each consumer's food intake in the system (Christensen *et al.*, 2000). It indicates the diversity or complexity of food webs (Christensen, 1995).

The connectance index (*CI*) (Odum, 1969) for a given food web is computed as the ratio of the number of actual links between groups to the number of theoretically possible links. Feeding on detritus (by detritivores) is included in the count, but the opposite links (i.e., detritus 'feeding' on other groups) are disregarded. This index was

also used to assess the maturity of the lake because it presents a significant correlation with the maturity of the ecosystem suggesting that a food chain structure changes from linear to web-like (high CI) as a system matures (Odum, 1969; 1971).

Finn's cycling index (FCI) (Finn, 1976) is the proportion of the total system throughput (TST) recycled in the system. According to Monaco and Ulanowicz (1997), cycling is considered to be an important indicator of an ecosystem's ability to maintain its structure and integrity through positive feedback and can be used as an indicator of stress (Ulanowicz, 1986) or system maturity (Christensen, 1995; Vasconcellos *et al.*, 1997). This index was used to evaluate both maturity and stress rate (diminishing FCI) of the Lake Baringo ecosystem.

(3) Informative flow indices are commonly used to evaluate the food web robustness or the fragility of a food chain in an ecosystem (Canning and Death, 2021).

They include: flow uncertainty metric (H), Ascendency flowbits (A), relative Ascendency (A/C), overhead (Ov), overhead and capacity ratio (Ov/C), redundancy system entropy (RSE), capacity flowbits (C) and average mutual information (AMI). These indices were used in this study to evaluate the fragility of Lake Baringo's food web. In this study, the used flow indices included only: Ascendency (A) to measure both the degree to which energy flows are confined to specific pathways and the energetic size of the lake's web (Ulanowicz, 1997b). The Ascendancy being also a measure of system growth (i.e. age, size) and Development (i.e. organization) of network link, it was used to provide the same information for the lake. Another informative flow index used in this study was the system overhead (Ov) flowbits. The fraction of a system's capacity not considered as Ascendancy is considered as the Systems Overhead (Ov), which is considered as the energy in reserve of an ecosystem

(Monaco and Ulanowicz, 1997), the resilience capacity of a system, especially in the case of perturbations(Ulanowicz, 1986). It was used in this study to evalution the rate of perturbation of the lake over time. Flow indices such as Ascendency and Overhead are used to assess the stability and maturity of an ecosystem (Christensen, 1995). Ascendency is, therefore, a measure of average mutual information in a system (Ulanowicz and Norden, 1990).

(4) Assessing the role of fisheries of Lake Baringo from model outputs

Three fisheries indices (indicators of fishing intensity and impacts in the ecosystems) were computed to identify the current state of fisheries of Lake Baringo. The fisheries indicators included the mean trophic level of the catch (TLc), the primary production over total ecosystem production known as "primary production required" (PPR) and the gross fishing efficiency (GFE) were also used in this study to evaluate the fisheries dynamics of Lake Baringo over time.

i) Mean trophic level of the catch (TLc)

This indicator reflects the overall strategy of a fishery, and is calculated by weighting the proportions of each fish/fish group from the catch by their respective trophic levels (TLs). The TLc decreases as fishing impacts increase in the ecosystem since fishing tends to first remove the higher TL organisms.

The mean trophic level of the catches (TLc) was calculated as the weighted average of trophic level (TL*i*) of caught species using catches (Y*i*) as the weighting factors (Pauly *et al.*, 1998):

$$\mathbf{TLc} = \frac{\sum_{i} \mathbf{TL}i.\mathbf{Y}i}{\sum_{i} \mathbf{Y}i}$$
(31)

ii) Primary production required (PPR)

The PPR is the primary production that is necessary to sustain the catches, and estimated from both primary producers and detritus in order to assess the sustainability of fisheries in terms of energy. It is empirically calculated using a formula suggested by Pauly and Christensen (Pauly and Christensen, 1995) that links PPR, fish catches (Yi), mean transfer efficiency (TE), and trophic level (TL):

$$PPR = \frac{1}{9} \cdot \sum_{i} Yi \cdot \left(\frac{1}{TE}\right)^{TLi-1}$$
(32)

The mean transfer efficiency (TE) for the food web was calculated as the geometric mean of transfer efficiencies for each of the integer trophic levels II to III. The transfer efficiency of a trophic level is calculated as the sum of the flow transferred from any given level to the next higher level, plus exports (e.g., catches) from the given level relative to the input (or throughput) of the given trophic level (Pauly and Christensen, 1995).

iii) Gross fishing efficiency (GFE)

This indicator is computed as the sum of all fisheries catches divided by primary production (PP) (Actual catch/Primary production). The actual ratio indicates high values for overerexploited systems or characterized by more efficient use of the system's production (i.e. harvesting fish low in the food web), and low values in systems whose fish stocks are underexploited, or where the fishery is concentrated on apex predators (Pauly *et al.*, 1998; Garcia *et al.*, 2012).

3.5.9 Keystoneness Index (KSi)

The keystoneness index (KSi) was calculated for the three trophic models in Lake Baringo to quantitatively assess the impact of each of the functional groups on other groups' biomass in the system affecting the ecosystem functioning (Libralato *et al.*, 2006). A keystone species is considered as the group that would significantly affect other functional groups even with relatively small biomass. Functional groups with low biomass and high overall effect are attributed to high keystone values (Christensen *et al.*, 2008; Abobi *et al.*, 2021). The keystoneness was estimated in this study based on the incorporated Ecopath equation based on Libralato *et al.* formula (Libralato *et al.*, 2006).

$$KS_i = log[\varepsilon i(1 - pi)]$$
(33)

Where, KS_i is the keystoneness of group *i*, ε_i is the overall effect of group *i* and *pi* is the proportional biomass of group *i*.

3.5.10 Prebalancing conditions (PREBAL) of Ecopath model

Prebalancing (PREBAL) diagnostics evaluates if the data used in the trophic model are realistic or coherent to the system level based on some basic laws, rules, and principles of ecosystem ecology (Link, 2010). Prior to the balancing of the three trophic models (see section 3.5.8), PREBAL diagnostics were used to evaluate the Ecopath model assumptions in the initial model before progressing to dynamic simulations as suggested by Christensen (1995).

In this study, after the initial Ecopath model was created, a number of pre-balance factors were used. They include assessing patterns of biomass across taxa/trophic levels (where biomass should decline on a log scale across trophic levels indicating fewer or lesser individuals at higher trophic levels); biomass ratios (where predators biomass should be less than of 1 relative to their prey); and vital rates across taxa/trophic levels (these should be a general decline with increasing trophic level) (Christensen, 1995).

3.5.11 Balancing and calibration of the models

After Prebal diagnostics confirmed in used assumptions, the Ecopath model is then balanced.

A model is mass-balanced if the catches, consumption, biomass accumulation, and export do not exceed the production of a group (Equation 26) (Polovina, 1984; Ullah *et al.*, 2012). The model is considered balanced when it is characterized by an EE value less than 1 (Ullah *et al.*, 2012) and the P/Q ratio between 0.1 and 0.3, and the expected range for P/Q varies according to the organism (Christensen *et al.*, 2000; Christensen *et al.*, 2004). EE value exceeding 1 suggests a very high demand for a particular functional group in the ecosystem (Mohamed *et al.*, 2008). During balancing of the models in this study, the diet composition and mean biomass were modified until the achievement of a balanced model (e.g. EE < 1) while, the mean biomass was slightly adjusted to within 1 standard deviation (SD) of its original (average) value (Mohamed *et al.*, 2008). The final P/B values of the different functional groups were modified up to between 10-15% of their initial magnitudes for the balancing of the model according to Christensen *et al.*, (2008).

3.5.12 Pedigree Index (P)

The Pedigree is a measure of the goodness of fit of the model and is calculated according to an equation incorporated in the Ecopath model (Christensen *et al.*, 2000). The pedigree index (P), used in this study as a measure of the reliability of the input data origin and of likely uncertainties associated with the input data (reliability of data) (Christensen *et al.*, 2000). The Pedigree Index was derived as (Christensen *et al.*, 2000):

$$P = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{I \, ij}{n}\right) \tag{34}$$

Where, Iij is the pedigree index value for group i and parameter j for each of the n living groups in the ecosystem; j can either represent B, P/B, Q/B, Y (yields or catches), or the diet.

The pedigree (P) scales range between 0 and 1 (inclusive). The P index values scale from 0 for data input that are not rooted in local data up to 1 for data that are fully-rooted in local data indicating a good fit of the model (Christensen *et al.*, 2000).

3.6 General Data treatment and Statistical Analyses

The water quality variable values (section 4.1.1) were assessed using the water quality index (WQI) as an indicator of the suitability of the lake water for both human consumption and multipurpose uses (WHO, 2008), while organic pollution index (OPI) (section 4.1.3) was used as an estimate of the organic pollution level in the lake (Leclercq and Maquet, 1987). The WQI was estimated using the weighted arithmetic method (Brown et al., 1972). The calculated WQI values were compared to various recommended international standard limits (WHO, 2008, 2011). Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA Two-Factor) was used to determine the influence of both sampling stations and years (long-term scale) as well as the sampling stations and months (short-time scale) on the water quality variables in the lake. The mean values of the physico-chemical variables that showed significant differences between the sampling stations (p < 0.05) were then compared using one-way ANOVA on log-transformed data combined for the study years. Because the year effects were significant (see Table S1; appendex I), the temporal variation of the selected physico-chemical variables (temperature, conductivity, hardness, Secchi disc, TDS, TSS, Chl-a, turbidity, alkalinity, fluoride, SiO₄⁴⁻, pH, total phosphorus, PO₄³⁻, NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺, total nitrogen and DO) for the years 2008-2020 were plotted and smoothed trend lines

were fitted to the data series using a Locally Weighted-Scatterplot Smoother (LOWESS; Cleveland, 1979) in the MINITAB statistical package. The LOWESS's assumption is based on a weighted least-squares algorithm that partitions local weights with the most influence, while also minimizing the effects of outliers. A smoothness parameter (f) of 0.2 was found to adequately smooth the data without distorting the temporal patterns. The co-variation among the physico-chemical parameters, including the WQI, was tested using Pearson's linear correlation. Pearson's linear correlation and simple linear analyses were carried out using the PAST 32.6b statistical package (section 4.1.2).

The effects of meteorological variables on the lake water levels were evaluated by plotting the annual values of each variable against the mean annual lake level. On each plot, the present value of the lake level with its corresponding value of the meteorological parameter was plotted, and the lake level's sensitivity was described as its changes (responses) compared to the current value (section 4.2.1).

Simple multiple linear regressions were performed between the lake level and each of the selected meteorological variables: air temperature, precipitation rate, relative humidity, and cloud cover to analyze the sensitivity of the lake to climate variability. All the regression analyses were performed in the Sigma Plot package. After modeling the dependence of lake level to the variables and testing the sensitivity of the lake level to the meteorological variables, the relationships between the evaporation rate (on of the major water balance components of the lake) in the lake and some climate parameters: air temperature (ta), precipitation (P), cloud cover fraction (cc) and relative humidity (rh) were tested by changing arbitrarily but independently their values by \pm 10% (Vallet-Coulomb, *et al.*, 2001) to explore their influence on the final lake water balance modeling results (Dühnforth *et al.*, 2006).

Principal components analysis (PCA) was used to group the years (2008-2020) based on the similarity of physico-chemical variables and water level fluctuations (see section 4.3.1). Linear regression (y = ax + c) and waveform sine regression (y = a*sin(2*p*x/b + c) analyses (Zar, 2010) were performed to determine the best-fitting model to explain the patterns of lake level fluctuations (WLFs) over the years. Where both models were not significant, a Locally-Weighted Scatter Plot Smoother (LOWESS, Cleveland, 1979) was used to describe the pattern of lake level fluctuations (see section 4.3.2).

Pearson's correlation was performed to determine the concordance between WLF indicators (DLTM and Amplitude, WLamp) and fisheries landings and with water quality parameters (conductivity, turbidity, chlorophyll-a, DO, temperature, TP, PO_4^{3-} , NO_3^- , TN, SiO_4^{4-} , NH_4^+ and WQI). Both Pearson's correlation and linear regression analyses were conducted on log (x + 1) transformed data to meet the required assumption of normality of the dataset (Zar, 2010). The depth variation of the lake during the periods from 1956 to 2021 was determined from a histogram of pixel depths while the lake water level – lake surface area relationship was determined using a linear regression model (see section 4.3.2).

Linear regression and non-linear Gaussian distribution (Zar, 2010) were used to model the influence of WLFs on the lake's fishery yields and fish conditions (a measure of growth performance). The Gaussian distribution (see section 4.3.3) followed a unimodal pattern and tested the hypothesis that the lake fisheries production and fish condition will correspond to optimum WLFs levels below and above which a decline is realized (Lukas, 1942, Keto et al., 2006). The fish relative condition factor (Kn) was estimated for each species over the period 2008-2020 from the ratio of observed weight to expected weight-for-length following Le Cren's equation (Le Cren, 1951). All the graphical plots and major analyses were implemented in the Sigma Plot software.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

4.1 Objective 1: Spatio-temporal variations in selected water quality parameters and lake trophic status

4.1.1 Physico-chemical water quality variables and Quality standards

The long-term (inter-annual) data analysis (2008-2020) showed significant influences of station and year of sampling on all the physico-chemical and nutrient variables in the lake except for turbidity that did not show significant differences among stations at inter-annual temporal scale (Table S1 in appendex II). In contrast, the influences of station and month of sampling on the physico-chemical parameters at intra-annual temporal scale (2020-2021) were not significant except for DO, Secchi disc, TN, and TDS that showed significant differences among stations (Table S2 in appendex II).

The interaction between years and stations (Two-way ANOVA results) in influencing pysico-chemical prameters was significant for all the measured variables except for four (turbidity, Secchi disc, chlorophyll-a, and TN) (Table S1, appendex II). Conversely, there was no significant interaction between months and stations for all the measured variables for the short-term scale (2020-2021) in the lake (Table S2, appendex II). The lake water quality variables and their international standard limits for both human consumption and aquatic life conditions are shown in Table 4.1 for long-term data (2008-2020).

Table 4.1: Statistical summary of annual means of some physico-chemical parameters of Lake Baringo for the period 2008-2020, Kenya. Bold figures are significantly different between stations or were above WHO/APHA thresholds. ANOVA results are significant at p < 0.05.

		S	ampling station	IS					
	S2	C1	C2	C3	N2	ANO	VA	Values of	criteria
Parameters	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	F	Р	WHO (2008)	**
DO (mg/L)	5.73±0.92	6.42±0.94	6.43±0.95	6.14±0.84	6.48±0.86	8.84	0.001	5	6 ^{1,2,3,4}
Temp. (°C)	24.94±1.42	26.67±2.99	26.43±1.63	25.61±1.53	26.33±1.47	21.23	0.001	< 30	·
EC (µS/cm)	509.87±128.99	513.57±132.98	526.01±138.50	518.34±143.18	524.40±137.51	0.13	0.97	1000	1500 ³
pН	8.356±0.48	8.41±0.50	8.45±0.52	8.42±0.50	8.43±0.48	0.36	0.836	6.5-8.5	6.5-9 1,2,3
TUR (NTU)	56.08±56.36	51.46±43.79	64.43±111.40	59.40±56.46	49.75±42.96	0.47	0.755	< 5	5 ¹
Secchi (cm)	60.74±41.75	65.84±42.66	66.72±43.71	62.90±42.75	69.52±45.49	1.12	0.348	2	-
HD (mg/L)	60.64±18.87	59.31±18.75	59.68±20.50	61.01±19.35	59.95±17.86	0.09	0.985	100-300	500 ¹
Alk.(mg/L)	175.21±41.25	179.97±46.04	179.29±44.59	176.19±44.59	178.89±45.83	0.19	0.944	500	$\geq 20^{4}$
TDS (mg/L)	235.49±91.36	224.10±103.26	229.88±102.64	226.05±104.48	230.07±102.95	0.11	0.981	< 500	500 ¹
F ⁻ (mg/L)	6.62±5.20	6.91±5.12	6.94±5.04	7.59±5.75	6.82±5.18	0.17	0.953	1.5	5 ¹
$PO_4^{3-}(\mu g/L)$	24.10±13.11	22.20±16.76	23.03±16.76	20.85±9.98	18.42±12.78	0.31	0.869	< 30	< 100 ^{1,4}
TP (μg/L)	122.75±87.51	121.41±75.13	129.34±84.68	125.47±84.98	134.28±87.15	0.08	0.987	70	50 ^{4,5,6}
NO ₂ ⁻ (µg/L)	5.14±2.09	9.71±9.57	7.01±3.77	3.90±2.12	4.51±3.33	2.86	0.031	300	< 100 ^{1,4}
$NO_3^{-}(ug/L)$	9 62±2 91	13 10±9 45	10 59±5 09	9.28±3.40	8.77±4.09	1.28	0.286	1000	< 1000 ^{1,4}
TN (μg/L)	291.28±179.14	375.34±243.33	360.90±166.56	422.78±213.66	379.68±207.38	0.37	0.827	5000	4000 ^{5,6}
SiO_4^{4} (mg/L)	18.70±2.53	21.21±5.30	21.57±4.49	18.35±3.31	21.56±4.44	2.34	0.064	5	
NH4 ⁺ (μg/L)	31.43±15.45	20.94±13.14	32.47±16.64	25.46±4.41	30.34±7.96	2.25	0.074	< 1500	< 1000 ^{1,4}
Chl a (µg/L)	4.33±2.54	8.10±13.52	5.72±4.17	5.94±7.60	4.13±2.03	1.15	0.341	2	12 2,3
TSS (mg/L)	14.94±5.05	12.94±5.58	12.07±4.63	10.92±4.39	12.18±4.45	1.23	0.307	-	< 30 1,2,3,4
Zeu (m)	1.97±1.27	2.07±1.32	2.08±1.34	1.87±1.30	2.17±1.40			-	(1)

** Standard limits for aquatic fauna: **1**. CCME (1999), **2**. APHA (2005), **3**. Rodier *et al.* (2009), **4**. ANZECC (2000), **5**. WHO (2011) and **6**. CSST (1997) (2008). HD: Hardness; Alk.: Alkalinity; TUR: Turdibity; EC. Electrical conductivity; DO: Dissolved oxygen; TDS: Total dissolved solid; TSS: Total suspended solid; TP: total phosphorus; TN: total nitrogen, Chl.a: chlorophyll-a, Zeu: euphotic zone.

However, the means (\pm SD) of three parameters (DO, Temperature and NO₂⁻) showed significant variations (p < 0.05) among five stations in the lake (Table 4.1). Dissolved oxygen (DO) was very high in the northern station N2 ($6.48 \pm 0.86 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) and its lower value was obtained in the southern station S2 (5.73 \pm 0.92 mg L⁻¹) while, temperature showed higher mean values in the central station C1 (26.67 \pm 2.99 °C) and lowest values were obtained in the southern station S2 (24.94 \pm 1.42 °C). NO_2^{-} was significantly different (p < 0.05) between the stations with higher values in the central lake station C1 (9.71 \pm 9.57 µg L⁻¹) and lowest in the near-shoreline station C3 (3.90 \pm 2.12 µg L⁻¹). Although all the other parameters did not show significant variation between stations (p > 0.05), some of them had values that were above the WHO recommended thresholds for human consumption and ecological integrity. For example, Fluoride (F⁻) levels in the lake waters varied from 6.62 \pm 5.20 mg L⁻¹ to $7.59 \pm 5.75 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$, and is well above the WHO permissible level of 1.5 mg L⁻¹. Similarly, turbidity levels of the lake water varied from 49.75 ± 42.96 NTU at northern station N2 to 64.43 ± 111.40 NTU at central station C2, and these were also above the WHO recommended maximum values of 5 NTU for human use (Table 4.1).

Total nitrogen (TN) contents in the lake shifted from 291.28 \pm 179.14 µg L⁻¹ at southern station S2 to 422.78 \pm 213.66 µg L⁻¹ at the central station C3. The productivity of the lake, as measured by Chlorophyll-a values, varied from 4.13 \pm 2.03 µg L⁻¹ at northern station N2 to 8.10 \pm 13.52 µg L⁻¹ at central station C1 and did not vary significantly (p = 0.341) between the stations indicating uniform productivity within the lake.

Three physico-chemical variables (fluoride, turbidity, and chlorophyll-a, Chl-a) fluctuated significantly at annual temporal scale, while others fluctuated slightly over the years (Figure 4.1). Hence, Secchi depth, a measure of lake's water transparency exhibited increasing trends from 2012 to 2016 with a subsequent decline to 2020. Chl-a, a measure of lake's productivity, was low and uniform during 2008-2018 with a subsequent rise in productivity during 2018-2020 (Figure 4.1). Fluoride levels have important health implications; the values peaked in 2009 and 2013 and have subsequently declined to low values from 2016 to 2020. The levels of dissolved oxygen in the lake have fluctuated over the years with a peak value in 2010 (~ 8.6 mg L^{-1}) that subsequently declined to a low of ~5.4 mg L^{-1} in 2020. Conductivity (a measure of water quality degradation) peaked at 769. 5 µs cm⁻¹ in 2012 and then declined to a low of 409.4 µs cm⁻¹ in 2018 while, total suspended solids (TSS) showed a pattern of increasing values from 2016 (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1: Temporal variation of physico-chemical water quality variables in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period 2008-2020. Circles are means of all samples collected monthly from stations while the smoothing trendline is estimated by LOWESS smoother.

Nutrient concentrations (TN, TP, PO4³⁻, SiO4⁴⁻, NO2⁻, NO3⁻ and NH4⁺) showed trends that varied between parameters from 2008 to 2020 (Figure 4.2). Nitrites (NO2⁻) increased in the lake by 94.7% from 2008 (68.2 μ g L⁻¹) to 2014 (603.0 μ g L⁻¹) and then decreased continuously up to ~ 24.3 μ g L⁻¹ in 2020. Nitrates (NO3⁻) mean levels have fluctuated from 5.3 μ g L⁻¹ in 2008 to 14.7 μ g L⁻¹ in 2013 while, NH4⁺ levels ranged between 23.62 μ g L⁻¹ in 2008 to a peak of 42.0 μ g L⁻¹ in 2016. Phosphates (PO4³⁻) that reflect leaching from the riparian zone peaked in 2011 (34 μ g L⁻¹) and have remained fairly stable in the lake at about 5.6 μ g L⁻¹ between 2013 and 2020. This contrasts with Silicates (SiO_4^{4-}) that have shown a general decline in the lake from high values in 2008 compared to other nutrient components. Total phosphorous (TP) has shown a steady decline from peak values in 2011 (180.9 µg L⁻¹) wish is similar to the trends of Total Nitrogen (TN) in the lake.



Figure 4.2: Time-series of nutrient concentrations in Lake Baringo, Kenya. Circles are means of all samples collected monthly in the sampling stations from 2008 to 2020. The solid line within the time-series plot is the trendline of monthly means calculated using LOWESS smoother.

The short-term (intra-annual) data analysis (2020-2021) indicated that the mean (\pm SD) of six parameters (DO, pH, Secchi disc, TDS, NO₂⁻, and SiO₄⁴⁻) were significantly different (p < 0.05) between the nine stations in the Lake (Table 4.2). Five variables (DO, Chl-a, TP, NO₂⁻, and SiO₄⁴⁻) including the water quality index (WQI) were above the threshold values recommended for both human consumption and aquatic life. Other parameters (temperature, conductivity, pH, alkalinity, hardness, alkalinity, TN, PO₄³⁻, NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and organic pollution index, OPI) did not show significant differences (p > 0.05) between stations and were within the standard limits recommended for human consumption and maintenance of ecological processes (Table 4.2).

Dissolved oxygen (DO) was marginally high in the central station C1 (7.08 \pm 1.56 mg L⁻¹) and lowest in the southern station S2 (4.87 \pm 1.39 mg L⁻¹) while, pH showed higher mean values in the northern station N3 (7.89 \pm 0.62) and lowest values were found in the southern station S2 (7.43 \pm 0.39 °C). Secchi disc measurements were significantly different between the stations with the highest mean values in the northern station N2 (66.56 \pm 18.30 cm) and lowest in the near-shoreline station S3 (50.37 \pm 15.47 cm). TDS mean levels also showed significant differences between the stations with peak values in the central station C1 (289.09 \pm 18.98 mg L⁻¹) and lowest in the southern near-shoreline station S2 (235.36 \pm 71.17 mg L⁻¹).

 NO_2^{-} was significantly different between the stations with higher values in the central lake station C1 (7.36 ± 10.97 µg L⁻¹) and lowest in the southern near-shoreline station S2 (1.51 ± 1.25 µg L⁻¹). Silicate ions (SiO₄⁴⁻) levels were significantly different between the stations with higher values in the central lake station C2 (20.22 ± 8.06)

mg L⁻¹) and lowest in the southern near-shoreline station C1 (9.84 \pm 6.92 mg L⁻¹). Both NO₂⁻ and SiO₄⁴⁻ ion contents were above the WHO recommended levels (3000 μ g L⁻¹ and 5 mg L⁻¹) for aquatic conditions.

Table 4.2: Statistical summary of some physico-chemical parameters of Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period January 2020 – June 2021, Kenya. Bold figures are significantly different between stations or were above value criteria (WHO/APHA thresholds and/or others, Table 4.1).

				1	Sampling sites	8				-	
	S1	S2	S3	C1	C2	C3	NI	N2	N3	ANO	VA
Parameters	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	F	Р
DO (mg/L)	5.74±0.74	4.87±1.39	6.29±1.56	7.08±2.33	6.64±1.63	6.58 ± 1.61	6.45±1.27	6.68±1.79	6.55±1.27	3.09	0.003
Temp. (°C)	26.65±0.79	27.18±1.11	26.82±0.80	27,04±1.44	27.15±1.26	27.06±1.02	27.73±1.38	27.10±1.15	25.70±4.10	1.80	0.081
EC (µs/cm)	459.75±70.34	417.09±103.03	454.68±72.31	469.70±68.53	464.44±70.70	463.28±66.75	475.44±64.92	469.54±67.02	413.84±111.65	1.50	0.163
pH	7.57±0.55	7.43±0.39	7.55±0.61	7.60±0.71	7.82±0.77	7.74±0.61	7.69±0.64	7.72±0.62	7.89±0.62	2.03	0.046
SD (cm)	53.28±14.63	50.96±22.71	50.37±15.47	63.03±20.03	64.05±18.61	57.75±16.85	65.11±18.41	66.56±18.30	62.17±19.16	2.17	0.033
HD (mg/L)	71.25±23.82	78.24±53.94	89.41±68.66	59.62±39.72	75.56±40.86	71.73±37.19	44.58±41.16	48.47±40.43	66.43±32.16	1.82	0.078
Alk (mg/L)	139.28±50.90	120.23±51.86	118.80 ± 33.48	119.38±30.97	110.65±41.99	129.73±43.56	117.64±60.40	93.51±25.78	101.02 ± 54.60	1.38	0.214
TDS (mg/L)	268.48±24.62	235.36±71.17	277.72±23.72	289.09±18.98	288.09±20.13	284.48±20.04	288.23±19.36	282.63±20.56	258.94±74.03	3.80	0.000
PO43- (µg/L)	12.29±15.11	8.13±9.82	11.56±14.42	15.31±26.77	5.72±12.46	10.79±14.45	15.70±22.87	299.25±53.14	13.50±34.30	1.18	0.313
TP (µg/L)	72.43±49.49	51.13±49.69	66.17 ± 68.71	35.10±41.39	32.21±46.77	47.91±64.55	38.86±41.02	23.43±31.41	54.91±80.52	1.57	0.139
NO2 (µg/L)	6.67±9.15	1.51±1.25	5.32±6.11	7.36±10.97	2.33±1.63	3.98±5.57	4.89±3.90	6.93±8.83	1.96±1.48	2.18	0.032
NO3 (µg/L)	9.59±10.08	5.64±10.40	8.73±8.05	5.66±7.46	6.15±3.04	6.63±6.43	7.23±5.38	5.91±3.92	25.69±63.63	1.48	0.168
TN (µg/L)	24.16±17.66	33.68±26.63	31.22±28.50	52.39±51.06	24.57±14.27	30.85±26.59	37.41±30.08	48.83±60.36	21.26±11.84	1.86	0.066
SiO44- (mg/L)	16.15±6.57	15.59±10.78	17.09±8.19	9.84±6.92	20.22±8.06	13.96±7.82	11.36±7.74	15.24±13.67	12.50±8.88	2.22	0.029
Chl-a (µg/L)	57.82±72.06	24.55±26.76	43.84±60.74	51.64±69.34	23.36±24.19	59.62±66.29	63.05±64.09	52.63±67.00	22.78±30.21	1.53	0.151
NH4 ⁺ (mg/L)	24.82±43.71	19.17±22.16	21.82±24.95	31.50±53.78	16.56±10.90	12.19±5.91	37.84±58.52	45.26±53.13	27.90±36.96	1.32	0.239
WQI	401.45±95.54	405.64±118.90	427.37±110.89	450.61±152.66	342.93±125.93	440.83±45.52	441.13±43.76	445.92±98.88	442.27±101.17	1.95	0.057
OPI	4.65±0.27	4.65±0.29	4.57±0.23	4.56±0.23	4.52±0.31	4.52±0.31	4.63±0.30	4.54±0.26	4.58±0.28	0.64	0.739

4.1.2 Relationship between limnological parameters in the lake

Linear models showed a moderate negative relationship between chlorophyll-a as a measure of productivity and total suspended solids ($R^2 = 0.59$) (Figure 4.3a) while, a strong positive linear relation was found between turbidity and rainfall in the lake catchment ($R^2 = 0.71$) (Figure 4.3b).

Pearson's correlation matrix was generated using 21 variables in order to determine the functional relationships between the limnological variables (Table 4.3). WQI showed a positive significant correlation only with turbidity (p < 0.001, r = 0.999) (Table 4.3). There was a positive significant correlation between alkalinity and temperature (p = 0.004, r = 0.978). Positive significant relationships were also obtained between DO and Secchi depth (p = 0.026, r = 0.922) and between DO and alkalinity (p = 0.024, r = 0.926). A strong significant correlation was observed between S_iO₄^{4 –} and alkalinity (p = 0.02, r = 0.933) and between chlorophyll-a, and NO₃⁻ (p = 0.039, r = 0.898). Negative relationships were obtained between S_iO₄⁴⁻ and total hardness (p = 0.033, r = -0.908) and between total suspended solid (TSS) and total nitrogen (TN) (p = 0.013, r = -0.950).



Figure 4.3: Relationship between a) Chlorophyll-a and total suspended solids, b) turbidity of lake water and rainfall in the catchment of Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period 2008-2020.

Table 4.3: Pearson's linear correlation matrix of physico-chemical parameters derived within Lake Baringo, Kenya, from March2008 to June 2021.

	DO	Temp	EC	pH	TUR	Secchi	HD	Alk.	Depth	TDS	F ⁻	PO43-	TP	NO ₂	NO ₃	TN	S,O44-	NH4 ⁺	Chl.a	TSS	WQI
DO	1.00																				
Temp	0.92*	1.00																			
EC	0.73	0.44	1.00																		
pH	0.82	0.74	0.77	1.00																	
TUR	-0.15	-0.23	0.29	0.44	1.00																
Secchi	0.92*	0.77	0.77	0.63	-0.31	1.00															
HD	-0.72	-0.88	-0.26	-0.57	0.25	-0.66	1.00														
Alk.	0.93*	0.98**	0.51	0.76	-0.20	0.83	-0.93*	1.00													
Depth	0.62	0.45	0.69	0.40	-0.21	0.84	-0.58	0.61	1.00												
TDS	-0.62	-0.71	-0.15	-0.53	0.13	-0.32	0.34	-0.56	0.22	1.00											
\mathbf{F}^{-}	0.13	0.01	0.21	0.30	0.35	-0.12	0.45	-0.14	-0.53	-0.62	1.00										
PO43-	-0.57	-0.32	-0.54	-0.16	0.51	-0.69	0.01	-0.30	-0.41	0.35	-0.30	1.00									
TP	0.53	0.18	0.87	0.37	-0.04	0.75	-0.09	0.30	0.80	0.16	-0.04	-0.71	1.00								
NO2	0.40	0.71	-0.18	0.39	-0.11	0.19	-0.84	0.67	0.07	-0.45	-0.30	0.38	-0.45	1.00							
NO3	0.30	0.65	-0,31	0.31	-0.10	0.04	-0.71	0.58	-0.15	-0.55	-0.14	0.40	-0.61	0.97**	1.00						
TN	0.60	0.45	0.48	0.53	0.01	0.40	0.03	0.33	-0.11	-0.82	0.85	-0.66	0.27	-0.10	-0.01	1.00					
S,O4+-	0.85	0.84	0.60	0.67	-0.21	0.89*	-0.91*	0.93*	0.84	-0.23	-0.40	-0.30	0.50	0.55	0.37	0.09	1.00				
NH4*	-0.22	-0.46	0.40	-0.03	0.41	0.05	0.21	-0.27	0.50	0.84	-0.40	0.12	0.56	-0.50	-0.66	-0.50	0.05	1.00			
Chl.a	0.36	0.64	-0.21	0.41	-0.00	0.02	-0.49	0.51	-0.37	-0.83	0.31	0.21	-0.58	0.80	0.90*	0.38	0.19	-0.84	1.00		
TSS	-0.61	-0.40	-0.68	-0.66	-0.25	-0.44	-0.06	-0.31	-0.03	0.67	-0.83	0.60	-0.44	0.20	0.15	-0.95*	-0.14	0.23	-0.23	1.00	
WQI	-0.11	-0.20	0.32	0.47	0.99***	-0.28	0.24	-0.18	-0.20	0.09	0.38	0.48	-0.03	-0.11	-0.10	0.06	-0.19	0.38	0.02	-0.30	1.00
				P<0	0.001***			P<0.01**	k	P<0.05*	1										

111

4.1.3 Water quality (WQI) and Organic Pollution (OPI) Indices

Water quality index (WQI) values of Lake Baringo water samples varied between 540.85 at Station N2 on the north to its lowest value of 631.89 obtained at central Station C3. There was no significant difference in the WQI between the sampling sites (F = 0.6816; p = 0.6077). The mean monthly WQI exhibited similar patterns of variation to those of the mean monthly turbidity level in the lake for the period from January 2008 to May 2019 (Figure 4.4), highlighting the influence of turbidity levels on the lake's WQI. Both highest and lowest WQI values peak above the threshold of 100 recommended by WHO and APHA for both human and aquatic conditions. The highest WQI values were observed during the rainy season (May 2011), while the lowest WQI values were observed during the dry month of September 2016 at ~120, indicating a relatively good water quality during the dry months (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: Changes in the monthly water quality index (WQI) in relation to turbidity in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period 2008-2020. Blue line indicates upper limit of WQI as per WHO standards.

The relative (RW) and effective (EW) weight values of each water quality variable are summarized in Table 4.4. The turbidity exhibited the highest mean effective weight of 84.82%, followed by fluoride (8.82%), indicating that the two parameters influence mainly Lake Baringo's water quality evaluated using the WQI. The other variables (mostly nutrients) exhibited a low effective influence on the lake's WQI. Nevertheless, the reactive soluble silica (SiO₄⁴⁻) and pH had a moderately affect the quality of the water in the lake with effective weight of 3.09% and 1.50% respectively.

Table 4.4: The effective weight contribution of physico-chemical parameters to Water Quality Index (WQI) in Lake Baringo, Kenya, in relation to the WHO standards during the period 2008-2020.

	WHO	Assigned			Effectiv	e weight				
Parameters	(2005, 2008)	weight (wi)	Relative weight (RW)	(%)						
				Min	Max	Mean	SD			
DO (mg/L)	5.00	4.00	4.65	0.86	1.08	0.95	0.11			
EC (µS/cm)	1000.00	1.00	2.33	0.18	0.22	0.20	0.02			
pН	8.50	4.00	9.30	1.33	1.66	1.50	0.13			
TUR (NTU)	5.00	4.00	9.30	83.24	86.42	84.82	1.33			
HD (mg/L)	500.00	2.00	4.65	0.08	0.10	0.09	0.01			
Alk. (mg/L)	500.00	1.00	2.33	0.12	0.15	0.14	0.01			
TDS (mg/L)	500.00	2.00	4.65	0.31	0.38	0.35	0.03			
F - (mg/L)	1.50	5.00	11.63	7.76	9.51	8.82	0.73			
PO4 ³⁻ (mg/L)	0.03	5.00	11.63	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			
NO_2^- (mg/L)	0.30	5.00	11.63	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00			
NO_3^- (mg/L)	1.00	5.00	11.63	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			
SiO ₄ ^{4–} (mg/L)	5.00	2.00	4.65	2.63	3.61	3.09	0.42			
\mathbf{NH}_{4}^{+}			11.63							
(mg/L)	1.50	5.00		0.03	0.04	0.04	0.01			

The Organic pollution index (OPI) values varied between 4.5 at Station C2 to 4.9 at Station C3, with a significant difference noted among the sampling sites (F = 3.59, p = .013; Table 4.5). These results showed that the OPI of Lake Baringo's water is

within the threshold limits of water exhibiting null organic pollution (5.0–4.6; Table 3.4), except for one central station C2 characterized by weak organic pollution manifesting in a greenish water color.

Table 4.5: Organic pollution index (OPI) values and organic pollution types of sampling sites in Lake Baringo during the period 2008-2020. Different letters indicate significant differences between stations.

			Colors of
Sample ID	OPI (mean ±SD)	Organic pollution	index
S2	4.6 ± 0.19^{ab}	Null	Blue
C1	$4.6\pm0.29^{\text{ab}}$	Null	Blue
C2	$4.5\pm0.34^{\text{b}}$	Weak	Green
C3	4.7 ± 0.29^{ab}	Null	Blue
N2	$4.9\pm0.14^{\textbf{a}}$	Null	Blue
ANOVA <i>F</i> = 3.59, <i>p</i> = 0.013			

4.1.4 Trophic status of the lake

The results of TN:TP and DIN:SRP ratios and of Trophic Status Index (TSI) analyses are shown in Tables 4.6 and 4.7 for inter- and intra-annual patterns, respectively. The mean (\pm SD) stoichiometric ratio TN:TP varied from the highest value of 6.91 \pm 2.66 in 2013 to the lowest value of 0.38 \pm 0.21 in 2020, while the mean (\pm SD) seston mass ratio DIN:SRP fluctuated overtime between 4.42 \pm 1.37 in 2018 and 1.45 \pm 0.84 in 2020. These TN:TP and DIN: SRP ratios indicate that the lake is eutrophic and that the nitrogen component (NO₂⁻) is the likely limiting nutrient for primary production in Lake Baringo. The mean (\pm SD) Trophic State Index (TSI) calculated based on total phosphorus (TP) contents in the lake waters varied from a high value of 84.24 \pm 0.52 in 2009 to its lowest value of 21.92 \pm 4.90 in 2014. The TSI determined based on Secchi disk (SD) depth also varied from a high level of 88.00 \pm 2.99 in 2012 to the lowest level of 55.63 \pm 0.59 in 2019. While, the TSI based on the lake productivity (Chl-a values) varied from a high value of 83.50 \pm 0.78 in 2009 to its lowest value of 42.69 \pm 3.33 in 2014 (Table 4.6). The Carlson's Trophic State Index (CTSI) that integrates all the three values varied from the highest value of 82.68 \pm 2.10 in 2011 indicating a Hypereutrophic state of the lake to its lowest value of 42.61 \pm 2.49 indicating a Mesotrophic state of the lake in 2015 (Table 4.6). All the CSTI values indicated that Lake Baringo's trophic status has been fluctuating from Hypereutrophic to Mesotrophic state and from water of bad quality to water of moderate quality for domestic supply. The current (2020) trophic state of Lake Baringo is derived as being Eutrophic (Table 4.6). The results show that CTSI is mostly affected by the suspended solid (SD) values in Lake Baringo.

 Table 4.6: Temporal variation of TN:TP and DIN:SRP ratios as indicators of phytoplankton nutrient limitation in the lake, and

 Trophic Status Indices in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period 2008-2020.

Years					Trophic	State Index (TS	SI) values	
	n	TN:TP	DIN:SRP	TSI (TP)	TSI (SD)	TSI (Chla)	CTSI	Lake status
2008	11	0.62 ± 0.27	2.04 ± 0.69	31.51 ± 9.36	78.50 ± 2.30	49.22 ± 6.37	53.07 ± 5.31	mesotrophic
2009	12	0.77 ± 0.78	2.75 ± 1.21	$84.24\pm\ 0.52$	76.47 ± 1.60	83.50 ± 0.78	$81.30\pm\ 0.79$	hypereutrophic
2010	11	1.84 ± 0.30	1.65 ± 1.42	$83.02\pm~4.60$	76.09 ± 1.10	81.2 ± 1.18	$80.14\pm\ 0.78$	hypereutrophic
2011	11	$1.84 \pm \ 0.29$	2.08 ± 1.74	83.13 ± 0.58	83.57 ± 5.02	81.37 ± 0.84	82.68 ± 2.10	hypereutrophic
2012	12	5.27 ± 2.15	3.82 ± 2.29	76.17 ± 2.93	88.00 ± 2.99	71.13 ± 3.52	78.43 ± 2.01	eutrophic
2013	12	6.91 ± 2.66	3.68 ± 0.78	74.64 ± 1.07	79.34 ± 1.28	68.88 ± 1.56	74.29 ± 0.73	eutrophic
2014	12	6.19 ± 1.19	3.78 ± 0.57	21.92 ± 4.90	71.16 ± 2.05	42.69 ± 3.33	45.27 ± 3.10	mesotrophic
2015	11	3.3 ± 3.90	3.73 ± 1.13	25.98 ± 5.54	56.40 ± 1.91	45.45 ± 3.77	42.61 ± 3.62	mesotrophic
2016	11	3.37 ± 3.74	3.76 ± 0.88	28.38 ± 6.71	61.34 ± 1.93	47.08 ± 4.56	45.60 ± 3.69	mesotrophic
2017	6	3.34 ± 3.82	4.09 ± 1.13	26.80 ± 6.11	62.86 ± 3.10	46.01 ± 4.16	45.22 ± 3.98	mesotrophic
2018	11	3.36 ± 3.78	4.42 ± 1.37	25.22 ± 5.51	64.37 ± 4.27	44.94 ± 3.75	44.84 ± 4.08	mesotrophic
2019	6	1.87 ± 2.01	2.94 ± 1.12	27.42 ± 4.18	55.63 ± 0.59	46.13 ± 2.85	43.17 ± 2.49	mesotrophic
2020	12	0.38 ± 0.21	1.45 ± 0.84	55.10 ± 10.49	70.90 ± 1.16	65.26 ± 7.44	63.76 ± 6.14	eutrophic

n: number of monthly samples, TN: total nitrogen, TP = total phosphorous, DIN : dissolved inorganic nitrogen, SRP : soluble reactive phosphorus, TSI (TP): Trophic Status Index based on total phosphorus, TSI (SD): Trophic Status Index based on secchi disk, TSI (Chl-a): Trophic Status Index based on chlorophyll-a and CTSI stands for Carlson's Trophic Status Index.

At an intra-annual scale, based on 2020-2021 data, the stoichiometric ratio TN: TP varied from the highest mean (\pm SD) value of 11.35 \pm 4.91 in April 2021 to the lowest value of 0.03 \pm 0.001 in December 2020 while, the seston mass DIN:SRP fluctuated overtime between 236.70 \pm 10.94 in May 2021 and 0.55 \pm 0.06 in May 2020 (Table 4.7). These TN:TP and DIN: SRP ratios indicate that the lake is fluctuating monthly from being Eutrophic to Oligotrophic (also shown by long-term data) and that the nitrogen component (NO₂⁻) is still the limiting nutrient for primary production into the lake. The monthly mean (\pm SD) TSI calculated based on total phosphorus (TP) contents in the lake waters varied from a high value of 66.64 \pm 2.65 in February 2020 to its lowest level of 61.94 \pm 0.23 in January 2021. The TSI based on the lake productivity (Chl-a values) varied from a high value of 73.11 \pm 10.20 in February 2020 to its lowest value of 25.49 \pm 6.23 in January 2021 (Table 4.7).

The Carlson's Trophic State Index (CTSI) varied from the highest value of 70.34 ± 2.61 in February 2020 indicating a Eutrophic state of the lake to its lowest value of 33.08 ± 0.27 indicating an Oligotrophic state of the lake in June 2021. All the CSTI values indicated that Lake Baringo's trophic status has been fluctuating monthly from Eutrophic to Oligotrophic state, and from water of bad quality to water of moderate quality for domestic supply. The most current (from January 2021) trophic state of Lake Baringo is derived as being Mesotrophic. The results show that the monthly CTSI is also mostly affected by the suspended solid (SD) values as also shown by the annual CTSI values in Lake Baringo (Table 4.7).

Table 4.7: Monthly variation of TN:TP and DIN:SRP ratios as nutrient limitation indicators and Trophic Status Indices of LakeBaringo from January 2020 to June 2021.

Months	TN:TP	DIN:SRP	TSI (TP)	TSI (SD)	TSI (Chla)	CTSI	Lake status
Jan. 20	0.48 ± 0.02	3.02 ± 0.16	49.62 ± 3.65	71.13±1.09	61.54 ± 8.46	60.76 ± 3.42	eutrophic
Feb. 20	0.48 ± 0.05	2.07 ± 0.91	66.64 ± 2.65	71.25 ± 0.98	$73.11{\pm}10.20$	$70.34{\pm}2.61$	eutrophic
Mar. 20	0.60 ± 0.03	1.37 ± 0.16	55.27±7.15	71.25 ± 0.87	65.38±7.21	$63.97 {\pm} 3.98$	eutrophic
Apr. 20	0.53 ± 0.09	1.36 ± 0.18	61.93±6.49	72.69 ± 1.02	69.91±8.45	68.17 ± 3.12	eutrophic
May 20	0.26 ± 0.01	0.55 ± 0.06	63.77±9.31	72.99±1.12	$71.16{\pm}10.68$	69.30 ± 2.76	eutrophic
June 20	0.52 ± 0.07	0.76 ± 0.05	31.16 ± 7.48	72.84 ± 0.89	$48.97 {\pm} 6.45$	50.99 ± 2.98	mesotrophic
July 20	0.61 ± 0.05	1.46 ± 0.12	54.02 ± 3.54	71.24 ± 0.53	64.53±9.65	63.26 ± 4.85	eutrophic
Aug. 20	0.17 ± 0.02	1.02 ± 0.41	58.83 ± 9.53	70.48 ± 0.43	$67.80{\pm}12.03$	65.71±1.69	eutrophic
Sept. 20	0.35 ± 0.01	3.02 ± 1.03	51.49 ± 11.43	70.61 ± 1.01	62.80 ± 7.89	61.63 ± 2.93	eutrophic
Oct. 20	0.53 ± 0.11	1.03 ± 0.62	41.44 ± 2.56	68.46 ± 0.88	55.97 ± 5.43	$55.29{\pm}1.26$	mesotrophic
Nov. 20	0.04 ± 0.002	0.64 ± 0.08	64.25 ± 4.91	68.98 ± 0.13	71.49 ± 7.31	68.24 ± 4.19	eutrophic
Dec. 20	0.03 ± 0.001	1.10 ± 0.17	62.75 ± 8.56	68.80 ± 0.06	70.46 ± 10.82	67.34 ± 3.56	eutrophic
Jan. 21	0.44 ± 0.01	167.36 ± 15.64	54.99 ± 10.3	61.94 ± 0.23	44.84 ± 8.42	53.92 ± 2.89	eutrophic
Feb. 21	1.61 ± 0.09	$277.10{\pm}12.93$	31.61 ± 11.4	62.89 ± 0.65	$61.94{\pm}10.34$	52.15 ± 1.09	eutrophic
Mar. 21	5.21 ± 1.08	280.07 ± 21.17	27.95 ± 12.14	64.66 ± 1.01	34.56 ± 4.81	$42.39{\pm}0.93$	mesotrophic
Apr. 21	11.35 ± 4.91	175.73 ± 11.78	21.22±9.65	66.60 ± 0.21	47.12 ± 6.86	$44.98{\pm}1.07$	mesotrophic
May 21	6.05 ± 2.07	$236.70{\pm}10.94$	15.65 ± 13.3	63.60 ± 0.12	$40,74{\pm}8.21$	$39.99{\pm}0.85$	oligotrophic
June 21	7.98 ± 3.15	205.68±11.25	9.52 ± 44.63	64.24±1.23	25.49 ± 6.23	33.08±0.27	oligotrophic

4.2. Objective 2: Water balance modeling and its sensitivity to hydrometeorological variables

4.2.1 Water level and rainfall trends

The annual rainfall in Lake Baringo basin ranged from 225 mm yr⁻¹ in 2009 to 2382 mm yr⁻¹ in 2019 (Table 4.8) with the annual mean (\pm SD) rainfall estimated at 959 \pm 361 mm yr⁻¹ for the period from 1960 to 2020, while the annual lake level varied from 0.9 m in 2001 to 6.18 m in 2020 giving an annual mean of 4.25 \pm 1.25 m for the long-term period 1960-2020 (Figure 4.5).

At short temperal scale (January 2020-June 2021), the monthly lake level (Figure 4.5b) varied from 11.04 m in January 2020 to a peak of 14.52 m in November 2020 with a monthly mean (\pm SD) estimated at 13.19 \pm 1.29 m for the period from January 2020 to June 2021. The monthly lake level increased dramatically during rainy season between April 2020 (11.31 m) and November 2020 (14.52 m). It started decreasing progressively from 14.28 m in December 2020 to 13.90 m in June 2021 (Figure 4.5b) indicating the importance of the rainfall at short-term scale in the lake level changes. This is highlighted in the relationship between the precipitation in the lake basin and the lake level at long-term scale (1960-2020) (Figure 4.5a).

 Table 4.8: (a) Monthly mean (± SD) and (b) total annual evaporation and rainfall values over Lake Baringo's catchment as

 estimated by Thornthwaite method for the period from 2008 to 2021. Monthly means are compared over the years.

hereitettet		Month													
(a) Meteo. variables	Jan.	. Feb.		Mar.	. 1	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	Total
Evaporation (mm)	147±6.3	166	±8.4	153±8	3.3 1	151±8.8	139±8.4	138±6.0	132±6.3	136±7.6	143±7.6	142±6.2	145±8.9	142±8.1	1734
Precipitation (mm)	16 ± 63.8	18 =	±19.1	53±53	3.0 1	116±155.4	109±137.3	80 ± 90.0	77±94.8	132±149.0	99±112.3	103±117.1	83±75.2	62±79.9	943
									Years						
(b) Meteo. variables	2008	2009	2010	2011	20	12 201	3 20	14 2	015	2016 2	017 3	2018	2019	2020	2021
Evaporation (mm)	1741	1781	1714	1678	160	67 169	7 16	96 1	720	1699 1	715	732	1880	1805	1550
Precipitation (mm)	629	225	1033	1177	792	2 852	57	8 8	88	833 7	00 9	962	2382	3707	2166



Figure 4.5: (a) Variations of annual Lake Baringo water level (black continuous line) and precipitation (grey line) for the period 1960-2020 with average long-term lake level (dashed line) and (b) monthly lake levels for the period January 2020-June 2021.

The depth-lake storage capacity curve for the lake was found to be linear ($r^2 = 0.965$, p = 0.0001) and highlighted the dependence of the changes in the lake level (volume) on the precipitation on the lake surface (Figure 4.6). In current conditions, the findings indicate that the lake can store upto 3167 Km³ of rainwater (surface runoff and directly falling into the lake) at the maximum storage depth of 14.4 m (depth as at November 2020) (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6: The depth – capacity curve for Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period January 1970 - June 2021.

An established comparison between lake levels observed *in-situ* and remote sensed lake levels for some neighboring Rift Valley Lakes such as Lakes Turkana and Naivasha showed very similar temporal dynamics as for Lake Baringo (Figure 4.7). These trends indicate that the meteorological variables in the region are the main drivers of the lake level fluctuations in the Rift Valley Lakes.



Figure 4.7: Comparison of water level variations (relative average levels) of selected neighboring rift valley lakes with the levels observed from in-situ gauged data for Lake Baringo, Kenya (period 1960-2020). Data from Lakes Turkana and Naivasha are satellite derived.

4.2.2 Evaporation and rainfall in Lake Baringo basin

The amount of water lost from the lake surface in the form of evaporation (E) at intraannual scale varied from 132 ± 6.3 mm month⁻¹ in July to 166 ± 8.4 mm month⁻¹ in February for the period 2008-2021 (Table 4.8a). At annual scale, evaporation varied 1550 mm yr⁻¹ in 2021 to 1880 mm yr⁻¹ in 2019 for the period 2008-2021 (Table 4.8b).

At mothly scale, the lake evaporation was higher from January to April (147 \pm 6.8 mm month⁻¹ to 166 \pm 8.4 mm month⁻¹) with a peak measured in February (166 \pm 8.4 mm month⁻¹) while, at inter-annual scale, the highest total annual evaporation value was obtained in 2019 (1880 mm yr⁻¹) and followed by years 2020 (1805 mm yr⁻¹), 2009 (1781 mm yr⁻¹) and 2008 (1741 mm yr⁻¹) (Table 4.8).

The monthly mean (\pm SD) rainfall in Lake Baringo basin varied from 16 \pm 63.8 mm month⁻¹ in January to 132 \pm 149.0 mm month⁻¹ in August for the period from 2008 to 2020 (Table 4.8). At annual scale, the total annual precipitation varied from 225 mm yr⁻¹ in 2009 to 3707 mm yr⁻¹ in 2020 indicating that 2009 was the dry year while, 2020 was the wet year for the period 2008 to 2021 (Table 4.8b).

4.2.3 Inflow and loss Components

Table 4.9 summarizes the mean (\pm SD) annual values of all water inflow and loss components of the lake water balance model for two periods 1970-1995, and 2008-2021. The results show that the inflows into the lake for the period 1970-1995 consisted of 927 \pm 223 mm yr⁻¹ of direct rainfall and 2,675 \pm 202 mm yr⁻¹ from the surface runoff, together giving a total inflow of 3,602 mm yr⁻¹ of storage water in the lake. This storage was lost through evaporation on an average of $2,138 \pm 238$ mm yr⁻¹, abstractions of water from inflows for agricultural purposes $(1,050 \pm 123 \text{ mm yr}^{-1})$, and underground seepage losses (246 \pm 48 mm yr⁻¹), thus totaling to outflow component of 3602 mm yr⁻¹ with left storage of 168 mm yr⁻¹. However, the mean (\pm SD) annual values of the principal water balance components for the period 2008-2021 indicated that the mean rainfall over the lake was 1209 ± 143 mm yr⁻¹, mean evaporation was $1719 \pm 58 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$, discharge in terms of underground seepage and abstracted water for agricultural purposes were 328 ± 24 mm yr⁻¹ and 128 ± 19 mm yr⁻¹, respectively, while surface runoff was 2904 \pm 159 mm yr⁻¹. At the end of monitoring in June 2021, the storage of water in the lake was estimated to be 1938 mm yr^{-1} arrived by runoff (Table 4.9).

The rainwater directly falling to the lake contributed 25% of the total inflow while, the runoff was estimated at 75% to the total inflow for the period 1970-1995 but the storage was less and estimated at about 5% (Table 4.9). Furthermore, the findings show that losses due to evaporation are estimated at 5% of the total losses while, seepage and irrigation losses are evaluated at 7% and 29% of the losses, respectively. During the period 2008-June 2021, 71% of the inflow was received from surface runoff, and only 29% was added by the direct rainfall water (Table 4.9) although the
absolute storage volume contributed by the precipitation was about ten times more (1,938 mm yr⁻¹) than that of 168 mm yr⁻¹ during the period 1970-1995. However, evaporation losses and supplemental irrigation accounted for 42 and 8% of the total outflow from the lake storage, respectively, and only 3% was lost through underground seepage with a storage estimation of 47% (Table 4.9). The residence time of the water in the lake has two-fold decreased from 3.1 years during the period 1970-1995 to 1.8 years for the period 2020-2021 indicating an increase in water movement in the lake from a slow movement to a rapid increase in lake water renewal time, with the increase of inflow rates in the lake over time (Table 4.9).

Table 4.9: Inflow and outflow components for the water balance model of Lake Baringo for two periods 1970-1995 and 2008-2021. Water balance components of the lake are in mm, except the residence time which is in years.

Water balance components	Quantity								
Million State State State State State	Period 1970-1995	Proportion (%)	Period 2008-2021	Proportion (%)					
Rainfall (mm)	927±223	25.0	1209±143	29.4					
Surface runoff (mm)	2,675±202	75.0	2,904±159	70.6					
Total inflow	3,602±345	100	4,113±148	100					
Evaporation losses (mm)	2,138±238	59.3	1,719±58	41.8					
Abstractions (mm)	1,050±123	29.2	328±24	8.0					
Seepage losses (mm)	246±48	6.8	128±19	3.1					
Lake storage (mm)	168	4.7	1,938	47.1					
Residence time (R ₁) (year)	3.1	*	1.8	5					
Total outflow	3,602	100	4,113	100					

4.2.4 Sensitivity of Lake levels to meteorological variables

Figure 4.8 shows the sensitivity of the lake levels to variability in air temperature, cloud fraction, rainfall, and relative humidity. The horizontal dashed lines correspond to the current lake level (9.5 m) and the vertical dashed lines represent the present conditions (current values) of the corresponding meteorological variable.

The results showed that changes in the meteorological variables have high and relative effects on the lake water levels (Figure 4.8). For exemple, temperature increase from present value will lead to decreased lake levels (Figure 4.8a) with a 1.6°C temperature increase from current conditions (25.4°C) resulting in lake level less than 5 meters while a 2 °C decrease leads to possible lake Overflow. Temperature increase from its current value will lead to high lake evaporation (Figure 4.8a). A temperature increase of around 1.6°C from present conditions (25.4°C) leads to the lake's evaporation increase from 1715 mm yr⁻¹ to 1745 mm yr⁻¹, about 30 mm yr⁻¹ evaporation increase for every 6% increase in temperature.

Sensitivity analysis shows changes in rainfall to result into changes in lake level (Figure 4.8b). For instance, a decline of more than 50% (around 650 mm yr⁻¹) in annual average precipitation from current value of 2,707 mm yr⁻¹ would lead to dry-out conditions leading to lake level less than 2 m, while a rise of about 9 % (245 mm yr⁻¹) in the annual mean rainfall would lead to lake overflow (1.6 m increase in lake level) (Figure 4.8b). Inversely, the effects of rainfall on the lake evaporation in the lake area seem to be less pronounced and may mainly occur beyond 3500 mm yr⁻¹ (Figure 4.8b). Lake levels are also relatively sensitive to changes in relative humidity and cloud cover fraction (Figures 4.8c and 4.8d) in Lake Baringo. However, the

increase in relative humidity does not affect lake levels significantly (Figures 4.8c) while, evaporation declines with increased relative humidity.

Only around 2.5% increase in cloudiness from present conditions results in Lake Overflow with around 1.3 m lake level rise with slight effect on lake evaporation (Figures 4.8d).

The reduction in both relative humidity and cloud cover fraction by up to 64% for relative humidity and 20% for cloud cover, respectively, does not lead to the lake level decrease below 4 m. For example, the effect of changing relative humidity on lake evaporation occurs from 60% to 80% and would cause lake evaporation to slightly drop by about 20 mm yr⁻¹ (Figure 4.8d).



Figure 4.8: Lake water level sensitivity to changes in (a) temperature; (b) rainfall; (c) Relative humidity; (d) cloudiness for the period January 2008-June 2021.

4.3 Objective **3**: Effects of lake water level fluctuations on water quality variables and lake fisheries

4.3.1 Temporal variation in lake properties

The PCA ordination results showed a clear separation between the years based on the lake water quality properties and fisheries yields (landings) for a 13-year time frame (2008-2020) (Figure 4.9). Of the five axes extracted in the PCA, only axes 1 and 2 are presented as they explain the majority of the extracted variance at 81.25%, and 12.59%, respectively.

The years 2013 and 2014 ordinated in the upper left of the biplot were characterized as having high TN levels and total fish yields while, the years from 2008 to 2012 are ordinated to the lower right and characterized by higher turbidity levels fluctuating between 73.69-185 NTU, higher WQI values ranging between 860.19 and 1443.47, higher TP concentrations varying from 146.66 to 240.35 μ g L⁻¹ indicating periods of poor water quality and high yearly water level variations measured as annual amplitudes (1.56-9.36 m). Besides, the years from 2015 to 2020 that were ordinated in the upper and lower left of the biplot, respectively, are marked by higher DLTM, indicating an increase in the annual lake water levels relative to the long-term average. The other water quality variables such as DO and temperature, known to affect assemblages and lake function, were not strong descriptors in the grouping of years based on the first two components that majorly explained the grouping results of the years at 93.84% (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.9: PCA analyses of Lake Baringo used to characterize water-level fluctuation influences on its fishery production and water quality properties from 2008-2020. Amp.: amplitude, Temp.: temperature, Tot. Bio.: total biomass and DLTM: is the annual difference from the long-term mean or average lake level.

4.3.2 Water Level Fluctuation Patterns

The lake water levels fluctuated by yearly amplitude (WLamp \pm SD) of 2.25 \pm 2.00 m from 1956 to 2020 (Figure 4.10). Consequently, a LOWESS plot showed that the lake water level amplitude fluctuated during the period 1956 to 1975 and then declined steadily up to its lowest level in 1989 (amplitude = 0.1 m), with a subsequent increase to peak amplitude in 2008 (9.4, m) before a decreasing fluctuation between 2008 and 2021 (Figure 4.10). Linear regression analysis showed a non-significant (p = 0.12) negative relationship between yearly amplitude and time while, the waveform Sine 3 parameter modeled as; Wlamp =2.328*sin ($2*\pi*year/43.45+6.28$), unlikely revealed

a significant result ($r^2 = -0.64$) even though p < 0.05 but $r^2 = -0.64$ indicating a poor fit than a horizontal line.



Figure 4.10: Long-term (1956-2020) patterns in yearly lake level amplitudes for Lake Baringo, Kenya. The continuous line represents a LOWESS fit to the data.

The trends in water level variations as measured by DLTM (Figure 4.11) were poorly explained by linear regression model (p = 0.1229, $r^2 = 0.059$). However, the waveform Sine (3 parameter) model: DLTM = $1.376*\sin(2*\pi*year/(42.98 + 6.28))$, was highly significant although with a weak fit (p < 0.0001, $r^2 = 0.21$), and indicated peak rise in Lake Baringo water levels after every ~20 years (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.11: Linear and waveform regressions of mean Water Level Fluctuations, expressed as the difference from the long-term mean (DLTM) over time (1956-2020) for Lake Baringo, Kenya. The positive trend suggests that water levels are rising over time; a 20-year periodicity in oscillation is discerned.

The depth frequency plot (Figure 4.12a) showed that for 25% of the years (1956-2020), the average depth of the lake was about 2 m while, for 20% of the years, the average depth was 3 m. For less than 10% of the years, the mean depth of the lake reached 4 m. Additionally, only for less than 5% of the years, the lake means depth ranged between 10-14 m during the period from 1956-2020. The lake depth-area relationship (Figure 4.12b) showed significant dependence ($R^2 = 0.74$) of the lake depth on its area (A, km²) modeled as: depth = 0.179e^{0.019A}; Figure 4.12b. Thus, in current conditions, a 1 m increase in lake depth leads to about 90 km² increase in lake area with likely influence on the riparian communities through overflows.



Figure 4.12: a) Depth-frequency distributions displayed as a histogram of pixel depth and b) Lake water level-surface area relationship of Lake Baringo, Kenya, measured from 1956-2020.

4.3.3 Relationship between lake level fluctuations (WLFs) and water quality parameters

A significant correlation (p < 0.01) was found between nine water quality parameters (conductivity, depth, TP, PO₄^{3–}, WQI, DO, temperature, turbidity, and NO₃[–]) and DLTM (Table 4.10) for the long-term (2008-2020) data. Only, one variable (SiO₄^{4–}) was significantly (p < 0.01) correlated with the yearly amplitude (WLamp) in Lake Baringo indicating the DLTM to better predict the changes in water quality in the lake at an inter-annual scale. Except for the depth and different forms of nitrogen (NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻ and NH₄⁺) that had significant negative correlations with DLTM, other water quality variables demonstrated positive concordance with increasing DLTM over time in the lake (Table 4.10). NH₄⁺ that varied between 21.75 to 48.8 µg L⁻¹, also showed significant negative correlation (p < 0.05, r = -0.64) with DLTM over time in the lake. Silicate ions (SiO₄⁴⁻) ranged from 18.92 to 27.43 mg L⁻¹ across all years (2008-2020). SiO₄⁴⁻ did not demonstrate a concordance with DLTM but showed a positive significant correlation with yearly amplitude of lake levels (p = 0.008, r = 0.70) indicating the ion is tracked by short-term changes in the lake. There was no significant concordance between Chl-a, and TN with any of the WLFs indices over time in the lake. The water quality index (WQI) as a measure of the lake water quality was significantly correlated with the DLTM (p = 0.001, r = 0.80) and not the lake water level amplitude, WLamp (Table 4.10).

At an intra-annual scale, a significant correlation (p < 0.01) was found between six water quality parameters (conductivity, depth, Secchi disc, temperature, NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻) (Table 4.10) and monthly amplitude (WLamp) (Table 4.11) for the monthly data collected from January 2020 to June 2021.

Only, one parameter (NH₄⁺) was significantly (p < 0.01) correlated with the DLTM in Lake Baringo indicating the WLamp to be a better predictor of water quality in the lake at an intra-annul scale. Except for the Secchi disc which had a strong significant positive correlation with DLTM and a moderate significant negative correlation with monthly amplitude (Table 4.11), other parameters demonstrated very weak concordance with both monthly DLTM and WLamp over the short time period (20202021) in the lake. TN ranging from 2.83 μ g L⁻¹ in December 2020 to 71.32 μ g L⁻¹ in April 2020, DO varied between 4.44 mg L⁻¹ in May 2020 and 9.48 mg L⁻¹ in December 2020 and pH ranged from 7.09 December 2020 to 9.92 in January 2020 all showed high potential concordance (*p* < 0.05) but weak (r < 0.50) with the monthly lake level amplitude (WLamp) over time.

Table 4.10: The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (r) between selected variables describing the water quality parameters and hydrological indices describing the water level fluctuations (WLFs) in Lake Baringo (Kenya) between 2008 and 2020.

		Cond.	DO			Temp.	Chl.a		PO4	NO_2^-	NO ₃ ⁻	TN	SiO4	NH_4^+
Pearson	WQI	(µs/cm)	(mg/L)	Tur.(NTU)	Depth (m)	(°C)	$(\mu g/L)$	$TP\left(\mu g/L\right)$	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(mg/L)	(µg/L)
r	0.80**	0.84***	0.74**	0.74**	-0.88***	0.72**	-0.25	0.92***	0.84***	-0.67*	-0.75**	0.10	0.08	-0.64*
					7.71E-			6.6E-						
Р	0.00**	0.00***	0.00**	0.00**	05***	0.01**	0.41	06***	0.00***	0.01*	0.00**	0.75	0.79	0.02*
r	0.46	0.36	-0.13	0.40	-0.37	0.36	0.20	0.26	0.06	-0.32	-0.20	-0.30	0.70**	0.09
Р	0.11	0.22	0.67	0.18	0.21	0.22	0.52	0.39	0.84	0.28	0.51	0.33	0.01**	0.78
	Pearson r P r P	Pearson WQI r 0.80** P 0.00** r 0.46 P 0.11	Pearson WQI (μs/cm) r 0.80** 0.84*** P 0.00** 0.00*** r 0.46 0.36 P 0.11 0.22	Pearson WQI (μs/cm) (mg/L) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** P 0.00** 0.00*** 0.00** r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 P 0.11 0.22 0.67	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** 0.74** P 0.00** 0.00*** 0.00** 0.00** r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 0.40 P 0.11 0.22 0.67 0.18	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** 0.74** -0.88*** P 0.00** 0.00*** 0.00** 0.00** 0.5*** r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 0.40 -0.37 P 0.11 0.22 0.67 0.18 0.21	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** 0.74** -0.88*** 0.72** P 0.00** 0.00*** 0.00** 0.00** 0.00** 0.01** r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 0.40 -0.37 0.36 P 0.11 0.22 0.67 0.18 0.21 0.22	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) (µg/L) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** 0.74** -0.88*** 0.72** -0.25 P 0.00** 0.00*** 0.00** 0.00** 0.5*** 0.01** 0.41 r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 0.40 -0.37 0.36 0.20 P 0.11 0.22 0.67 0.18 0.21 0.22 0.52	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) (µg/L) TP (µg/L) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** 0.74** -0.88*** 0.72** -0.25 0.92*** P 0.00** 0.00*** 0.00** 0.00** 0.5*** 0.01** 0.41 06*** r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 0.40 -0.37 0.36 0.20 0.26 P 0.11 0.22 0.67 0.18 0.21 0.22 0.52 0.39	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) (µg/L) TP (µg/L) (µg/L) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** 0.74** -0.88*** 0.72** -0.25 0.92*** 0.84*** P 0.00** 0.00** 0.00** 0.5*** 0.01** 0.41 06*** 0.00*** r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 0.40 -0.37 0.36 0.20 0.26 0.06 P 0.11 0.22 0.67 0.18 0.21 0.22 0.52 0.39 0.84	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) (µg/L) TP (µg/L) (µg/L) (µg/L) (µg/L) r 0.80** 0.84*** 0.74** 0.74** -0.88*** 0.72** -0.25 0.92*** 0.84*** -0.67* P 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00** 0.00*** 0.5*** 0.01** 0.41 06*** 0.00*** 0.01* r 0.46 0.36 -0.13 0.40 -0.37 0.36 0.20 0.26 0.06 -0.32 P 0.11 0.22 0.67 0.18 0.21 0.22 0.52 0.39 0.84 0.28	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) (µg/L) TP (µg/L)	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) (µg/L) TP (µg/L)	Pearson WQI (µs/cm) (mg/L) Tur.(NTU) Depth (m) (°C) (µg/L) TP (µg/L) (µg/L)<

Values with *** highlight strong significant concordance (p < 0.001), ** highlight significant concordance (p < 0.01) while * highlights potential concordance (p < 0.05). DLTM: Difference from the long-term mean, WLamp: water level amplitude.

Table 4.11: The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (r) between selected variables describing the water quality parameters and hydrological indices (DLTM and WLamp) describing the water level fluctuations (WLFs) in Lake Baringo, Kenya, between January 2020 and June 2021.

	DLTM		WLa	mp
Variables	р	r	р	r
Chl.a (µg L ⁻¹)	0.53	-0.21	0.40	0.16
TN (μg L ⁻¹)	0.44	-0.51	0.03*	0.20*
TP (μg L ⁻¹)	0.41	-0.21	0.40	0.21
SiO ₄ ^{4–} (mg L ⁻¹)	0.95	0.13	0.61	0.02
NO_{3}^{-} (µg L ⁻¹)	0.17	-0.66	0.00**	-0.34**
$NO_2^{-}(\mu g L^{-1})$	0.78	-0.79	0.00***	-0.07***
$PO_4^{3-} (\mu g L^{-1})$	0.13	0.27	0.28	-0.37
NH_{4}^{+} (µg L ⁻¹)	0.01**	0.04**	0.89	0.59
WQI	0.06	0.25	0.33	0.45
Depth (m)	0.59	0.61	0.01**	0.14**
Temp. (°C)	0.76	0.68	0.00**	0.08**
EC (µs/cm)	0.07	-0.60	0.01**	-0.45**
DO (mg L ⁻¹)	0.86	0.55	0.02*	-0.04*
TDS (mg L^{-1})	0.76	0.21	0.40	-0.08
SD (cm)	0.04*	0.81*	4.2E-05***	-0.49***
pН	0.29	-0.48	0.04*	-0.27*

Values with $\frac{1}{2}$ highlight strong significant concordance (p < 0.001), ** highlight significant concordance (p < 0.01) and * highlights potential concordance (p < 0.05). DLTM: Difference from the long-term mean, WLamp: water level amplitude.

The Gaussian 4 parameter unimodal model further provided a significant fit (p < 0.05) to the relationship between WQI and DLTM ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.89$) and not with the lake amplitude (Figure 4.13a and b) in the lake. These results indicated that a range of DLTM of ≥ 2 m and in the range of 6.5 to ≥ 10 m provided a good water quality of the lake as WQI approached the WHO recommended value of WQI ≤ 100 , while DTLM values of ≤ 2 m resulted into poor water quality. The Gaussian, 4-parameter

model: WQI = $314.68 + 1252.05 \exp(-0.5 *((x - 3.88)/2.2)^2)$, yielded a significant relationship (p = 0.0024) between WQI and DLTM (R² = 0.89) (Figure 4.13a). These results indicated that the water quality index (WQI) was lowest in years closest to the highest long-term mean (DLTM = 9.9 m) and that WQI increased with decreasing lake water levels (Figure 4.13b).



Figure 4.13: Gaussian model fit demonstrating unimodal response of water quality index (WQI) with Water Level Fluctuations indices over a 13 year period (2008-2020) for Lake Baringo, Kenva.

At the intra-annual scale, the Gaussian 4 parameter unimodal and linear models performed on the monthly data collected from January 2020 to June 2021 did not provide a significant fit (p > 0.05) to the relationship between WQI and DLTM and with the lake amplitude (Figure 4.14 a and b). The results indicate that at a monthly scale, there is no significant relationship between DLTM and water quality. However, the very dry months of January and February provided a good water quality of the lake as WQI approached the WHO recommended value of WQI ≤ 100 .

The Gaussian, 4-parameter model: $WQI = 543.897 + 432.48*exp(-0.5*((DLTM-0.18)/0.17)^2)$ and linear model; WQI = 398.039 + 264.94*A, yielded weak

relationships (p < 0.1) between WQI and DLTM (p = 0.0966, $R^2 = 0.354$) (Figure 4.14a) and between WQI and Amplitude, A (p = 0.062, $R^2 = 0.202$) (Figure 4.14b) using monthly data for the period January 2020-June 2021. These results also indicated that in general the water quality index (WQI) was lowest in months closest to the highest long-term monthly mean (DLTM = 1.3 m) and increased with decreasing lake water levels. Also, the findings indicated that the water quality index (WQI) was lowest in months closest to the lowest water level amplitude and increased with increasing monthly lake level fluctuations for the period 2020-2021.



Figure 4.14: (a) Gaussian and (b) linear models fit demonstrating both unimodal and linear responses of water quality index (WQI) to Water Level Fluctuations indices (DLTM and Amplitude) over 18 months (January 2020- June 2021) for Lake Baringo, Kenya.

4.3.4 Relationship between lake level fluctuations and fisheries

The annual fisheries yields from 1982-2020 (years of available data) ranged from approximately 8 metric tons in 1994 to 496 metric tons in 2017 averaging close to 227 metric tons per year (Figure 4.15). Linear regression analysis highlighted a significant relationship (p < 0.05, $R^2 = 0.66$) between annual fisheries yields (landings) and the water level variations (WLs) indexed as annual amplitude indicating the direct effect of WLFs on the lake's fisheries production modeled as Fishery yield = 78.15 + (29.94 * WLs); $R^2 = 0.66$ (Figure 4.15). These results suggest that water level changes have an influence on fish catchability in the lake at inter-annual time scale.



Figure 4.15: Relationship between annual mean fisheries landings and water level fluctuations in Lake Baringo, Kenya, from 1982-2020.

The fishery variables (fish yields and average annual fish condition factor) were correlated with the WLFs indicators using Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) shown in Table 4.12. The results demonstrated a strong significant positive relationship (p < 0.001) between the condition factor of the endemic tilapia species, *Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis*, with the yearly lake water level amplitude (r = 0.69). However, there were potential significant correlations (r = ~ 0.5) between the condition factor of the lungfish, *Protopterus aethiopicus* with DLTM (r = 0.48), and between the annual yield of the barb, *Labeobarbus intermedius*, and DLTM (r = 0.50) (Table 4.12). These results indicated positive and negative relationships for *P*. *aethiopicus* and *L. intermedius* with mean WLFs, respectively. There were no significant relationships between either DLTM or amplitude (WLFs) and total biomass as well as with fish species yields in the lake except for *L. intermedius* (Table 4.12).

Table 4.12: The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (r) between hydrological variables describing the water level fluctuations (WLFs) and fisheries ofLake Baringo, Kenya, between 2008 and 2020.

		Relative	conditio	n factor	(kr)	Fisheries yields				
Variables c	Pearson correlation	<i>O. n</i>	<i>P. a</i>	С. д	<i>B. i</i>	Tot. Bio.	P.a	0. n.	C. g	L. i
DLTM	r	0.045	0.478*	0.454	0.173	0.127	0.264	-0.030	-0.106	-0.499*
	Р	0.884	0.098*	0.119	0.573	0.680	0.383	0.922	0.730	0.082*
WLamp	r	0.691***	0.084	-0.148	0.228	0.215	0.244	0.096	0.442	-0.358
	Р	0.008***	0.785	0.630	0.453	0.481	0.421	0.756	0.130	0.230

Values with *** highlight significant concordance (p < 0.001), while values with * highlight potential concordance (p < 0.10); DLTM: Difference from the long-term mean; Tot. Bio.: total biomass; *P. a.:Protopterus aethiopicus; O.n.: Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis; C.g.: Clarias gariepinus; and L.i.:Labeobarbus intermedius.*

The monthly fisheries yields ranged from approximately 8.40 metric tons in September 2020 to 12.35 metric tons in June 2021 averaging close to 9.94 metric tons per month (Figure 4.16). Gaussian, 4-parameter model fit showed a significant relationship (p < 0.05) between monthly fisheries yields and the water level fluctuations (WLFs) (monthly amplitude) indicating the direct effect of WLFs on the lake's fisheries production (Fishery yield = 9.38 + 6.46*exp(-0.5*((WLs -13.4)/0.26)²); R² = 0.44; Figure 4.16). These results suggest that water level changes have an influence on fish catchability in the lake on both monthly and annual scales.



Figure 4.16: Gaussian model fit demonstrating unimodal response of fisheries yields with Water Level Fluctuations over a 18 month period (January 2020-June 2021) for Lake Baringo.

4.4 Objective 4: Modeling the food web properties and fisheries dynamics in Lake Baringo using Ecopath mass-balanced model

4.4.1 Catch composition and Trends in commercial fish landings

Lake Baringo's commercial fish landings by weight varied considerably from 1982 to 2020 (Figure 4.17). The individual landings comprised four main species namely: *Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis, Labeobarbus intermedius, Clarias gariepinus* and *Protopterus aethiopicus* which are currently the key commercial fish landings in Lake Baringo. The total fish landings (total catch and individual landings) exhibited variable trends among years with the lowest value of 8 tons yr⁻¹ in 1994 to a peak of 455 tons yr⁻¹ in 2000 (Figure 4.17).

The *O. n. baringoensis* landings from the lake have fluctuated from 199 tons/yr in 1982 to 28 tons yr⁻¹ in 2000 showing a decreasing trend from 1980 to 2020 after reaching a peak of 326 tons yr⁻¹ in 1990. *Clarias gariepinus* total annual landings have increased from 28 tons yr⁻¹ in 1982 to 120 tons yr⁻¹ in 2000, and then decreased to 10 tons yr⁻¹ in 2010 before fluctuating with decreasing trend from 2011 to 2020. The total annual landings related to *Labeobarbus intermedius* ranged between 46 tons yr⁻¹ in 1982 to a peak of 198 tons yr⁻¹ in 2014 before decreasing to 10.1 tons yr⁻¹ in 2020. Annual catches of African lungfish, *Protopterus aethiopicus*, exhibited a general increase in landings by weight from its lower values of 11 tons yr⁻¹ in 1984 (year when *P. aethiopicus* was for the first time reported in the commercial catch in Lake Baringo). The highest landings for *P. aethiopicus* were 199 tons yr⁻¹ and 251 tons yr⁻¹ obtained in 1999 and in 2014, respectively, while the lowest landing was 1 ton yr⁻¹ observed in 1994 (Figure 4.17).





Figure 4.17: Time-series of commercial fish landings in Lake Baringo, Kenya. Circles are mean values of all samples collected monthly from 1982 to 2020. Solid line is LOWESS trendline of monthly mean values.

4.4.2 EcopathTrophic flow models for Lake Baringo

4.4.2.1. Model structure

The trophic models of the lake generated for 1999, 2010 and 2020 are shown in Figure 4.18, while the data used to generate the trophic models are shown in Table S3 (Appendix 2). The models indicate that the lake contains three main trophic levels in each of the three time periods. The size of bubbles in the three models (Figure 4.18) represents the biomass proportions of each functional group in the lake implying, bottom-up controls from high biomass of the phytoplankton in the models. The vertical axis in the three models (1999, 2010, 2020) represents an approximate trophic position for each functional group, with producers (phytoplankton) and detritus low on this axis, and predators near the top. The trophic positions (TL) are shown on Table 4.13. The horizontal axis (Figure 4.18) represents different sources of producers located on the left side of the axis with detritus on the right side of the axis in the three trophic models. Phytoplankton represented a large and stable source of stored production which supplied energy to many species compared to detritus whose biomass was lowest in the 1999 and 2020 trophic models (Figure 4.18a,c). There are clear trophic groupings in the three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) based on the role of each functional group, with phytoplankton, detritus, zooplankton, mollusks and exploited fish species separated into different trophic levels (TLs).



Figure 4.18: Trophic models for Lake Baringo's fishery during (a) 1999, (b) 2010 and (c) 2020. Vertical position approximates the trophic level. The circle size is proportional to the compartment (population and/or functional groups) biomass (g wet weight m⁻²).

The highest trophic level (TL) in the three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) of the lake was occupied by *Protopterus aethiopicus* (TL= 2.9, Table 4.13, Figure 4.18) while, the lake ecosystem was dominated at the base (trophic level TL1) by the flows involving phytoplankton and detritus. *Labeobarbus intermedius, Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis*, mollusks and zooplankton as primary consumers were concentrated at trophic level TL2 while, *Clarias gariepinus* was in-between trophic levels TL2 and TL3 for the three years (1999, 2010, 2020) (Figure 4.18). The highest trophic level was 2.9 for *P. aethiopicus* followed by 2.7 for *C. gariepinus*, values that are between 2.5 and 3.0 belonging to high-order primary consumers or primary carnivores (Table 4.13).

The low-order primary consumers were *O. n. baringoensis*, *B. intermedius*, mollusks, and zooplankton with trophic levels ranging between 2 and 2.12, while the class of primary producers was constituted by phytoplankton and detritus at trophic level TL1. These three trophic model visualizations describe (Figure 4.18) the overall ecological network of Lake Baringo in time.

Biomass estimates for phytoplankton and *Labeobarbus intermedius* (an omnivore) were the largest and smallest, respectively, for the three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) in the lake implying bottom-up controls (Figure 4.18, Table 4.13).

Table 4.13: Final parameters for ecopath models representing the Lake Baringo's fishery for 1999, 2010 and 2020, where TL = trophic level, B = biomass reported in wet weight, P/B = turnover rate, Q/B = consumption rate, EE = ecotrophic efficiency, and P/Q = gross efficiency. Bold figures (TL, EE and P/Q) are outputs from the Ecopath model.

			В	P/B	Q/B		P/Q
Group	s/species name	TL	(tons/km ²)	(year)	(year)	EE	(year)
Perio	ls (years) 1999						
1 P. c	ethiopicus (PA)	2.90	0.376	0.325	42.00	0.000	0.008
2 L. i	ntermedius (LI)	2.00	0.003	0.024	0.34	0.000	0.071
3 C. g	gariepinus (CG)	2.70	0.211	0.128	23.00	0.000	0.006
4 <i>O</i> . <i>r</i>	iloticus (ON)	2.12	0.073	0.325	8.00	0.000	0.044
5 Mo	llusks (Mo)	2.00	1.230	15.856	13.70	0.903	0.15
6 Zoo	plankton (Zoo)	2.00	1.120	0.769	12.54	0.081	0.061
7 Phy	toplankton (Phy)	1.00	72.880	0.863		0.247	
8 Det	ritus (Det)	1.00	0.350			0.312	
Perio	ls (years) 2010						
1 P. c	ethiopicus (PA)	2.90	0.324	0.420	42.12	0.000	0.010
2 L. i	ntermedius (LI)	2.00	0.001	0.012	0.13	0.000	0.095
3 C. g	gariepinus (CG)	2.70	0.098	0.527	12.74	0.000	0.041
4 <i>O</i> . <i>r</i>	iloticus (ON)	2.12	0.025	0.767	3.25	0.000	0.236
5 Mo	llusks (Mo)	2.00	1.230	13.330	159.90	0.802	0.084
6 Zoo	plankton (Zoo)	2.00	2.600	2.966	338.00	0.001	0.088
7 Phy	toplankton (Phy)	1.00	27.375	35.100		0.915	
8 Det	ritus (Det)	1.00	0.320			0.637	
Perio	ls (years) 2020						
1 P. c	ethiopicus (PA)	2.90	4.500	0.714	98.00	0.000	0.137
2 L. i	ntermedius (LI)	2.00	0.62	0.013	13.00	0.000	0.199
3 C. g	gariepinus (CG)	2.70	4.650	1.010	101.00	0.000	0.125
4 <i>O</i> . <i>r</i>	iloticus (ON)	2.12	3.590	0.780	78.00	0.000	0.080
5 Mo	llusks (Mo)	2.00	12.230	64.980	106.83	0.913	0.132
6 Zoo	plankton (Zoo)	2.00	8.480	184.860	1848.60	0.002	0.120
7 Phy	toplankton (Phy)	1.00	327.83	7146.600		0.669	
8 Det	ritus (Det)	1.00	152.70			0.001	

4.4.2.2. Ecotrophic Efficiency (EE) Patterns

The output results (Table 4.13) indicate that the estimated *Ecotrophic Efficiency (EE)* values are < 1 for the three models and did not vary considerably for the different functional groups in the lake, ranging from 0.00 to 0.903 in 1999, 0.00 to 0.915 in 2010, and from 0.00 to 0.913 in 2020 (Table 4. 13). The *EE* values for the top predators (*P. aethiopicus* and *C. gariepinus*) and other fish species were zero indicating that the top predators are not consumed within the system. The *EE* values for the primary producers (phytoplankton and detritus) were slightly high, compared to the secondary producer (zooplankton) in the three models (Table 4.13) suggesting that the primary producers are more consumed in the system than the secondary producers – a bottom-up regulation. The EE values of mollusks in the three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) were high approaching 1 suggesting that mollusks were highly consumed or insufficient in the system's food web of the lake.

4.4.2.3. Biomass distributions of functional groups

The biomass distribution of the different functional groups depicted in Figure 4.18 is summarized in Table 4.13. The detritus biomass and phytoplankton biomass (measured indirectly as chlorophyll-a concentration) exhibited alternating trends compared to the fish total biomass over the three time periods. From 1999 to 2010, the biomasses showed 9% decline from 0.35 to 0.32 g wet wt m⁻² for detritus and 62.4 % decline from 72.8 to 27.4 g wet wt m⁻² for phytoplankton, before peaking in 2020 (152.7 g wet wt m⁻² for detritus and 327.8 g wet wt m⁻² for phytoplankton) (Table 4.13). In 2020 trophic model, the detrital biomass was the highest indicating their influence on nutrient and energy cycling in the lake. The zooplankton biomass presents increasing trends comparable to those of the total biomass over the three time

periods (Table 4.13). The highest biomass of zooplankton (84.8 g wet wt m⁻²) and the lowest biomass (1.12 g wet wt m⁻²) were observed in 2020 and 1999, respectively (Table 4. 13). The zooplankton biomass patterns were quite similar to those of phytoplankton from trophic model in 1999 to trophic model in 2020 except in 2010 trophic model where phytoplankton biomass decreased. Generally, the year 2020 (characterized by high water level in the lake due to heavy rains) exhibited higher biomasses for both phytoplankton (327.8 g wet wt m⁻²), zooplankton (8.4 g wet wt m⁻²), as well as for the fish biomass (0.45 g wet wt m⁻²) from the lake than years 1999 and 2010 with light rain where the phytoplankton (27.38 g wet wt m⁻² in trophic model 2010), zooplankton (1.12 g wet wt m⁻² in trophic model 1999) and fish biomass (0.324 g wet wt m⁻² in trophic model 2010) were very low (Table 4. 13).

The estimated total fish biomass of the lake was 0.66 metric ton km⁻² yr⁻¹ in 1999, 0.45 metric ton km⁻² yr⁻¹ in in 2010, and 1.34 metric ton km⁻² yr⁻¹ in 2020, with *P*. *aethiopicus* and *C. gariepinus* exhibiting higher biomasses than the other fish groups except in 2020 when *C. gariepinus* had higher biomass followed by *P. aethiopicus*. The principal species with a great increment of biomass were *O. n. baringoensis* (from 0.073 g wet wt m⁻² in 1999 to 0.359 g wet wt m⁻² in 2020), and *C. gariepinus* (from 0.098 g wet wt m⁻² in 2010 to 0.465 g wet wt m⁻² in 2020). It is important to note that the biomasses of all functional groups from the producer to consumers decreased in the year 2010 except for zooplankton which increased from 1.120 g wet wt m⁻² in 2010 to 84.80 g wet wt m⁻² in 2020.

Table 4.14 summarizes the distribution of the total biomass in different trophic levels in Lake Baringo's fishery system as per the models (Figure 4.18). The total biomass in different trophic levels in Lake Baringo varied from 31.97 g m⁻² in 2010 to 568.62 g m⁻² in 2020. The biomasses of functional groups at the base of the trophic level for the three trophic models (73. 23 g wet wt m⁻² in 1999, 27.69 g wet wt m⁻² in 2010 and 480.5 g wet wt m⁻² in 2020; Table 4.14) were high (as expected), compared to the other levels in the three trophic models.

The proportion of biomass at trophic level TL1 decreased over time from 96% in the 1999 trophic model to 84.5% in 2020 whereas it increased at trophic levels TL2 from 3.3% in 1999 model to 15.23% in 2020 model and TL3 from 0.7% in 1999 trophic model to 1.1% in 2010. However, at trophic level TL3 the biomass decreased from 1.1% in 2010 to 0.30% in 2020. In contrast, from 1999 to 2020, the proportion of biomass in the upper trophic levels (II) increased marginally. However, all types of biomass flows into the system showed a decline from 2010 to 2020. Most of these flows (> 80%) were concentrated in trophic level I for the three models resulting in a decreasing average transfer efficiency from 6.4% in 1999 to 0.5% in 2020 after reaching a value of 4.7% in 2010 (Table 4.14). The trophic level III characterized by lowest biomasses peacked in 2020 (1.51 g m⁻²) after decreasing from 0.50 g m⁻² in 1999 to 0.36 g m⁻² in 2010, while the trophic level IV was absent in the three trophic models of the lake indicating the lack of secondary carnivores in the system.

Table 4.14. Proportional total system biomass (g wet weight m-2) for discrete trophic levels (TL) from Lake Baringo ecosystem models for years 1999, 2010, and 2020.

TL	Biomass (g/m ²)	Biomass (%)
Daviada (waava) 1000		
Periods (years) 1999		
Ι	73.23	96.00
II	2.52	3.30
III	0.50	0.70
IV	0.00	0.00
Total	76.25	100
Periods (years) 2010		
I	27.69	86.60
II	3.92	12.30
III	0.36	1.10
IV	0.00	0.00
Total	31.97	100
Periods (years) 2020		
Ι	480.50	84.50
II	86.61	15.23
III	1.51	0.30
IV	0.00	0.00
Total	568.62	100

4.4.3 Network analysis and Ecosystem indices

4.4.3.1 Ecological functioning indicators

The output parameters of the three annual trophic models (Figure 4.19) of Lake Baringo are summarized in Table 4.15. The network indices used to assess the ecosystem status included TPP/TR, TPP/TB, TB/TST, CI, and Finn's cycling index (see section 3.5.5.4 in methods). The relatively high productivity with regards to the total biomass and respiration (TPP/TB and TPP/TR) ratios (Table 4.15) indicates the

lake is geologically young and ecologically immature, respectively (sensu Odum, 1969).

Table 4.15 shows that there has been an increasing trend in productivity in relation to biomass and respiration, an increasing trend in food web connectivity (measured by food web Connectivity Index; CI) from 0.22 in 1999 to 0.30 in 2010 and then to a lower value of 0.23 in 2020. The System Omnivory Index (SOI, an index of food web diversity) showed a decreasing trend from 0.07 in 1999 to 0.05 in 2020. There was a decreasing trend in ecological transfer efficiency (TE) and nutrient cycling rate (measured by Finn's cycling index) (with a reduction in number of groups that energy flow passes through as shown by reduction in Finn's cycling index) from 1999 to 2020 (Table 4.15). Concerning the food web organization descriptors; both system's Ascendency (A) (an indicator of ecological activity) and Overhead (O) (measure of energy in reserve of an ecosystem to resist perturbations or resilience) decreased twofold and fourfold, respectively, between 1999 and 2010, and increased considerably between 2010 and 2020 indicating the increasing potential of resistance of the ecosystem to disturbances (Table 4.15).

The total system throughput (TST) that indicates flow network complexity and describes network lengths in a food web was 84% lower in 2010 than in 1999, attaining its greatest value in 2020 indicating that the network lengths and flow networks in the lake's food web were stronger in 2020 than in 1999 and 2010 (Table 4.15). Additionally, all other parameters showed similar trends as TST from 1999 to 2020 except B/TST (an indicator of energy flows in the food web) that had an

opposite trend, and $\sum Q$ and $\sum R$ which showed increased trends among the models (Table 4.15).

Ascendency (an indicator of the potential for development or ecological activity) demonstrated an increasing trend in the potential for the lake to recover from perturbation over the last two decades (Table 4.15). The Finn's cycling index (FCI) (defined as the percentage of the total flow in the food web) decreased from 1999 to 2020 indicating the decrease in nutrient cycling rates; whereas the system overhead (Ov) (energy in reserve of an ecosystem indicating the potential for recovery and ecosystem stability) and system capacity (C) decreased from 1999 to 2010 and increased from 2010 to 2020 indicating the fluctuating nature of the potential of the lake to recover from impacts or perturbations.

The system omnivory index (SOI) and the connectance index (CI) are also used as indicators of ecosystem maturity and are expected to be higher in late stage of maturity in ecosystems (mature systems) (Odum, 1971). The SOI observed in Lake Baringo for the three trophic models was 0.07 in 1999, 0.06 in 2010 and 0.05 in 2020 (Table 4.15), a reducing trend, suggesting reduced prey organisms in the diets and reduced prey diversity in the system. The connectance index (CI) defined as the ratio of the actual links between groups to the numbers of the possible theoretical links, was estimated at 0.22 in 1999, 0.30 in 2010 and 0.23 in 2020 (Table 4.15) indicating annual variation in the food web complexity of Lake Baringo.

Net system production (NSP) (defined as the difference between the total primary production and total respiration), another ecosystem maturity indicator, is higher in

immature ecosystems and close to zero in mature ones. The three Ecopath models (1999, 2010, 2020) in Lake Baringo calculated very high NSP values (t. km⁻². yr⁻¹) of 5950.99 in 1999; 964.46 in 2010 and 239.537 in 2020 (Table 4.15) highlighting the decreasing trend in NSP suggesting the progressive shift of the ecological status of the lake from ecological immaturity status towards an ecological maturity stage (equilibrium between prey-predator biomasses) of Lake Baringo's ecosystem.

The gross efficiency (GE) of the fisheries in the lake was 0.013 in 1999, 0.033 in 2010 and 0.0018 in 2020, all the gross efficiency values were < 1 indicating that the three trophic models in Lake Baringo to be mass-balanced over time (Table 4.15).

Table 4.15: Summary output statistics of the mass-balance Ecopath model of Lake Baringo showing ecosystem attributes; network flow indices, and information flow Indices during 1999, 2010, and 2020. The trend indicates the direction towards a mature system (± indicating increasing/decrease respectively). N/a stands for parameters associated with fisheries.

Parameters (unit)/periods		Trend	1999	2010	2020	% Change 1999-2010	% Change 2010
Sum of all consumption (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	ΣQ	+	181	913	13,035.34	4.04	1426.58
Sum of all exports (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	ΣΕΧΡ	N/a	59,509.9	9,644.6	239,537.20	-0.84	247.36
Sum of all respiratory flows (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	ΣR	+	187	360	5,252.35	0.93	1458.11
Sum of all flows into detritus (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	∑FD	+	5,951.91	965.75	239,539.80	-0.84	247.03
Total system throughput (g m-2 yr-1)	TST	+	11,902.83	1,935.74	486,859.92	-0.84	250.51
Sum of all production (g m ⁻² year ⁻¹)	ΣP	+	5,952.43	971.77	249,965.50	-0.84	256.23
Total net primary production (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	TPP	+	5,949.12	960.86	234,284.80	-0.84	242.83
Net system production (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	NSP	+	5,950.99	964.46	239,537.20	-0.84	247.36
Total net primary production/total respiration	TPP/TR		3182.33	266.93	44.61	-0.92	-83.82
Total net primary production/total biomass	TPP/TB	+	7,839	3,036	56,428	-0.61	1758.63
Total biomass/total throughput	TB/TST	+	0.0001	0.0002	0.0000	1.57	-94.52
Total biomass (exc. detritus) (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	TB	+	75.90	31.65	415.19	-0.58	12.12
Gross efficiency (Actual catch/primary production) Network flow indices	GE		0.0128	0.0329	0.0018	1.58	-94.52
Throughput cycled (exc. detritus) (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	TCI	N/a	0.00	0.00	0.00		
Throughput cycled (inc. detritus) (g m ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	TCId	+	124.90	101.90	419.30	-0.19	3.11
Finn's cycling index (% of total)	FCI	4	0.0105	0.0044	0.00086	-0.58	-0.80

Total number of pathways (no.)	#P	N/a	6.00	6.00	6.00	0.00	0.00
Food web connectance (dimensionless)	CI		0.22	0.30	0.23	0.36	-0.23
Omnivory index (dimensionless)	OI		0.07	0.06	0.05	-0.14	-0.17
Mean transfer efficiency (%)	TE		6.43	4.72	0.49	-0.27	-0.90
Information flow indices							
Ascendency (total) flowbits	Α	+	4,706.81	1,941.37	49,638.24	-0.59	24.57
Overhead (total) flowbits	Ov	+	9,028.60	2,122.90	65,163.96	-0.76	29.70
Capacity (total) flowbits	С	+	15,678.21	8,082.8	157,001.2	-0.48	18.43
Ov/C (%)	Ov/C	+	57.58	26.26	41.51	-0.54	58.07
A/C (%)	A/C	+	30.02	24.02	31.62	-0.20	31.64
Pedigree index	Р	5	0.269	0.115	0.115	-0.57	0.00

4.4.3.2 Fisheries and Keystoneness indicators

The fisheries indicators used included primary production required (PPR, the unit of primary production over total ecosystem production), mean trophic level of landings (TLc), and the gross fishing efficiency (GFE), and showed significant differences between the three Ecopath models (1999, 2010, 2020) of the lake (Table 4.15; Figure 4.19 a,b,c). The results show, for instance, that the mean trophic level of the catch (TLc, which quantifies the mean trophic position of exploited organisms) increased from 1999 to 2010 and then decreased from 2010 to 2020 (an overall decline) indicating that the organisms were more exploited in 1999 and 2010 but less exploited in 2020 (Figure 4.19a), a general fishing-down of the food web. The trophic level of the catch was lowest in the 2020 model and highest in the 2010 model (Figure. 4.19a), indicating that the fishing intensity changed with time in Lake Baringo suggesting high fishing impacts between years 1999 and 2010 and low fishing impacts during the year 2020 in the lake.

The results also showed that the primary production required (PPR, an indicator of the sustainability of fisheries in terms of energy) was low and fluctuating over time in the lake (Figure 4.19b). The highest value was 3.5% in 2020, while, the lowest value was 0.025% in 2010 suggesting a decreased sustainability in 2010 but low PPR indicating overall sustainability of the fisheries.

The gross fishing efficiency (GFE, which measures the degree to which the fish stocks are exploited in the ecosystem) was high in 2010 and very low in 2020 suggesting that the fish stocks are underexploited in 2020 compared to other years (1999 and 2010) (Figure 4.19c).



Figure 4.19. Fisheries indicators (trophic level of the catches; TLc, primary production required; PPR and gross fishing efficiency; GFE) calculated for three different trophic models for the food web of Lake Baringo, Kenya.

Figure 4.20 shows the keystoneness index and the relative trophic impact of the different functional groups in the 1999, 2010 and 2020 Ecopath models of Lake Baringo. For each functional group, the keystoneness index (*y*-axis) is reported

against the overall effect (x-axis). Overall effects are relative to the maximum effect measured in each trophic web; thus, for the x-axis, the scale is always between 0 and 1. The functional groups are represented by number corresponding to species keystoneness rankings in the model.

The keystone index (KSi) (an indicator of system controls by groups) values from the three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) indicated the functional group with the most keystoneness properties to be *O. n. baringoensis* followed by zooplankton group for the three generated trophic models of the lake (Figure 4.20). This result indicated that *O. n. baringoensis* is the species that controls the population of species in Lake Baringo playing both roles of an omnivorous feeder and prey of carnivores in the lake's food wed. The next ranks in keystoneness in Lake Baringo are occupied by mollusks, *Clarius gariepinus* and *Protopterus aethiopicus* in 1999 trophic model, while in 2010 and 2020 models, the next keystone species are mollusks and *Protopterus aethiopicus*, respectively (Figure 4.20). However, only *O. n. baringoensis* had low biomass and highest relative trophic impact in the three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) of Lake Baringo, indicating that the *O. n. baringoensis* is the main keystone species in the lake.



Figure 4.20: Relative overall effect (£i) and keystoneness (KSi) of each species/functional group from the Lake Baringo ecosystem models for (a): 1999, (b): 2010, and (c): 2020. The number corresponds to keystoneness rankings from 1999 species/functional groups: 1-*P. aethiopicus*; 2-*B. intermedius*; 3-*C. gariepinus*; 4-*O. n. baringoensis*; 5-Mollusks; 6-zooplankton and 7-phytoplankton.
4.4.4 Comparative analysis with African lakes

The outputs obtained from the Ecopath models in Lake Baringo water was compared with those from some other Afrotropical lakes (Table 4.16). The total consumption $(\sum Q)$ for the lakes: Lakes Volta (Ghana), Awassa (Ethiopia), Malawi (Malawi), Kariba (Zimbabwe) and Victoria (Tanzania) were quite similar, but lower compared to Lake Baringo trophic model in 2020 and higher compared to Lake Baringo trophic models in 1999 and 2010 (Table 4.16). The total production (ΣP) for Lakes Baringo, Kariba and Awassa, however, was much higher, compared to Lakes Volta, Malawi and Victoria. This indicates a high productivity in Lakes Baringo, Kariba and Awassa that is not being fully utilized by the fish species. The total primary production (TPP) value (t km⁻² yr⁻¹) of Lake Baringo waters is the highest (96,086 in 2010 and 23,428,48 in 2020) among the lakes; the second highest is Lake Kariba ecosystem, (Table 4.16). TPP/TR value describes the maturity of the ecosystem. The TPP/TR value of Lake Baringo waters is highest among the lakes but still shows the lake is more immature ecologically compared to others. The connectance index (CI) and system omnivory index (SOI) values reflecting the complexity of the relationships among food weds due to the number of links between functional groups suggested that the food web complexity of different trophic levels in the lake was low compared to Lakes Volta and Victoria. Compared to other lakes, the SOI of Lake Baringo (0.07 in 1999, 0.06 in 2010 and 0.05 in 2020) was quite similar to that of Lake Volta (0.06) but very low when compared to other African Lakes (Awassa, Malawi and Kariba) suggesting a relatively low degree of omnivory in the two lakes (Lakes Baringo and Volta) (Table 4.16).

Parameter		Lake Baringo (1999)	Lake Baringo (2010)	Lake Baringo (2020)	Lake Volta	Lake Awassa	Lake Malawi	Lake Kariba	Lake Victoria
Sum of all consumption (t km ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	(ΣQ)	181	913	13,035.3	1,554.8	2,382.1	2,6	2,4	2,2
Sum of all exports (t km ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	(ΣEXP)	5,950.9	9,644.6	2 ,395.4	2,686.2	6,808.1	950	6.6	672
Sum of all respiratory flows (t km ⁻² yr ⁻¹) Sum of all production (t km ⁻² yr ⁻¹)	- ¹) (ΣR) (ΣP)	187 5,952.4	360 97,2	5,252.4 24,996.6	933.8 3,930.1	1,442.7 8,881.0	1,6 3,1	1,6 13,9	1,2 2,4
Total net primary production (t km ⁻² yr ⁻¹) (TPP) Total primary production/total respiration (TPP/TR)		5,949.1 3182.3	96,1 266.9	23,428.5 44.6	3,620.0 3.9	9.8	2,6 1.6	13,6 8.6	1,9 1.6
Net system production (t km ⁻² yr ⁻¹) (NSP)		5,950.9	96,5	23,953.7	2,686.3	6,974.1	950	11,9	669
Total primary production/total biomass (TPP/TB)		7,9	3,0	56,4	57.1	28.7	66	45.7	22.2
Connectance Index (CI)		0.2	0.3	0.2	0.4	-	-	-	0.3
System Omnivory Index (SOI)		0.07	0.06	0.05	0.06	÷	0.15	0.13	0.19

Table 4.16: Comparison of system statistics estimated by Ecopath model for Lake Baringo and other tropical lakes.

Source: Lake Volta (Mensah et al., 2019), Lake Malawi (Moreau, 1995), Lake Kariba (Moreau, 1997), Lake Awassa (Fetahi, 2005; Fetahi and Mengistou, 2007) and Lake Victoria: (Darwalla et al., 2010)

4.4.5 Prebal and model balancing diagnostics

The ecotrophic efficiency (EE), gross efficiency (GE) and biomass ratios were simultaneously used as model balancing criteria for the three trophic models generated in this study. The criteria are used to indicate if the models are sufficiently constrained physiolocally so that they are balanced ecologically and thermodynamically. The ecopath models are only valid if they are balanced and meet the model assumptions.

The results of ecotrophic efficiency (EE), biomass ratios, vital rates across trophic levels (TLs) and gross efficiency (GE) as balancing indicators are shown on Tables 4.13, 4.14 and 4.15. The results showed that the ecotrophic efficiencies (EE) were < 1.0 and the P/Q ratio was low and between 0.1 and 0.3 indicating the three ecopath models for Lake Baringo were balanced (Table 4.14). Generally, the ecosystem biomass decreased with increasing trophic level as expected by theory indicating that assumptions of the model (e.g. equilibrium situation) were not violated (Figure 4.21; Table 4.14) and the declining patterns formed a pre-balancing (Prebal) for the models.



Figure 4.21: Relationship between system biomass values and trophic levels for functional groups in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the years: (a): 1999, (b): 2010, and (c): 2020.

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

5.1 Spatio-temporal variations in selected water quality parameters and lake trophic status

The results of this study provided for the first time, a long-term assessment of the water quality and trophic status of Lake Baringo, Kenya, using water quality indices. There were spatio-temporal differences in the physico-chemical properties of the lake. It is likely that the differential influences of shoreline inputs and location of the influent rivers resulted in differences in water properties at the various stations. Some water quality parameters (turbidity, fluoride, total phosphorus, SiO₄⁴⁻, and DO) were found to be above the WHO (WHO, 2008; 2011) and APHA recommended thresholds (APHA, 2005) for livelihoods and ecological processes. For example, the dissolved oxygen (DO) values in all the stations were above the WHO recommended threshold of 5 mg. L^{-1} for human use of the lake water. Fluoride levels were above the WHO recommended threshold values of 1.50 mg. L⁻¹ for human consumption indicating that the water in Lake Baringo is unsuitable as drinking water and requires pretreatment before its consumption by the riparian community. The high fluoride levels (2.0 -13.0 mg L⁻¹) in Lake Baringo might have originated from natural (active volcanic eruption) and human (expansion of the irrigation area around the lake) processes, being one of the African Rift Valley Lakes which are reported to have high fluoride levels (Ayenew, 2008; Demelash et al., 2019). The effects of high fluoride concentration in natural water are the main cause of the development of dental fluorosis, responsible for brownish teeth (Edmunds and Smedley, 2013) and that is prevalent among the Lake Baringo riparian communities. Also, high fluoride levels expose the communities to cancer in extreme cases of exposition (> $7.5 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$) (Marshall, 1990).

Compared to international standard limits, DO, turbidity, fluoride, SiO₄⁴⁻, and TN were above the interval limit values fixed for human consumption by the WHO (2008, 2011) and aquatic life processes by APHA (2005) and Rodier et al. (2009), reflecting the poor conditions of Lake Baringo waters over the years. Soluble silica (SiO_4^{4-}) and total nitrogen (TN) concentrations in the lake were above those threshold values recommended by APHA and WHO at 5 mg L^{-1} and 100 µg L^{-1} , respectively, while other nutrients (nitrates, phosphates, TP, and ammonium) loads in the lake showed variations that were within both the WHO and APHA recommended levels for ecological processes (APHA, 2005; WHO, 2008). Also, the turbidity values of the lake were found to be above the WHO permissible levels (5 NTU) for drinking (WHO, 2008) and for support of aquatic life for some species (Bartram and Balance, 1996; Rodier et al., 2009; PNRM, 2009). High turbidity and total dissolved solids (TDS) have been reported to be the main physical indicators of water quality degradation in lakes (Wetzel, 2001) and may affect fisheries production and biodiversity (Aloo, 2002; Odada et al., 2006). In Lake Baringo, high turbidity has been reported to be a responsible factor that restricts the zooplankton abundance and diversity (Vörös and Padisák, 1991) which in turn affects the feeding habit of some fish species in the lake (Tarras-Wahlberg et al., 2003; Omondi et al., 2014).

Strong positive correlations were found between lake turbidity and rainfall in the watershed, and between lake water turbidity and WQI indicating the influence of watershed erosion on the lake water quality. Baok (2007) reported that the correlation between turbidity and total suspended solids is very high in lakes and determines light

reflectance and diffraction and hence the ecological processes. The negative relationship between Chl-a, and turbidity, found in this study, indicated the direct effect of turbidity on the light penetration into the water. High turbidity, therefore, reduces the productivity of the lake and is a likely cause of the low plankton diversity and reduced fisheries production in the lake (Tarras-Wahlberg *et al.*, 2003; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020). The high turbidity of the lake results mostly from the watershed erosion, the resuspension of the bottom sediments into the water column by the wind action, and partly from algal blooms (Oduor, 2003; Tarras-Wahlberg *et al.*, 2003; Omondi *et al.*, 2014). Recent attempts at watershed management (Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020) have seen progressive temporal positive changes in some parameters as reported in this study. However, there is a need for more aggressive integrated watershed management interventions such as aforestation and land-use policy changes to reduce sediment input to the lake (Grobbelaar, 1984; Schagerl and Oduor, 2003). Holistic watershed management is required to sustain the water quality of the lake and fisheries productivity for livelihoods.

The WQI values found for Lake Baringo in this study were greatly above the WHO (2008) permissible limits (WQI=100) for drinking water indicating that the water of Lake Baringo is currently "unsuitable for human consumption" (WHO, 2008), despite the continued use by the local communities. However, the organic pollution index (OPI) values (4.5 - 4.9) were low and within the recommended limits for non-organically polluted lakes (Leclercq *et al.*, 1987) indicating that the lake water is still organically unpolluted. Low organic nutrient loads are likely leached into the lake perhaps due to the less agricultural activities in the mostly semi-arid watershed. The ratio of N to P for the study period was less than 10 (OECD, 1982; Maberly *et al.*,

200), suggesting that N is the limiting nutrient for the primary production in the lake (OECD, 1882). This result shows that the management of the nutrient enrichment in the lake has to prioritize the focus on P reduction rather than N because the N, fixation by certain cyanobacteria allows an escape from N limitation (Vollenweider, 1975; Schindler, 1978).

The trophic state of the lake as measured by the TSI (TP) and the Carlson scale (CTSI, Carlson, 1977) indicated that the lake's trophic status has been variable from being mesotrophic, hypereutrophic to eutrophic over the period 2008-2020 and also varies over a monthly scale. Consequently, Lake Baringo's trophic status has been fluctuating over time indicating the instability of the lake's ecological processes due probably to climate variability and human activities in the watershed. Similar variability in the trophic status of lentic systems has been reported elsewhere and attributed to anthropogenic influences (Al-Haidarey, 2016). These results indicate that the classification of the trophic status of Lake Baringo will depend on the methods used and the overriding factors within the watershed at a particular time. Implementation of land-use management policies at the watershed scale is needed for the lake water to support economic livelihoods of riparian communities and to sustain ecological processes.

5.2 Water balance modeling and its sensitivity to hydro meteorological variations The hydro-climatic factors of the Lake Baringo Basin are similar to the regional climate characterized by a bimodal climate with rainy months (April to November) interrupted by dry months (December to March) driven by the twice-annual passage of the Intertropical Convergence Zone (Verschuren *et al.*, 2009). The results on Lake Baringo water balance components shows a strong similarity of the dynamics of precipitation in the basins of Rift Valley Lakes such as Naivasha and Turkana, indicating the same trends in both basins during heavy or slight rains. These observations concur with the results of Hulme *et al.* (2001) and Vandecasteele *et al.* (2010) who estimated that there was a wetting trend over the East-African region where some areas experienced increasing rainfall. The comparison of water levels between Lake Baringo and some other Rift Valley Lakes indicated that during 2002-2006, Rift Valley Lakes experienced low lake levels due to severe droughts related to the El-Niño Southern Oscillation cycle and forcing by the 2006 Indian Ocean dipole (Becker *et al.*, 2010). Lake Baringo also experienced shrinking up with the water level estimated at 1.5 m leading to the closure of the fishing activities from 2002 to 2003 (Odada *et al.*, 2006).

Currently (2020-2021), precipitation and river inflows represent 29.4% and 70.6%, respectively, of the overall inputs in the lake which is in disagreement with estimates in most Great African Lakes such as Lakes Kivu, Victoria, and Malawi where the precipitation contributes more than the runoff to the water balance (Bergonzini, 1998; Kumambala and Ervine, 2010; Muvundja *et al.*, 2014). The evaporation losses and losses due to irrigation abstraction and underground seepage represented 41.8%, 8.0% and 3.1% of the total water losses, respectively, in Lake Baringo. These results show that the lake loses most of its water through evaporation. The annual precipitation variations demonstrated a significant (p = 0.034) positive relationship with yearly lake level with a lower correlation coefficient ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.081$) due to probably some gaps in the lake water levels and precipitation data. These results concur with the recent findings of Taylor *et al.* (2013) that showed that the groundwater resources in East

Africa mostly depend on extreme rainfall rather than average rains. The gaps in lake levels is explained by the rising lake levels that make the water level gauges submerged during heavy rains while, the gaps in rainfall information is explained by both the scarcity of meteorological stations in the lower lake watershed and the poor maintenance of some meteorological stations in the lake basin.

The sensitivity analyses results showed that, in current conditions, the lake level is highly sensitive to changes in precipitation and evaporation, and moderately sensitive to air temperature, while less sensitive to relative humidity, and cloud cover fraction. This might be due to the estimate of some variables (eg. evaporation) which were not directly measured in the lake catchement. These results indicate that the water level will continue to drop following a decrease in the rainfall season and an increase in evaporation rates from the lake. These findings concur with those obtained by Kumambala and Ervine (2010) in Lake Malawi, Mbanguka et al. (2016) in Lake Babati, Muvundja et al. (2014) in Lake Kivu, and Borchardt and Trauth (2012) in lake Suguta where the lakes showed high sensitivity to changes in precipitation, except in Lake Tana where significant outflow led to the low sensitivity of the lake level to the precipitation (Kebede, et al., 2006). Lake level sensitivity to temperature obtained in Lake Baringo has been witnessed in other East African lakes such as Lake Zaway in Ethiopia (Vallet-Coulomb et al., 2001) and Lake Victoria (Yin and Nicholson, 1998; Yin et al., 2000). For instance, temperature decline of about 2°C is projected to lead to lake overflow while the relative humidity has less impact on the lake level. Similar findings on sensitivity to relative humidity were reported in Lake Ziway where seemingly the relative humidity was found to have no significant impact on the lake level (Vallet-Coulomb et al., 2001). The analyses showed the cloud cover to have less effect on the lake level demonstrating its lower influence on the evaporation rate in

Lake Baringo whereas its effect in Lake Nakuru-Elmenteita basin, Kenya, was found to be significant where 10% increase in cloudiness resulted in a 5.5% reduction of lake evaporation (Dühnforth, 2006). However, it is important to note that the calculation methods and assumptions may affect the lake sensitivity results discussed above. For instance, lake evaporation was estimated by the Thorthnwait Method, whose sensitivity to air temperature is relatively higher than in the Penman Method (Yin and Nicholson, 1998). Besides, the lake size and morphology are important factors affecting the lake's sensitivity to climatic variability (Olaka *et al.*, 2010).

It is also important to note that the sensitivity analysis done through the linear model demonstrated a negative correlation between lake level changes and evaporation in the catchment of the lake (Figure 4.9; Table 4.8). The model was less powerful with no significant relationship between the two variables probably due to lack of consistency in water level data and the short duration of evaporation data collection.

Currently (2020-2021), the losses of the water from the lake and its tributaries due to abstraction for irrigations and evaporation in the lake catchment have decreased by 69% and 37%, respectively, making the lake storage capacity, to roughly increase by about 75% from the period 1970-1995 to the period of January 2008-June 2021. This increased storage may explain the flooding of the banks of the lake over the last two years thereby expanding the lake surface area and volume (Welcomme, 2008; Grownaris *et al.*, 2015).

The results of the water balance model of Lake Baringo showed that precipitation and runoff represent 25% and 75% in 1970-1995 and 29.4% and 70.6% in 2020-2021 of the overall inputs, respectively (Table 4.9) indicating that the lake is mainly fed by its

tributeries than the direct rainfall water in the basin. These results are somehow in disagreement with estimates in Lake Kivu (54 vs. 46 %) of Bergonzini (1998) and (55 vs. 45 %) of Muvundja *et al.* (2014), Lake Victoria (Tate *et al.*, 2004; Sewagudde, 2009) and Lake Tana (Kabede *et al.*, 2006) where the precipitation is the highest contributor (> 50%) of the overall inputs. The results, therefore, imply a greater management of the lakes watershed in order to ensure continued supply of water to the lake. Evaporation and other losses (abstractions and seepage), represented 59.3 and 36.0 % in 1970-1995 and 41.8% and 11.1 % in 2020-21 (Table 4.9) of the total water losses, respectively, indicating a high lake level sensitivity to meteorological variable changes (Russell and Johnson, 2006). These results are in agreement with the results from other African lakes where evaporation is the main source of lake water losses (Bergonzini, 1998; Kabede *et al.*, 2016).

5.3 Effects of lake level fluctuations on water quality variables and fisheries

The results of this study highlighted inter- and intra-annual water level variations in Lake Baringo and clear patterns across years for the long-term water level database (1956-2020). They also demonstrated a nearly two-decade periodicity or oscillation in extreme peak water levels across a 64-year time frame. This periodicity is likely associated with oscillation in abnormal rainfall events in the region due to climate cycle variability in the lake watershed over time (Ngaira, 2006; Aura *et al.*, 2020) likely caused by interannual changes of the Indian Ocean dipole (Bergonzini *et al.*, 2004; Thiery *et al.*, 2014, 2015; Hirons and Turner, 2018).

The average annual water levels (WLs) and amplitude intensities have been fluctuating in Lake Baringo over the last six decades, as also witnessed in other East-African lakes (Bergonzini, 1998, 2004; Muvundja et al., 2014; Kolding and Van Zwieten, 2012; Hirons and Turner, 2018) and elsewhere (Blenckner, 2005; Neckles, et al., 1990; White et al., 2008). The annual level changes in Lake Baringo are characterized by variable water quality changes ranging from poor to good water quality months and years with likely resultant effects on lake ecology (Hickley et al., 2004) and livelihoods (Aura et al., 2020). In the long-term dataset, the lake level has fluctuated from a low of 1.47 m in 1956 to peak levels (13.95 m) in 2017. The findings show Lake Baringo water levels to be unstable as evidenced in several African lakes (Lakes Turkana, Malawi, Kivu, Victoria, Tanganyika, and others) since the early 1960s due to severe drought and flood events (Mercier et al., 2002; Boko et al., 2007, Muvundja et al., 2014). These lake level variations have been related to the warning over the Indian Ocean during the years of El Nino-southern oscillation (ENSO) event (Mercier et al., 2002; Bergonzini et al., 2004; Thiery et al., 2014a, 2015; Hirons and Turner, 2018) leading to flooding in the East African Lakes region. The years with lower water levels in Lake Baringo and others are attributable to probably drought situations likely caused by La Niña events induced by anomalies of low zonal wind intensity (ZWI) over the Indian Ocean (Bergonzini et al., 2004; Khaki, and Awange, 2021).

The mean monthly lake level dramatically increased during wet season from April 2020 to November 2020, while during the dry months (December 2020 to June 2021), the lake level progressively dropped down indicating that the precipitation plays a key role in the lake level changes in Lake Baringo basin. These results suggest that the

rain to be the potential driver of the seasonal shift of the lake water quality and trophic state as observed elsewhere (González-Bergonzoni et al., 2016). At monthly scale, the results also indicated that the very dry months of January and February for both years 2020 and 2021 provided a good water quality of the lake as WOI approached the WHO recommended value of WQI ≤ 100 indicating less influence of nutrients loads with associated particules and erosion effets from the lake basin through rivers. This is related to the location of the Lake Baringo basin in a semi-arid region with less precipitation (600 mm and 900 mm) but high annual evaporation rate of 1650-2300 mm (Odada et al., 2006) and water abstraction from rivers upstreams for agricultural purposes (Nyakeya et al., 2020, Walumona, Pers. Obs.). The lake depends mostly on its tributaries originating from the humid and hilly areas where the annual precipitation is very high varing between 1,100 mm and 2,700 mm (Odada et al., 2006). These results also indicated that in general, the lake level is unstable and that the water of Lake Baringo was of good quality in months closest to the highest longterm monthly mean (DLTM = 1.3 m), and of bad quality in months with decreasing lake levels indicating the role of dilution on the water quality of the lake (González-Bergonzoni et al., 2016).

In addition to natural events (flood and droughts), human watershed activities such as irrigated agriculture, damming of rivers inflowing to the lake, livestock, and domestic abstractions may have contributed to variations in lake levels through influence on water balance components (Odaada *et al.*, 2006; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020; Herrnegger *et al.*, 2021). In this study, a significant direct correlation between long-term fisheries production, fish species average condition, and water level changes was found indicating that the WLFs are the main driver of fisheries production and water quality variation in the lake. The fisheries production-lake level relationship has also been

reported for Lake Turkana in Kenya (Kolding, 1993a) and elsewhere (Gasith and Gafny, 1990; Neckles *et al.*, 1990; Gasith *et al.*, 1996; Gafny *et al.*, 1992; Kolding *et al.*, 2012) and may be due to mechanisms related to water-level mediated changes in fish species catchability. The concordance of water quality variables with water level fluctuations (WLFs) is expected as water levels are directly controlled by hydrological inputs driven by severe droughts and floods in the region. An increase or draw-down in water level causes a shift in the lake's hydrological budget that might affect the ecological process in the lake (Gafny *et al.*, 1992; Canning *et al.*, 2017). The relationship between water level (WL) and the lake surface area demonstrated that a 1 m increase in water level leads to about 90 km² change in Lake Baringo's surface area. This finding indicated that high water levels create flood pulse regimes that provide enhanced littoral habitats, food, and breeding areas for fish species that contribute to increased fisheries yields (Gownaris *et al.*, 2015).

Increased inter- and intra-annual water level fluctuations and the associated interactions between aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems allow the nutrient pump to boost primary production among other effects (Karenge and Kolding, 1995; Kolding and van Zwieten, 2012). Studies in African lakes (Lakes Kariba in Zambia/Zimbabwe and Turkana in Kenya) and elsewhere, demonstrated significant concordances between fisheries production, and water level fluctuations (Melack, 1976; Downing *et al.*, 1990; Kolding and van Zwieten, 2012). In Lake Baringo, the lake level decline leads to significant losses of the open water habitat, thereby reducing the carrying capacity of species that dominate its pelagic zone. Moreover, the lake level decline shrinks the floodplain area and leads to losses of littoral habitats, feeding and breeding habitats of some species (Karenge and Kolding, 1995; Mageria and Kibwage, 2009;

Grownaris *et al.*, 2015). This might probably be the reason for the low catchability of some commercially valuable fishery species (e.g. *O. niloticus baringoensis* and *Labeobarbus intermedius*) of Lake Baringo during the years of lower levels in the lake (Mlewa *et al.*, 2005; Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020). In Lake Turkana, Kenya, the majority of the lake's endemic species are found below the 10-m contour indicating that declines in inshore and offshore habitats would have severe ecological consequences for these species (Hopson, 1982; Grownaris *et al.*, 2015).

Regression and Gaussian analysis outputs in this study demonstrated the highly responsive nature of turbidity and WQI to increasing DLTM, indicating that hydrological indices are the major drivers of the water quality changes in the lake. The results of the influence of lake level on physico-chemical variables are in agreement with the findings from most tropical reservoirs and lakes (Winfried, 2004; Wulandari, 2015). For example, in Lake Tana, Ethiopia, the plant nutrients are quickly exhausted during draw-downs, and their effects on biological production become less important (Karengea and Kolding, 1995). The results of this study also indicated that the periods of low WLs were characterized by lower lake primary production measured as chlorophyll-a concentrations, indicating a negative effect of WLFs on the lake production in terms of phytoplankton biomass in the short and long-terms. This would also likely explain the reported secondary production (zooplankton) limitation in Lake Baringo (Schagerl and Oduor, 2003; Tarras-Wahlberg et al., 2003). The observed changes in water quality parameters and fisheries production as a result of lake level changes emphasizes the need for longterm monitoring of the lake's catchment and the need for an integrated lake management approach. There is also a need of implementing appropriate climate

adaptation and mitigation measures in the lake catchment area in order to mitigate the influence of lake level variability.

5.4 Modeling the food web properties and fisheries dynamics in Lake Baringo using Ecopath mass-balanced model

5.4.1 Trophic models of Lake Baringo

The three trophic models of the lake all indicated lowed top predation abundance. In the 1999 lake model, there is low predator and zooplankton biomass with subsequent increase in phytoplankton biomass. In the 2010 and 2020 models, there is increased zooplankton abundance perhas as a result of lower zooplanktivore abundance but this was not enough to depress phytoplankton biomass significantly. The 2020 model of the lake shows a greater detrital content in the food web. Based on the findings of Pauly *et al.* (1998), the 2010 trophic model of Lake Baringo indicated less biomass of zooplanktivore (Table 4.13) resulting in an increase in phytoplankton biomass (the food of *O. niloticus baringoen sis*) due to the overexploitation of zooplanktons. This trophic cscade could explain the rareness of *O. niloticus* in the fishermen's catches during the same period among other reasons (Nyakeya *et al.*, 2020).

The ecotrophic efficiency (EE) values of detritus and of phytoplankton in the lake were fluctuating over time indicating variation in relative importance of the resource in the system over time. The instability of detritus and phytoplanktons in the lake maybe also related to the fluctuating water quality of the lake due to the changing trophic state of the lake caused by the anthropogenic activities in the catchment (Walumona *et al.*, 2021). For phytoplankton, the EE values show increase in its utilization in the lake over time by its consumers' (mainly zooplankton and *O*. *niloticus)* affecting negatively their biomasses. Also, the findings of the three models indicate increases in the biomasses of the fish functional groups over time suggesting a recovery process of the lake fishery (González-Bergonzoni *et al.*, 2016) also supported by increasing trend in the lake's overhead (ability to recover) (Table 4.15). Lower *EE* values for primary producers (phytoplankton and detritus) indicating the food availability in the ecosystems have been found in Lakes Volta (Mensah *et al.*, 2019), Awassa (Fetahi and Mengistou, 2007), and in Manwan Reservoir (Deng *et al.*, 2015).

The *EE* value for the top predator (*Protopterus aethiopicus*) in the Lake Baringo ecosystem including other commercial fish species (*C. gariepinus, O. niloticus* and *L. intermedius*) was zero (0.000) for all the trophic models, indicating their low predation rate and that their stocks have been underexploited due to predaction. This is likely due to lack of secondary predators in the lake or maybe a data weakness as evidenced by low pedigree values.

The decline in the cycling rates (Finn's index) and mean transfer efficiencies (TE) from 1999 to 2020 suggests the lake to be less efficient in inorganic recycling and more susceptible to environmental disturbances over time (Finn, 1976). These findings are typical of systems that are ecologically (Odum, 1969). Based on cycling rates (Finn's index and inflow indices (system omnvory, connectance index; CI), and others that the lake ecosystem could be categorized as immature, has been recovering and, becoming progressively resistant against perturbations over time (Strayer, 1991). The decrease in Finn's cycling Index (FCI) throughout the period of the study especially between 2010 and 2020 related probably to the lower abundance of filter

feeders and other recycling agants in the lake ecosystem compared to other exploited ecosystems (Ortiz *et al.*, 2015). The total production for Lake Baringo (2010 and 2020) and Lake Kariba was much higher, compared to other African lakes such as Lakes Awassa, Volta, Malawi and Victoria. This suggests high productivity in Lakes Baringo and Kariba compared to others which gives scope for more manipulations in the lake (Hickley *et al.*, 2004).

5.4.2 Ecological functioning indicators

Total system throughput (TST) is the sum of all flows in the ecosystem: sum of all consumption, the sum of all exports from the ecosystem, the sum of all the respiration flows and the sum of all flows into the detritus representing the size of the entire ecosystem (Ulanowicz, 1986). The TST values of Lake Baringo (Table 4.15) are high for the three ecopath models emphasizing the ecological immaturity stage of the lake related to its young geological age (Odum, 1969). Other studies on tropical ecosystems (Abdul and Adekoya, 2016) have been reported to significantly have high TST values indicative of young relative age (Polovina, 1984). The net system production (NSP) of Lake Baringo varied between 964.46 t km² yr⁻¹ in 2010 and 5,950.99 t km² yr⁻¹ in 1999 supporting the notion that the lake's ecosystem is in an immature developmental stage as suggested by Kumar *et al.* (2015).

The TPP/TR and TPP/B ratios (Table 4.16) are indicators of the degree of system maturity (Odum, 1969; Christensen, 1995). At the young stage of maturity, the ratio TPP/TR is greater than 1, the primary production exceeding the rate of community respiration (Odum, 1969). The ratio between the total primary production and total biomass, (TPP/TB) and the ratio between total primary production and total

respiration (TPP/TR) showed high values for all the three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) suggesting the immaturity of the lake's ecosystem. At the maturity stage, ecosystems are characterized by lower values of TPP/B ratio related to biomass accumulates as the ecosystem develops (Odum, 1971). The system omnivory Index (SOI) in Lake Baringo was lower over time highlighting the low diversity in diets and lack of specialists also characteristic of developing systems (Kumar *et al.*, 2015). The recent geological origin of Lake Baringo supports Odum's theory (Odum, 1969) that ecosystems at the youngest stages of maturity are characterized by higher ration TPP/TR as found for Lake Baringo.

In general, the fishery indicators (TLc, PPR and GFE) showed lower and fluctuating values indicating that the lake's fishery has been less sustainable characterized by the changing fishing intensity based mostly on the apex predator (*P. aethiopicus*) over time. These results indicate the possibility of Lake Baringo's ecosystem to be affected by both ecosystem dynamics (such as predator-prey interactions) (Angelini *et al.*, 2006) due probably to the low diversity in diets and lack of specialists and external factors (such as intensity of fishing) over time (Heymans *et al.*, 2004; Shannon *et al.*, 2004; Libralato, 2008).

Keystone functional groups are defined as species with a structuring role within ecosystems and the food webs that interconnect with a relatively low biomass and hence food intake (Power *et al.*, 1996). They strongly also influence the abundances of other species and the ecosystem dynamics (Piraino *et al.*, 2002). The index assigned relatively low keystoneness to functional groups with high abundance (e.g., *P. aethiopicus* and *C. gariepinus*) and high keystoneness to functional groups with low abundance (*O. niloticus* and zooplankton). The model identified *O. niloticus baringoensis* to be the keystone species in Lake Baringo affecting the population structure in the lake.

Another important result is that *Oreochrimis niloticus* affects the population structure in the lake through top-down influences characteristic of keystone species (Paine, 1969; Davic, 2003)). This result concurs with those of Libralato *et al.* (2006) where keystone species did not always exert their high impact by means of top-down effects. However, results found in many ecosystems indicated that keystone functional groups exert their effect via top-down controls (Wootton, 1994; Wootton *et al.*, 1996; Berlow, 1999). Nonetheless, bottom-up influences can also be important as shown in this study for *O. niloticus baringoensis* and elsewhere (Bustamante *et al.*, 1995; Menge, 1995; Libralato *et al.*, 2006) without contradicting previous findings that demonstrated the high importance of top-down controls in keystoneness (Paine, 1966; Menge *et al.*, 1994; Estes *et al.*, 1998).

The three trophic models (1999, 2010, 2020) calculated lower pedigree index values suggesting some likely uncertainties in the input data due to probably the lack of certain scientific information on some key functional groups such as benthic

communities, macrophyte, mammals (hyppos and crocodiles), not used in the model, and to certain gaps in the fisheries data used in the ecopath model of Lake Baringo. The slight difference in the Pedigree index among the three models (1999, 2010, 2020) can be related to the different data sources and the need to re-parameterize the model when more data become available. According to Villanueva, *et al.* (2006), the estimation of data inputs in the model from *in situ* sampling wheneve possible is recommended to avoid uncertainties associated with data collection from lilerature and/or similar models. The Ecopath models developed in this study are pioneering for the lake and most lakes in Kenya, and constitute the first and useful trophic tool to explain the lake's functioning. These results are also useful for fisheries management decision makers in understanding temporal trends in lake processes and fisheries. However, the novel will require reparametization in future when more data becomes available as is the case for many pioneering models (Dowling *et al.*, 2012; Natugonza *et al.*, 2016).

CHAPTER SIX

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Conclusions

This study evaluated the water quality, fisheries and trophic status of Lake Baringo, a rift valley lake in Kenya designated as a Ramsar site due to its high biodiversity. Additionally, the lake's water balance components were modeled and its sensitivity to meteorological variables was evaluated. Monthly WQI values exceeded 100, the WHO upper limit for drinking water indicating that the lake's water is not of good quality (unsuitable) for human consumption. The poor quality of water related to high value of WQI in the lake was attributed to the higher values of turbidity caused by rainfall-mediated erosion in the catchment. There is a need for a comprehensive and integrated lake catchment management plan to combat the soil erosion in the Lake Baringo watershed. The organic pollution index (OPI) results showed that the Lake water is not organically polluted; however, the spatial variation in TN and TP concentrations suggests the possibility of localized eutrophication. Nutrients with the highest relative weights (TP, TN, NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺, PO₄³⁻) showed less effect on water quality indices (WQI and OPI) indicating minimal effects of agricultural runoff on the lake. The lake's trophic status has been changing over time from hypereutrophic to mesotrophic indicating temporal variability in anthropogenic influences.

This study is the first attempt to assess the water balance components of Lake Baringo, in order to produce a data-based information needed for better management of the water resources of small lakes in the dry areas. The lake outflows used in the model were based on the underground seepage, the evaporation rates calculated empirically, and the abstraction of water from the lake tributaries for irrigation purposes. The inflows are constituted by the rainfall estimated from meteorological stations in the lake watershed and the groundwater flux. The results showed that for both 1970-1995 and 2008-2021 periods, the total inflows into the lake is dominated by the surface runoff contributions of 75% and 71%, respectively, while the lake loses most of its water through evaporation; 59% during 1970-1995 and 42% during 2008-June 2021. A 13% reduction in the annual water abstraction was observed from 1970 to 2021 with a rise of 9% of evaporation rates resulting in a 75% increase of the water storage in the lake. This contributed to the maintenance of the stability of the water storage in the lake. The results of lake level sensitivity analysis to climatic variability showed the lake to be sensitive to rainfall and Evaporation indicating that the decline in rainfall or the rise in Evaporation from their current conditions woud lead to significant drop in water levels in Lake Baringo. The results of water balance analysis are useful for an integrated approach to the lake's basin management that includes land-use controls. A temperature decrease of about 2°C is projected to lead to lake's overflow.

The results also highlight the link between water quality properties, fishery yields, species condition, and WLFs in Lake Baringo. These linkages result from the influence of WLFs on the critical water quality parameters in this lake like turbidity, DO, electrical conductivity, temperature, and the water quality index (WQI). There is a direct link between years of high lake level and increased fisheries landings perhaps mediated through increased habitat availability as nursery and feeding grounds for species, however, the precise mechanisms will require further investigations. During

periods of droughts with less inflow due to both natural (climate variability) and anthropogenic influences (damming of inflow rivers for water abstraction for both irrigation and drinking purposes), the water level decreases in tropical lakes, like Lake Baringo, which may lead to a decline in littoral habitats due to the water volume reduction, and to changes in ecological functions. For example, species may be predisposed to high predation pressure due to habitat shifts and reduced refugia areas. The severe decline in lake levels (case of Lake Baringo) may significantly alter the physico-chemical characteristics of African lakes with resultant effects on the ecological structure and functioning of these lakes. The observed changes in water quality parameters and fisheries production as a result of Lake Baringo level changes emphasizes the need for long-term monitoring of the lake's catchment and the need for an integrated lake management approach.

The present study is the first completed Ecopath model analyzing the trophic aquatic ecosystems structure dynamics and ecosystem functioning for Lake Baringo, and for most lakes in Kenya. The structure of the food web in Lake Baringo comprised three trophic levels in the three annual models, with *P. aethiopicus* species feeding at the highest trophic level and *O. niloticus baringoensis* the keystone fish species in the lake. Network analysis demonstrated the importance of detritus and phytoplankton groups in the food web (trophic level I) and their susceptibility to predation changes by fish functional groups at higher trophic levels in the lake. The lower EE values at the trophic level I indicate less demand of primary producers (detritus and phytoplankton) suggesting a weak bottom-up control in the lake's ecosystem. The network analysis using ecosystem maturity indices (TPP/TR and TPP/B) described

Lake Baringo as being in an unstable stage and a developing stage process towards its ecological maturity or equilibrium.

Keystoneness as calculated from EwE for the functional groups of the three (1999, 2010, 2020) food webs showed that the *Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis* (the endemic tilatipia) was a fish species characterized by high keystoneness index (KS*i*) and total relative impact (ε_i) with low biomass in the lake compared to other functional groups. Also all the fish species in the ecopath models were characterized by low EE indicating their underexploitation in the lake and/or the need of using predators such as mammals (eg. crocodiles) in the Ecopath models of the lake in order to enhance trophic cascades. There is need for more data in order to re-parameterize the generated Ecopath model of Lake Baringo for a more robust undanstanding of the lake functions.

6.2 Recommendations

The following recommendations are made following this study:

1. The findings of the present study indicate that the water of Lake Baringo, during the study periods, was of bad quality for human consumption requiring a pre-treatment policy (e.g., boiling of water, chlorination, etc.) before human consumption, and that the water quality of the lake based on the Carlson's Trophic State Index (TSI) has been fluctuating from hypereutrophic (water of very bad quality) to mesotrophic state (water of moderate quality) over time at intra- and inter-annual scales. There is need for implementation of water and land-use management policies at the watershed scale for the lake's water

quality management in order to support livelihoods and sustain ecological processes.

- 2. The results of this study indicate the necessity to better monitor the eco-hydrology of Lake Baringo and its catchment. There is need for controls on the water abstractions from the inflows and consequent effects on lake water levels. There is need for continuous monitoring and generation of quality data on precipitation and other meteorological variables (eg. evaporation, air temperature) on the lake and in the watershed, in addition to the measurement of discharge of rivers to the lake. This information is necessary for validating and updating the water balance components of the lake as estimated in this study. Water balance models are helpful in quantification and predictions of potential impacts of climate change and human-induced influence on lake functioning. The results indicate the need of bathymetric and topographic surveys of the lake to obtain information about temporal changes in the southern zone of the lake, the shallowest and fishing zone, as well as to obtain lake level induced shoreline changes throughout the lake for sustainable fisheries management in the lake.
- **3.** The results of effects of WLFs on the fisheries of Lake Baringo indicate significant relationships between the average condition factor of the native species, *Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis*, and the annual lake level amplitude as well as between the water quality variables and WLFs. However, different relationships were observed between catches of the lungfish, *Protopterus aethiopicus*, and *Labeobarbus intermedius* with WLFs in the lake

indicating a species-specific influence of WLFs on species. The results demonstrate that WLFs of Lake Baringo are a significant driver of fish species biomass and physico-chemical properties of the lake. Therefore, the study emphasizes the need for long-term monitoring of the lake's limnological characteristics, and fishery production and catchment activities for the purposes of integrated lake management. Such management will require monitoring of upstream developments in order to maintain natural inflows during draw-down seasons for Lake Baringo's ecological functioning and fishery production. The results also indicated that the periods of low WLs were characterized by lower lake primary production, measured as chlorophyll-a concentrations, indicating a negative effect of WLFs on the lake production in terms of phytoplankton biomass likely affecting the biomass and diversity of zooplankton community in the lake. There is also a need of implementing appropriate climate adaptation and mitigation measures (eg. reforestation) in the lake catchment area in order to mitigate the influence of climate change and human influence (river damming) on the lake level variation for the sustainable fisheries management and the maintenance of ecological functioning of the lake.

4. The results of the Ecopath modeling suggest Lake Baringo to be in a fluctuating ecological stage with a trend towards the ecological equilibrium (maturity). The models showed that the ecotrophic efficient (EE) was equal to zero for all fish species suggesting their underexploitation in the lake (relative to optimum offtakes) or the absence of their consumers in the models. This may be due probably to the lack of scientific data on all the predators in the

lake and may affect the accuracy of the model. The fisheries indicators (PPR, TLc and GFE) and the keystoneness index (KSi) indicated that Lake Baringo's fish biomass also fluctuated over time due probably to the lake level changes, and that *O. niloticus baringoensis* functions as a keystone species in the lake. Fisheries management should ensure sustainable catch of *O. n. baringoensis* in order to preserve its keystone function in the lake. Model outputs indicate the lake's ecological resilience capacity has increased over time but the contributing factors are not clear. The generated Ecopath model of the lake will require re-parameterization in the future when more data becomes available on the functional groups not included in the model.

REFERENCES

- Abdul, W. O., and Adekoya, E. O. (2016). Preliminary Ecopath model of a tropical coastal estuarine ecosystem around bight of Benin, Nigeria. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 99(12): 909-923.
- Abdul-Malak, D. A., Livingstone, S. R., Pollard, D., Polidoro, B. A., Cuttelod, A., Bariche, M., and Tunesi, L. (2011). Overview of the conservation status of the marine fishes of the Mediterranean Sea (vii + 61 pp). Gland, Switzerland and Malaga, Spain: IUCN.
- Abobi, S. M., Kluger, L. C., and Wolff, M. (2021). Comparative assessment of food web structure and fisheries productivity of three reservoirs in Ghana. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 28(6): 573-591.
- Adakole, J. A., Abulode, D. S., and Balarabe, M. L., (2008). Assessment of water quality of a man –made Lake in Zaria, Nigeria. In Sengupta M. and Dalwap R. (Editor), Processing of Taal 2007, the 12th World Lake Conference: 1273 1282.
- Afsin, M., (1997). Hydrochemical evolution and water quality along the groundwater flowpath in the Sandikli Plain, Afyon Turkey. Environ. Geol., **31(3-4)**: 221-230.https://doi.org/10.1007/s002540050183
- Ahuja, S. (2009). Handbook of Water Purity and Quality. Amsterdam, Academic Press. Elsevier. First Edition. New York. pp 435.
- Akivaga1, E. M., Otieno, F. A. O., Kipkorir, E. C., Kibiiy, J. and Shitote, S. (2010). Impact of introducing reserve flows on abstractive uses in water stressed Catchment in Kenya: Application of WEAP21 model, International Journal of the Physical Sciences, 5(16): 2441-2449.

- Al-Haidarey, M., Abdumunem, I., Abbas, M., and Al-Ansari, N. (2016). The trophic state index of Bahr Al-Najaf depression reservoir. *Iraq Journal of Environmental Hydrology*, 24: 1–10
- Allen, D. J., and Darling, W. G. (1992). Geothermics and hydrogeology of the Kenya Rift Valley between Lake Baringo and Lake Turkana. British Geological Survey Research Report SD/92/1, Keyworth, Nottingham.
- Allen, K. R. (1971). Relation between production and biomass. J. Fish. Res. Board Can., **28:** 1573-1581.
- Allison, E. H. and Horemans, B. (2006). Putting the principles of the sustainable livelihoods approach into fisheries development policy and practice. Marine policy, **30(6)**: 757-766.
- Alobaidy, A. H. M. J., Maulood, B. K., and Kadhem, A. J. (2010). Evaluating raw and treated water quality of Tigris River within Baghdad by index analysis. *Journal of Water Resource and Protection*, 2(7): 629.
- Aloo, P. A. (2002). Effects of climate and human activities on the ecosystem of Lake Baringo. In: *East African Great Lakes: Limnology, Paleolimnology, and Biodiversity*, (eds E. Odada & D. Olago) pp. 335-47. Kluwer Academic Publishers, London.
- Angelini, R., Agostinho, A. A., and Gomes, L. C. (2006). Modelling energy flow in a large Neotropical reservoir: A tool to evaluate fishing and stability. *Neotropical Ichthyology*, 4:253–260.

https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252006000200011.

- ANZECC (2000). Australian and New Zealand guidelines for fresh and marine water quality. Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council and Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand, Canberra, 1-103.
- APHA (2005). Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, A. Eaton et al. (eds), 21st edition (Centennial edition), APHA, AWWA, and WEF. Washington DC, USA.
- Ashley, G. M., Maitima Mworia, J., Muasya, A. M., Owen, R. B., Driese, S. G., Hover, V. C., Renaut, R. W., Goman, H. F., Mathai, S., and Blatt, S. H. (2004). Sedimentation and recent history of a freshwater wetland in a semiarid environment: Loboi Swamp, Kenya, East Africa. Sedimentology, 51: 1301–1322
- Aston, R. J., and Milner, A. G. P. (1980). A comparison of populations of the isopod Asellus aquaticus above and below power stations in organically polluted reaches of the River Trent. Freshwater biology, **10(1)**: 1-14.
- Aura, C. M., Nyamweya, C. S., Odoli, C. O., Owiti, H., Njiru, J. M., Otuo, P. W., Waithaka, E., and Malala, J. (2020). Consequences of calamities and their management: the case of COVID-19 pandemic and flooding on inland capture fisheries in Kenya, *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, doi: <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1016/j.jglr.2020.09.007.
- Ayenew, T. (2008a). The distribution and hydrogeological controls of fluoride in the groundwater of central Ethiopian rift and adjacent highlands. Environ. Geol., 54(16): 1313-1324. (PDF). Fluoride in Natural Waters. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/278649707_Fluoride_in_Natural_Waters https://www.researchgate.net/publication/278649707_Fluoride_in_Natural_Waters https://www.researchgate.net https://www.researchgate.net https://www.researchgate.net https://www.researchgate.net https://www.researchgate.net https://www.researchgate.net <a href="https://www.researchgate.net"/www.researchgate.net"/

- Ayenew, T. and Becht, R. (2008b). Comparative assessment of the water balance and hydrology of selected Ethiopian and Kenyan Rift Lakes. Lakes & Reserv. Res. Manag., 13: 181–196.
- Bahroun, S. O. F. I. A., and Bousnoubra, H. K. (2011). Évaluation de l'indice de pollution organique dans les eaux naturelles cas de la région d'El Tarf (Nord-Est Algérien). *LARHYSS Journal*, 9: 172–178.
- Ballot, A., Pflugmacher, S., Wiegand, C., Kotut, K. and Krienitz, L. (2003).Cyanobacterial toxins in Lake Baringo, Kenya. *Limnologica*, 33: 2–9.
- Baok, G. (2007). Pollution des eaux des rivières et impact sur les populations riveraines: cas de la rivière Mgoua dans la zone industrielle de Douala-Bassa.
 Master en gestion de l'eau option environnement, Université de Dschanng-FASA. En ligne sur http://www. Memoireonline.com.
- Barton, C. E., Solomon, D. K., Bowman, J. R., Cerling, T. E., and Sayer, M. D. (1987). Chloride budgets in transient lakes: Lakes Baringo, Naivasha, and Turkana. Limnology and Oceanography, **32**: 745–751.
- Bartram, J. and Ballance, R. (1996). Water quality monitoring A practical Guide to the Design and Implementation of Freshwater quality studies and monitoring programmes. UNEP/UNESCO. London.
- Beadle, L. C. (1932). Scientific results of the Cambridge Expedition to the East African Lakes 1930–1931. The waters of some East African lakes in relation to their fauna and flora. Journal of the Linnean Society (Zoology), 38: 157– 211.

- Becker, M., Llovel, W., Cazenave, A., Güntner, A. and Crétaux, J.-F. (2010). Recent hydrological behaviour of the East African great lakes region inferred from GRACE, satellite altimetry and rainfall observations. C. R. Geoscience, 342: 223-233, doi:10.1016/j.crte.2009.12.010.
- Bergonzini, L. (1998). Bilans hydriques des lacs du rift Est-Africain (lacs Kivu, Tanganyika, Rukwa et Nyassa). Série Sciences Géologiques. Vol. 103, Musée Royal de l'Afrique Centrale, Tervuren (Belgique).
- Bergonzini, L., Richard, Y., Petit, L. and Camberlin, P. (2004). Zonal circulations over the Indian and Pacific oceans and the level of lakes Victoria and Tanganyika. *International Journal of Climatology*, **24**: 1613-1624.
- Berlow, E. L. (1999). Strong effects of weak interactions in ecological communities. Nature, **398:** 330–334.
- Beverton, R. J. H., and Holt, S. J. (1956). A review of methods for estimating mortality rates in fi sh populations, with special reference to sources of bias in catch sampling. Rapp Proces-verb Reun Cons Int Explor Mer, 140: 67-83. Link: <u>https://bit.ly/2WofPoO</u>.
- Bhateria, R., and Jain, D. (2016). Water quality assessment of lake water: A review. Sustainable Water Resources Management, 2: 161–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40899-015-0014-7</u>.
- Blenckner, T. (2005). A conceptual model of climate-related effects on lake ecosystems. Hydrobiologia; **533:** 1-14.

- Boko, M., Niang, I., Nyong, A., Vogel, C., Githeko, A., Medany, M., Osman-Elasha,
 B., Tabo, R. and Yanda, P. (2007). Africa. In: Prry, M. I., Canziani, O. F.,
 Palutikof, J. P., van der Linden, P. J., Hanson, C. E. (Eds.), Climate Change
 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II
 to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate
 Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 433-467.
- Bootsma, H. A. and Hecky, R. F. (1993). Conservation of the African Great Lakes: a limnological perspective. Conservation Biology, **7:** 644-656.
- Borchardt, S. and Trauth, M. H. (2012). Remotely-sensed evapotranspiration estimates for an improved hydrological modeling of the early Holocene megalake Suguta, northern Kenya Rift. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol., 361–362: 14-20.
- Bordalo, A. A., Teixeira, R., and Wiebe, W. J. (2006). A water quality index applied to an international shared river basin: the case of the Douro River. Environmental management, **38(6)**: 910-920.
- Britton, J. R. and Harper, D. M. (2008). Juvenile growth of two tilapia species in lakes Naivasha and Baringo, Kenya. Ecology of Fresh Water Fish, **17:** 481s in
- Britton, J. R., Jackson, M. C., Murchiri, M., Tarras-Wahlberg, H., Harper, D. M. and Grey, J. (2009). Status, ecology and conservation of an endemic fish, Oreochromis niloticus baringoensis, in Lake Baringo, Kenya. Aquatic Conservation, **19(5)**: 487–496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.998</u>.
- Britton, J. R., Ngeno, J., Lugonzo, J. and Harper, D. M. (2005). Can an introduced, non indigenous species save the fisheries of Lakes Baringo and Naivasha, Kenya? In Proceedings, 11TH World Lakes Conference Nairobi, Kenya, 31 October–4th November 2005, 2: 568–572.

- Brown, R. M., McClelland, N. I., Deininger, R. A., and O'Connor, M. F. (1972). A water quality index—Crashing the psychological barrier. In *Indicators of environmental quality* (pp. 173–182). Springer.
- Bryan, R. B., (1994). Land degradation and the development of land use policies in a transitional semi-arid region. *Advances in Geoecology*, 27, 1-1.
- Bustamante, R. H., Branch, G. M. and Eekhout, S. (1995). Maintenance of an exceptional intertidal grazer biomass in South Africa—subsidy by subtidal kelps. Ecology, **76:** 2314–2329.
- Campbell, L. M., Osano, O., Hecky, R. E. and Dixon, D. G. (2003). Mercury in fish from three rift valley lakes (Turkana, Naivasha and Baringo), Kenya, East Africa. Environmental Pollution, **125**: 281-286.
- Canning A. D., Death R. G. and Gardner E. M. (2017). The effect of forest canopy and flood disturbance on New Zealand stream food web structure and robustness. Austral Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12573.
- Canning, A. D., and Death, R. G. (2021). The influence of nutrient enrichment on riverine food web function and stability. Ecol Evol., 11: 942–954. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ece3.7107.
- Carlson, R. E. (1977). A trophic state index for lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 22: 361–369.
- Carlson, R. E., and Simpson, J. (1996). *A coordinator's guide to volunteer lake monitoring methods* (p. 96). North American Lake Management Society.
- Carpenter, S. R., Caraco, N. F., Correll, D. L., Howarth, R. W., Sharpley, A. N., and Smith, V. H. (1998). Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecological applications, 8(3): 559-568.
- Chapman, D.V. (1996). Water Quality Assessment-A Guide to Use Biota, Sediment and Water in Environmental Monitoring. 2nd Edn., ISBN: 041921590, pp: 626.
- Chapman, L., Chapman E., Kaufman, L., and Liem K. (1992). The role of papyrus swamps as barriers of fish dispersal. A case study and implications for fish diversity in Lake Victoria basin. In Biodiversity, Fisheries and the Future of Lake Victoria Conference Abstracts, p. 6.
- Christensen, V. (1995). Managing fisheries involving predator species and prey. Reviews in Fish Biology, **6:** 417–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/</u>BF00164324.
- Christensen, V. and Pauly D. (1993). Trophics Model of Aquatic Ecoystem (Manila: ICLARM Conference Proceedings), p 390.
- Christensen, V., and Lai, S., (2007). Ecopath with Ecosim 6: the sequel. Sea US Proj. Newsl., 43.
- Christensen, V., and Walters, C. J. (2004). Ecopath with Ecosim: Methods, capabilities and limitations. Ecological Modeling, **172**: 109–139. https ://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2003.09.003.
- Christensen, V., Walters, C. J., and Pauly, D. (2000). Ecopath with Ecosim: A user's guide. Vancouver (Canada), University of British Columbia, Fisheries Centre, 131 pp.
- Christensen, V., Walters, C. J., Pauly, D., and Forrest, R. (2008). Ecopath with Ecosim version 6 user guide. Lenfest Ocean Futures Project 2008. Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada, 235 pp.
- Christensen, V., Walters, C.J., and Pauly, D. (2005). Ecopath With Ecosim: A User's Guide. Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, 154 pp

- Christensen, V., Walters, C.J., and Pauly, D. (2005). Ecopath With Ecosim: A User's Guide. Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia and ICLARM.
- Clement, J-P., Caroff, M., Hémond, C., Tiercelin, J-J., Bollinger, C., Guillou, H., and Cotton, J. (2003). Pleistocene magmatism in a lithospheric transition area: petrogenesis of alkaline lavas from the Baringo–Bogoria basin, central Kenya Rift. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, **40**: 1239–1257.
- Cleveland, W. S. (1979). Robust locally weighted regression and smoothing scatterplots. J. Amer. Stat. Ass., 74: 829-836.
- Cohen, A. S., Kaufman, L. and Ogutu-Ohwayo, R. (1996). Anthropogenic threats, impacts and conservation strategies in the African Great, Lakes: A review. In:
 T. C. Johnson and E. Odada (eds.). The Limnology, Climatology and Paleoclimatology of the East African Lakes. Gordon and Breach, Toronto. Pp. 575-624.
- Colléter, M., Valls, A., Guitton, J., Gascuel, D., Pauly, D. and Christensen, V. (2015).
 Global overview of the applications of the Ecopath with Ecosim modeling approach using the EcoBase models repository. Ecological Modelling, 302:42–53. Doi: 10.1016/j. ecolmodel.2015.01.025.
- Coops, H. and Hosper, S. H. (2002). Water-level management as a tool for the restoration of shallow lakes in the Netherlands. Lake and Reservoir Management, 18: 292-297.
- Coops, H., Beklioglu, M. and Crisman, T. L. (2003). The role of water-level fluctuations in shallow lake ecosystems: workshop conclusions. Hydrobiologia, 506-509: 23-27.

- CSST. (1997). Comprehensive studies for the purposes of Article 6 of Directive 91/271 EEC. The Urban Waste Water Treatment Directive. Scottish Environment Protection Agency (East Region).
- Cury, P.M., and Christensen, V. (2005). Quantitative ecosystem indicators for fisheries management. ICES J. Mar. Sci., 62(3): 307–310.
- Darling, W. G., Gizaw, B., and Arusei, M. K. (1996). Lake–groundwater relationships and fluid–rock interaction in the East African Rift Valley: isotopic evidence. Journal of African Earth Sciences, 22: 423–431.
- Darwall, W. R. T., Allison, E. H., Turnerc, G. F., and Irvine, K. (2010). Lake of flies, or lake of fish? A trophic model of Lake Malawi. Ecological Modeling, 221, 713. Eco https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2009.11.001.
- Davic, R. D. (2003). Linking keystone species and functional groups: a new operational definition of the keystone species concept. Conserv. Ecology, 7 (1): r11, http://www.consecol.org/vol7/iss1/resp11.
- Debels, P., Figueroa, R., Urrutia, R., Barra, R., and Niell, X. (2005). Evaluation of water quality in the Chillán River (Central Chile) using physicochemical parameters and a modified water quality index. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 110(1-3): 301-322.
- Deng, L., Liu, S., Dong, S., An, N., Zhao, H. and Liu, Q. (2015). Application of Ecopath model on trophic interactions and energy flows of impounded Manwan Reservoir ecosystem in Lancang River, southwest China. Journal of Freshwater Ecology, 30(2): 281–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2014.942893.

- Dessie, M. N., Verhoest, E.C., Valentijn, Pauwels, R.N., EnyewAdgo, Deckers, J., Poesen, J., and Nyssen, J. (2015). Water balance of a lake with floodplain buffering: Lake Tana, Blue Nile Basin, Ethiopia. J Hydrol., 522:174–186.
- Downing, J. A., Plante, C. and Llonde, S. (1990). Fish production correlated with primary productivity, not the morphoedaphic index. Can. J; Fish. Aqu. Sci., **47**: 1929-1936.
- Downing, J. A., Watson, S. B., and McCauley, E. (2001). Predicting cyanobacteria dominance in lakes. Canadian journal of fisheries and aquatic sciences, 58(10), 1905-1908.
- Duarte, C. M. and Kalff, J. (1990). Patterns of submerged macrophyte biomass of lakes and the importance of the scale of analysis in the interpretation. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 47: 357–363.
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A. H., Gessner, M. O., Kawabata, Z., Knowler, D., Leveque, C., Naiman, R. J., Prieur-Richard, A. H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M. L. J. and Sullivan, C.A. (2006). Fresh-water biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. Biol. Rev., 81: 163–182. https://doi.org/10.1017/S146479310500695.
- Dühnforth, M., Bergner, A. N. and Trauth, M. (2006). Early holocene water budget of the Nakuru-Elmenteita basin, central Kenya Rift. J. Paleolimnol., **36:** 281-294.
- Dunkley, P. N., Smith, M., Allen, D. J. and Darling, W. G. (1993). The geothermal activity and geology of the northern sector of the Kenya Rift Valley. British Geological Survey Resarch Report SC/93/1, Keyworth, Norttingham.
- Dutta, S., Chakraborty, K. and Hazra, S. (2017). Ecosystem structure and trophic dynamics of an exploited ecosystem of Bay of Bengal, Sundarban Estuary, India, Fish. Scien., 83:145-159. DOI 10.1007/s12562-016-1060-2.

- Edmunds, W. M., and Smedley, P. L. (2013). Fluoride in natural waters. In *Essentials* of medical geology (pp. 311-336). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2000). Ambient water quality criteria recommendations lakes and reservoirs in nutrient Ecoregion. XI Office of Water, EPA.
- Evtimova, V. V. and Donohue, I. (2014). Quantifying ecological responses to amplified water level fluctuations in standing waters: an experimental approach. Journal of Applied Ecology, **51**: 1282-1291.
- FAO. (2012). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2012. Rome. 209 pp.
- Fetahi, T. (2005). Trophic analysis of Lake Awassa using mass-balance Ecopath model (Ethiopia: Addis Ababa University), p. 99.
- Fetahi, T. and Mengistou, S. (2007). Trophic analysis of Lake Awassa (Ethiopia) using mass-balance Ecopath model. Ecological Modeling, 201: 398–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.10.010.
- Finn, J.T. (1976). Measures of ecosystem structure and function derived from analysis. J. Theo. Biol., 56: 363-380.
- Fisheries Bulletin (2016). Fisheries annual statistical Bulletin. Ministry of Agriculture, livestock and fisheries, State Department of fisheries and the blue economy, Nairobi, Kenya. 66 pp.
- Froese, R. and Pauly, D. (2016). In: Froese, R., Pauly, D. (Eds.), Fishbase., Retrieved from Fishbase: www.fishbase.org, version (06/2021).
- Froese, R., and Binohlan, C. (2000). Empirical relationships to estimate asymptotic length, length at first maturity and yield at maximum yield per recruitment in fishes, with a simple method to evaluate length frequency data. J. Fish Biol., 56: 758-773.

- Gafny, S., Gasith, A. and Goren, M. (1992). Effect of water level fluctuation on the shore spawning of Mirogrex terraesanctae (Steinitz), (Cyprinidae) in Lake Kinneret, Israel. J Fish Biol., 41:863-871.
- Gaichas, S., Skaret, G., Falk-Petersen, J., Link, J.S., Overholtz, W., Megrey, B.A., Gjøsæter, H., Stockhausen, W.T., Dommasnes, A., Friedland, K.D., and Aydin, K. (2009). A comparison of community and trophic structure in five marine ecosystems based on energy budgets and system metrics. Prog. Oceanogr., 81: 47–62.
- Galizia Tundisi, J. and Matsumura-Tundisi, T. (2011). 1st ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, *Limnology*, p. 402.
- Garcia, S. M., and Cochrane, K. L. (2005). Ecosystem approach to fisheries: a review of implementation guidelines. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 62 (3), 311–318.
- Gasith, A. and Gafny, S. (1990). Effects of water level fluctuation on the structure and function of the littoral zone. In: Tilzer MM, Serruya C, editors. Large Lakes:
 Ecological Structure and Function. Berlin (Germany): Springer-Verlag. p. 156-171.
- Gasith, A., Goren, M. and Gafny, S. (1996). Ecological consequences of lowering Lake Kinneret water level: effect on breeding success of the Kinneret Sardine. In: Steinberger Y, editor. Preservation of our world in the wake of change. Proceedings of the 6th International Conference of the Israeli Society for Ecology and Environmental Quality Sciences. Jerusalem (Israel): IEEQS. p. 569-573.
- Gayalino, F. C. Jr., Sparre, P. and Pauly, D. (1996). The FAO-ICLARM Fish Stock Assessment Tools (FiSAT) User's Guide. FAO Computerized Information Series (Fisheries No. 7). FAO, Rome, 126 pp.

- González-Bergonzoni, I., Jeppesen, E., Vidal, N., Teixeira-de Mello, F., Goyenola, G.
 López-Rodríguez, A. and Meerhoff, M. (2016). Potential drivers of seasonal shifts in fish omnivory in a subtropical stream. Hydrobiologia 768: 183–196.
- Government of Kenya (GoK) (1989). Ministry of Water and Environment Resources. Greater Nakuru Water Supply Project, Chemususu Dam Design Report. Government Printer, Nairobi, Kenya, (1989).
- Government of Kenya (GoK) (2007). Ministry of Planning and Vision 2030, Vision 2030. Government Printer, Nairobi, Kenya, (2007).
- Government of Kenya (GOK). The Water Act (2002). Government Printer, Nairobi, Kenya. (2002).
- Gownaris, N. J. (2015). Understanding the Impacts of Changes in Water Inflow on the Fishes of Lake Turkana, Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, The Graduate School, Stony Brook University: Stony Brook, NY.).
- Gownaris, N. J., Pikitch, E. K., Aller, J. Y., Kaufman, L. S., Kolding, J., Lwiza, K. M., Obiero, K. O., Ojwang, F-W. O., Malala, J. O. and Rountos, K. J. (2017).
 Fisheries and water level fluctuations in the world's largest desert lake.
 Ecohydrology 10,e 1769.
- Gownaris, N. J., Pikitch, E. K., William, O. J., Michener, R., and Kaufman, L. (2015).Predicting species' vulnerability in a massively perturbed system: the fishes of Lake Turkana, Kenya. PLoS ONE 10, e0127027.
- Gownaris, N. J., Rountos, K. J., Kaufman, L., Kolding, J., Lwiza, K. M. M. and Pikitch, E. K. (2018). Water level fluctuations and the ecosystem functioning of lakes. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, **44**(6): 1154-1163.

- Grobbelaar, J. U. (1984). Phytoplankton productivity in a shallow turbid impoundment, Wuras Dam. *Verhandlungen der Internationalen Vereinigung für Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie*, **22**: 1594–1601.
- Gulland, J. A. (1971). Estimations of mortality rates. Annex to Arctic Fisheries Working Group Report, ICES C.M.Doc. 3 (mimeogr.).
- HACH (2009). "2100Q and 2100Qis User Manuel," October 2009.
- Hamerlynck, O., Duvail, S., Vandepitte, L., Kindinda, K., Nyingi, D. W., Paul, J-L.,
 Yanda, P. Z., Mwakalinga, A. B., Mgaya, Y. D., and Snoeks, J. (2011). To connect or not to connect? Floods, fisheries and livelihoods in the Lower Rufiji floodplain lakes, Tanzania. Hydrological Sciences Journal, 56(8): 1436-1451.
- Hamilton, A. C. (1982). Environmental History of East Africa; A Study of the Quaternary. Academic Press.
- Hamilton, M., (1992). Water fluoridation: a risk assessment perspective. Journal of Environmental Health, **54:** 27-32.
- Hammer, U. T., (1986). *Saline Ecosystems of the World*. Junk Publishers Dordrecht, the Netherlands.
- Harrelson, C. C., Rawlins, C. L. and Potyondy, J. P. (1994). Stream channel reference sites: an illustrated guide to field technique. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-245. Fort Collins, CO: U.S, Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, 61 p.
- Hautot, S., Tarits, P., Whaler, K., Le Gall, B., Tiercelin, J-J., and Le Turdu, C. (2000).
 Deep structure of the Baringo Rift basin (central Kenya) from threedimensional magneto-telluric imaging: implications for rift evolution. Journal of Geophysical Research, **105(B10)**: 23493–23518.

- Herrnegger, M., Stecher, G., Schwatke, C. and Olang, L. (2021). Hydroclimatic analysis of rising water levels in the Great rift Valley Lakes of Kenya. Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies, 36,100857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2021.100857.
- Heymans, J. J. (2004). The effects of internal and external control on the northern Benguela ecosystem. In: Sumaila UR, Steinshamn SI, Skog M, Boyer DC, editors. Ecological, economic and social aspects of Namibian fisheries. Netherlands: Eburon. pp. 29–52.
- Hickley, P., Muchiri, M., Boar, R. R., Britton, J. R., Adams, C., Gichuru, N. and Harper, D. (2004). Habitat degradation and subsequent fishery collapse in Lakes Naivasha and Baringo, Kenya. Journal of Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology, 4: 503-517.
- Hill, N. M., Keddy, P. A. and Wisheu, I. C. (1998). A hydrological model for predicting the effects of dams on the shoreline vegetation of lakes and reservoirs. Environmental Management, 22: 723-736.
- Hinckley, E. L. S., Ebel, B. A., Barnes, R. T., Anderson, R. S., Williams, M. W. and Anderson, S. P. (2014). Aspect control of water movement on hillslopes near the rain–snow transition of the Colorado Front Range. *Hydrological Processes*, 28(1): 74-85.
- Hirons, L. and Turner, A. (2018). The Impact of Indian Ocean Mean-State Biases in Climate Models on the Representation of the East African Short Rains, Jouranl of Climate, **31**: 6611-6631. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-17-0804.1.
- Hopson, A. J. and Britain, G. (1982). Lake Turkana: a report on the findings of the Lake Turkana project, 1972-1975, Vol., Inst. of Aquaculture, University of Stirling.

- Hou, D.; He, J.; Lu, C.; Sun, Y.; Zhang, F. and Otgonbayar, K. (2013). Effect of environmental factors on nutrients release at sediment- water interface and assessment of trophic status for a typical shallow lake water, Northwest China. The Science World Journal.
- Hulme, M., Doherty, R., Ngara, T., New, M. and Lister, D. (2001). African climate change: 1900-2100. Clim. Res., 17: 145-168.
- ICAR, Santhosh, B. and Sing, N. P. (2007). Guidelines for water quality management for fish culture in Tripura, research complex for NEH region, Tripura Centre, Lembucherra–799210, Tripura (west). Publication no. 29.
- Imam, T. S. and Balarabe, M. L. (2012). Impact of physicochemical factors on zooplankton species richness and abundance in Bompai-Jakara catchment basin, Kano state, northern Nigeria. Bayero J. Pure Appl. Sci., 5: 34–40.
- Istvánovics, V. (2010). Eutrophication of lakes and reservoirs. Lake ecosystem ecology, Elsevier. pp. 47–55.
- Jenkyn, P. M. (1936). Reports on the Percy Sladen Expedition to some Rift Valley lakes in Kenya in 1929. VII. Summary of the ecological results, with special reference to the alkaline lakes. Annual Magazine of Natural History (Series 10), **18:** 133–181.
- Johansson, J., and Svensson, J. (2002). Land degradation in the semi-arid catchment of Lake Baringo, Kenya. Projketarabete Goteborgs Universitet "B3443.
- Kallqvist, T. (1987). Primary production and phytoplankton in Lake Baringo and Naivasha, Kenya. Norwegian Institute for Water Research Report, Blinden, Oslo, 59pp.

- Kamaruzzaman, B.Y., A.S. Waznah, M.S.M. Zahir, M.C. Ong and S. Shahbudin, Jalal, Z. Rina Sharlinda, K.C.A., Shuhada, A.T., Akbar, B. J., Joseph, B., Al-Barwani, S.M. and Goddard, J.S. (2010). Distribution of chromium, manganese and cobalt in the bottom sediment of pahang river-estuary, Pahang, Malaysia. Journal of Applied Science, 10: 3122-3126.
- Kannel, P.R., Lee, S., Lee, Y.S., Kanel, S.R., and Khan, S.P. (2007). Application of water quality indices and dissolved oxygen as indicators for river water classification and urban impact assessment. Environ. Monit. Assess. 132, 93-110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-006-9505-1.
- Karenge, L. and Kolding, J. (1995). Inshore fish population and species changes in Lake Kariba, Zimbabwe. In *The impact of species changes in African lakes*, pp. 245-275. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Katyal, D. (2011). Water quality indices used for surface water vulnerability assessment. *International Journal on Environmental Sciences*, **2:** 154–173.
- Kazi, T. G., Arain, M. B., Jamali, M. K., Jalbani, N., Afridi, H. I., Sarfraz, R. A., ... and Shah, A. Q. (2009). Assessment of water quality of polluted lake using multivariate statistical techniques: A case study. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety, 72 (2), 301-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2008.02.024.
- Kebede, S., Travi, Y., Alemayehu, T. and Marc, V. (2006). Water balance of LakeTana and its sensitivity to fluctuations in rainfall, Blue Nile Basin, Ethiopia. J.Hydrol., 316: 233–247.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS). (2015). Kenya Demographic and Health Survey.

- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS). (2019). Kenya Demographic and Health Survey.
- Keto, A., Tarvainen, A., and Hellsten, S. (2006). The effect of water level regulation on species richness and abundance of aquatic macrophytes in Finnish Lakes. Verh. Int. Verein. Limnol. 29, 2103–2108.
- Khaki, M. and Awange, J. (2021). The 2019–2020 Rise in Lake Victoria Monitored from Space: Exploiting the State-of-the-Art GRACE-FO and the Newly Released ERA-5 Reanalysis Products. Sensors, 21: 4304. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21134304.
- Kithiia, S. M. (2011). Water Quality Degradation Trends in Kenya over the Last Decade. Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment, Dr. Voudouris (Ed.).
- Kolding, J. (1993a). Population dynamics and life-history styles of Nile tilapia,Oreochromis niloticus, in Ferguson's Gulf, Lake Turkana, Kenya.Environmental biology of fishes, 37: 25-46.
- Kolding, J. and Van Zwieten, P. A. (2006). Improving productivity in tropical lakes and reservoirs, Challenge Program on Water and Food. Aquatic Ecosystems and Fisheries Review Series I, WorldFish Center, Cairo, p. 139.
- Kolding, J. and van Zwieten, P. A. M. (2012). "Relative lake level fluctuations and their influence on productivity and resilience in tropical lakes and reservoirs." *Fisheries Research*, **115**: 99-109.
- Kolding, J., van Zwieten, P., Marttin, F. and Poulain, F. (2016). Fisheries in the dry lands of Sub-Saharan Africa "Fish come with the Rains". FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Circular No. 1118.
- Korovchinsky, N. M. (1996). How many species of Cladocera are there?. Hydrolobiologia, 321:191-204.

- Koste, W. (1978). 'Rotatoria. Die Radertiere Mitteleuropas.' Begrundet von Max Voigt. 2 Vols. (Borntraeger: Stuttgart.).
- Koste, W. and Shiel, R. J. (1986). Rotifera from Australian Inland Waters. I. Bdelloidea (Rotifera : Digononta). Mar. Freshw. Res., **37:** 765-92.
- Kotak, B. G., Lam, A. K., Prepas, E. E., and Hrudey, S. E. (2000). Role of chemical and physical variables in regulating microcystin-LR concentration in phytoplankton of eutrophic lakes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 57(8): 1584-1593.
- Kumambala, P. and Ervine, A. (2010). Water balance of Lake Malawi and its sensitivity toclimate change. Hydrology journal, 4:152-162. DOI:10.2174/1874378101004010152.
- Kumar, B. A., Regi, S. R. and Smrithy, R. (2015). Trophic structure, interactions and ecosystem attributes of Vellayani Lake, Kerala, India, with special reference to fisheries, Journal of Aquatic Biology and Fisheries, **3**: 63-73.
- Kumar, R., Grover, A. S., and Wats, M. (2018). Assessment of water quality status of lakes in Haryana, India. *International Journal of Recent Scientific Research*, 9(7): 27831–27835.
- Le Cren, E. D. (1951). The length-weight relationships and seasonal cycle in gonad weight and condition in the perch (Perca fluviatilis). Journal of Animal Ecology, **20**: 201-219.
- Leclercq, L., and Maquet, B. (1987). Deux nouveaux indices diatomiques et de qualité chimique des eaux courantes. Comparaison avec différents indices existants. *Cahier de Biology Marine*, 28: 303–310.

- Li, Z., Guo, J.S., Long, M., Fang, F., Sheng, J.P., and Zhou, H., (2009). Seasonal variation of nitrogen and phosphorus in Xiaojiang River-a tributary of the Three Gorges Reservoir. Front. Environ. Sci. Eng. 3, 334-340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-009-0039-y.
- Libralato, S. (2008). System Omnivory Index. In: Jørgensen SE, Fath BD, editors. Ecological Indicators Oxford: Elsevier. pp. 3472–3477.
- Libralato, S., Christensen, V., and Pauly, D. (2006). A method for identifying keystone species in food web models. Ecol. Model. **195:** 153–171.
- Likens, G. E., Bormann, F. H., Pierce, R. S., Eaton, J. S., and Johnson, N. M. (1977). Biogeochemistry of a forested ecosystem. Springer-Verlag.
- Lindeman, R. L. (1942). The trophic-dynamic aspect of ecology. Ecology, 23(4) : 399–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1930126</u>.
- Lindim, C., Pinho, J. L. and Vieira, J. M. P. (2011). Analysis of spatial and temporal patterns in a large reservoir using water quality and hydrodynamic modeling, Ecological 43 708 Modelling, 222(14): 2485-2494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.07.019.
- Link, J. S. (2010). Adding rigorto ecological network models by evaluating a set of pre-balance diagnostics: a plea for PREBAL. Ecological Modelling, 221: 1580–1591.
- Lowe-McConnell, R. H. (1979). Ecological aspects of seasonality in fishes of tropical waters. In *Symposia of the Zoological Society of London*, **44**(1): 219-241.
- Lukas, E. (1942). A characterization of the normal distribution. Annals of Mathematical Statistics, **13**: 91–93.

- Lundgren, R. F., York, B. C., Stroh, N. A. and Vecchia, A. V. (2019). Water-balance modeling of selected lakes for evaluating viability as long-term fisheries in Kidder, Logan, and Stutsman Counties, North Dakota: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2019-5007, 22 p., https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20195007.
- Maberly, S. C., Pitt, J. A., Davies, P. S., and Carvalho, L. (2020). Nitrogen and phosphorus limitation and the management of small productive lakes. *Inland Waters*, *10*(2), 159-172.
- Machiwal, D., Dayal, D., and Kumar, S. (2016). Estimating Water Balance of Small Reservoirs in Arid Regions: A Case Study from Kachchh, India. *Agricultural Research*, 6, 57-65.
- Mageria, C. and Kibwage, J. (2009). Current Status of Rift Valley Fisheries. In: The status and potential of fisheries of Rift valley Lakes (Ed Aloo-Obundho, P.), intermass printers 7 stationers, Nairobi, pp.7-11.
- Mahesh, S., Srikantha, H., Mohan, K. S. and Vathsala, S. (2014). Eutrophication assessment for the Dantaramakki lake of Chikmagalur city using GIS technique. International J. of Chem Tech Research, **6(1)**: 440-449.
- Makhoukh, M., Sbaa, M., Berrahou, Clooster, M., and Van, (2011). Contribution à l'étude physico-chimique des eaux Superficielles de l'oued moulouya (maroc oriental), Larhyss Journal, ISSN 1112-3680, n° 09, Décembre 2011, pp.149-169.
- Marshall, E. (1990). The fluoride debate: one more time. Science, 247: 276-277.
- Masere, T. P., Munodawafa, A. and Chitata, T. (2012). Assessment of Human Impacts on Water Quality along Manyame River.International Journal of Development and Sustainability, **1** (3): 754-765.

- Mason, C. (2002). Biology of Freshwater Pollution (4th Edition) Pearson Education. 387pp.
- Masson, S., Angeli, N., Guillard, J. and Pinel-Alloul, B. (2001). Diel vertical and horizontal distribution of crustacean zooplankton and young of the year fish in sub-alpine lake: An approach based on high frequency sampling. J. Plankton Res. 23: 1041–61.
- Mather, J. R. (1978). The Climate Water Budget in Environmental Analysis Lexington: Lexington Books, pp. 39-65.
- Mather JR. (1981). Using computed stream flow in watershed analysis. Journal of the American Water Resources Association, **17(3):**474-482.
- Mbanguka, R. P., Lyon, S. W., Holmgren, K., Girons L., M., and Jarsjö, J. (2016).
 Water Balance and Level Change of Lake Babati, Tanzania: Sensitivity to Hydroclimatic Forcings" *Water* 8, no. 12: 572. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8120572.
- Melack, J. M. (1976). Primary productivity and fish yields in tropical lakes. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc., **105:** 575-580.
- Menge, B. A. (1995). Joint 'bottom-up' and 'top-down' regulation of rocky intertidal algal beds in South Africa. Trends Ecol. Evol., **10**: 431–432.
- Menge, B. A., Berlow, E. L., Balchette, C. A., Navarrete, S. A. and Yamada, S. B. (1994). The keystone species concept: variation in interaction strength in a rocky intertidal habitat. Ecol. Monogr., 64: 249–286.
- Mensah, E. T. D., Dankwa, H. R., Lauridsen, T. L., Trolle, D., Asmah, R., Campion,
 B. B., Edziyie, R. and Christensen, V. (2019). Mass balance model of Lake
 Volta fisheries: The use of Ecopath model. Lakes and Reservoirs, 24:1–9.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/lre.12276.

- Mercier, F., Cazenave, A. and Maheu, C. (2002). Interannual lake level fluctuations (1993-1999) in Africa from Topex/Poseidon: connections with oceanatmosphere interactions over the Indian Ocean. Glob. Planet. Chang., 32: 141-163.
- Meybeck, M., and Helmer, R. (1989). The quality of rivers: from pristine stage to global pollution. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol., 75: 283-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-0182(89)90191-0.
- Middelbøe, A. L. and Markager, S. (1997). Depth limits and minimum light requirements of freshwater macrophytes. Freshwater Biol., **37:**553–568.
- Mlewa, C. M. (2003). Biology of the African lungfish *Protopterus aethiopicus* Heckel 1851, and some aspects of its fishery in Lake Baringo, Kenya., Ph.D. Thesis, Department of Biology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Newfoundland, Canada, October 2003, p 239.
- Mlewa, C. M. and Green, J. M. (2004). Biology of the Marbled lungfish *Protopterus aethiopicus*, Heckel in Lake Baringo, Kenya. African Journal of Ecology, **42**: 338–345.
- Mlewa, C. M. and Green, J. M. (2006). Translocation of marbled African lungfish, *Protopterus aethiopicus* (Telostei: Protopteridae), and its fishery in Lake Baringo, Kenya. African Journal of Aquatic Science, **31(1)**:131-136, DOI: 10.2989/16085910609503880.
- Mohamed, K. S., Zacharia, P. U., Muthiah, C., Abdurahiman, K. P. and Nayak, T. H. (2008). Trophic model of the arabian sea ecosystem off karnataka and simulation of fishery yield (Kerala india: CMFRI Publication Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute), p. 140.

- Monaco, M. E. and Ulanowicz, R. E. (1997). Comparative ecosystem trophic structure of three US. mid-Atlantic estuaries. Mar Ecol Prog Ser, **161**: 239-254.
- Moreau, J. (1995). Analysis of species changes in Lake Victoria using Ecopath, a multispecies trophic model. In T. J. Pitcher & P. J. B. Hart (Eds.), The impact of species changes in African lakes. Chapman & Hall Fish and Fisheries Series, Vol. 18. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Moreau, J. (1997). Advances in the ecology of Lake Kariba. Harare, Zimbabwe: University of Zimbabwe Publications.
- Murphy, G. P.; Shivalingaiah; Leelaja, B. C. and Hosmani, S. P. (2008). Trophic state index in conservation of lake ecosystems. The 12th World Lake Conference, 840-843.
- Musinguzi, L., Lugya, J., Rwezawula, P., Kamya, A., Nuwahereza, C., Halafo, J., Kamondo, S., Njaya, F., Aura, M. C., Shoko, A. P., Osinde, R., Natugonza, N. and Ogutu-Ohwayo, R. (2019). The extent of cage aquaculture, adherence to best practices and reflections for sustainable aquaculture on African inland waters. Journal of Great Lakes Research. https://doi:10.1016/j.jglr.2019.09.011.
- Muvundja, F. A., Wüest, A., Isumbisho, M., Kaningini, M., Pasche, N., Ritna, P. and Schmid, M. (2014). Modelling Lake Kivu water level variations over the last seven decades. Limnologica, 47:21-33. Republic of Congo, Central Africa. African Journal of Aquatic science, 31(1):137-143.
- Nalamutt, T. D. and karmakar, S. (2014). Modeling impreciseness of trophic state levels for eutrophication assessment. J. of Clean Energy Technologies, 2(2):140-144.

- Natugonza, N., Ogutu-Ohwayo, R., Musinguzi, L., Kashindye, S. J. and Valtysson, H.
 T. (2016). Exploring the structural and functional properties of the Lake
 Victoria food web, and the role of fisheries, using a mass balance model,
 Ecological modeling, 342:161-174.
- Neckles, H. A., Murkin, H. R. and Cooper, J. A. (1990). Influences of seasonal flooding on macroinvertebrate abundance in wetland habitats. Freshwater Biology, 23:311-322.
- Ngaira, J. K. (2006). Implications of climate on the management of Rift Valley Lakes in Kenya. The case study of Lake Baringo. Pp 133-138. In Odada E. O., D. O. Olago, W. Ochola, M. Ntiba, S. Wandiga, N. Gichuki, H. Oyieke (eds) Proceedings (Vol. 2) of 11th World Lakes Conference, 31st October to 4th November, 2005, Nairobi, pp 623.
- Niyoyitungiye, L. (2019). Limnological Study of Lake Tanganyika, Africa with Special Emphasis on Piscicultural Potentiality. Biodiversity and Ecology. Assam University Silchar (India). English.fftel-02536191ff.
- Njiru, J., van der Knaap, M., Kundu, R., and Nyamweya, C. (2018). Lake Victoria fisheries: Outlook and management. Lakes & Reserv., 23:152–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/lre.12220.
- Nyakeya, K., Chemoiwa, E., Nyamora, J. M., Ogombe, C. O., Gichana, Z. M., Mbaru, E. K., Masese, F. O., Aura, C. M., Njiru, J., Ondiba, R. and Basweti, E. (2020). Endemic Lake Baringo *Oreochromis niloticus* fishery on verge of collapse: Review of causes and strategies directed to its recovery, conservation and management for sustainable exploitation. *Lakes & Reserv.* 25:1-16. https://doi.org/10.1111/lre.12344.

- Nyakeya, K., Kipkorir, K. G. K., Nyamora, J. M., Odoli, C. O., and Kerich, E. (2018) Dynamics of hydrology on the physico-chemical water quality parameters and trophic State of Lake Baringo, Kenya. *Africa Environmental Review Journal*, 3(1):94-107.
- Nyamweru, C. K. (1983). Rifts and Volcanoes: A study of the East African Rift System, pp. 128. Thomas Nelson and Sons, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Obando, J. A., Onywere, S., Shisanya, C., Ndubi, A., Masiga, D., Irura, Z., Mariita, N. and Maragia, H. (2016). Impact of Short-Term Flooding on Livelihoods in the Kenya Rift Valley Lakes. In: Meadows M., Lin JC. (eds) Geomorphology and Society. Advances in Geographical and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Tokyo. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-56000-5_12</u>.
- Obire, O. and Aguda, M. (2002). Bacterial community of leachate from a waste dump and an adjacent stream in Nigeria. Journal of Applied Science and Environmental Management, **6(2):**71-75.
- Oboh, I. P., and Agbala, C. S. (2017). Water quality assessment of the Siluko River, southern Nigeria. African Journal of Aquatic Science, **42(3)**: 279-286.
- Odada, E. O., Olago, D. O., Bugenyi, F., Kulindwa, K., Karimumuryango, J., West,
 K., Ntiba, M., Wandiga, S., Obudho, P. A. and Achola, P. (2003).
 Environmental assessment of the East African Rift Valley Lakes. *Journal of Aquatic Science*, 65:254-271.
- Odada, E. O., Onyando, J. and Obudho, P. A. (2006a). Lake Baringo: Experience and lessons learnt brief. The World Bank.

- Odada, E. O., Onyando, J. O. and Obudho, P. A., (2006b). Lake Baringo: Addressing threatened biodiversity and livelihoods. *Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management*, **11(4)**:287-299.
- Odhiambo, G. and Osure, G. (2021). Evaluation of Biological Aspects of Baringo Barb i (Ruppell 1835) in Lake Baringo. Journal of Fisheries Sciences.com, 15(S2): 031-038.
- Odum, E. P. (1969). The strategy of ecosystem development. Science, 161:262–270.
- Odum, E. P. (1971). Fundamentals of ecology. W.B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, 574 pp.
- Oduor, S. O., Schagerl, M., and Mathooko, J. M. (2003). On the limnology of Lake Baringo (Kenya): I. Temporal physico-chemical dynamics. Hydrobiologia, **506:** 121–127.
- Okech, E. O., Kitaka, N., Omondi, S. and Verschuren, D. (2019). Water level fluctuations in Lake Baringo, Kenya, during the 19th and 20th centuries: Evidence from lake sediments, African Journal of Aquatic Science, 44:125-33, DOI: 10.2989/16085914.2019.1583087.
- Olaka, L. A., Odada, E. O., Trauth, M. H. and Olago, D. O. (2010). The sensitivity of East African Rift Lakes to climate fluctuations. J. Paleolimnol., **44:** 629–644.
- Olilo, C.0. (1993). Changes in Fish Populations and Effects of Fishing Gear in Lake Baringo Fishery Management. Discussion Paper No. I.
- Omondi, R., Kembenya, E., Nyamweya, C., Ouma, H., Machua, S. K. and Ogari, Z. (2014). Recent Limnological changes and their Implication on Fisheries in Lake Baringo, Kenya. *Jornal of Ecology and the natural environment*, 6(5):154-163. doi: 10:5897/JENE 2014.0438.

- Omondi, R., Ojwang, W., Olilo, C., Mugo, J., Agembe, S. and Ojuok, J. E. (2016). Lakes Baringo and Naivasha: Endorheic Freshwater Lakes of the Rift Valley (Kenya). In: Finlayson C., Milton G., Prentice R., Davidson N. (eds) The Wetland Book. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Omondi, R., Yasindi, A. W. and Magana, A. (2011). Spatial and temporal variations of zooplankton in relation to some environmental factors in Lake Baringo, Kenya. Eger. J. Sci. Technol, **11:**29-50.
- Ondhoro, C. C., Masembe, C., Maes, G. E., Nkalubo, N. W., Walakira, J. K., Naluwairo, J., and Mwanja, M. T. and Efitre, J., (2016). Condition factor, Length – Weight relationship, and the fishery of Barbus altianalis (Boulenger 1900) in Lakes Victoria and Edward basins of Uganda. Environmental Biology of Fishes, **100**:99–110. DOI 10.1007/s10641-016-0540-7.
- Ondiba, R., Omondi, R., Nyakeya, K., Abwao, J., Musa, S. and Oyoo-Okoth, E. (2018). Environmental constraints on macrophyte distribution and diversity in a tropical endorheic freshwater lake (Lake Baringo, Kenya).
- Onyando, J. O. (2002). Land Cover Resource Maps of Lake Baringo Drainage Basin. Consultancy report submitted to the United Nations Office for Project Services, Nairobi, Kenya, (Unpubl.).
- Onyando, J. O., Kisoyan, P. and Chemelil M. C. (2005). Estimation of Potential Soil Erosion for River Perkerra Catchment in Kenya. Water Resources Management Journal. 19: 133-143.
- Onyema, I. C., 2008. A checklist of *Phytoplankton* species of the iyagbe Lagoon, Lagos. J. Fish. Aquatic Sci., **3:** 167-175.

- Oostwoud Wijdenes, D. J., and Bryan, R. (2001). Gully-head erosion processes on a semi-arid valley floor in Kenya: a case study into temporal variation and sediment budgeting. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, **26**: 911–933.
- O'Reilly, A. M. (2004). A method for simulating transient ground-water recharge in deep water-table settings in central Florida by using a simple water-balance/transfer-function model (No. 2004). US Geological Survey.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (1982). Eutrophication of waters: Monitoring, assessment and control. OECD.
- Ortiz, M., Berrios, F., Campos, L., Uribe, R., Ramirez, A., Hermosillo-Núnez, ~ B., González, J., and Rodriguez-Zaragoza, F., (2015). Mass balanced trophic models and short-term dynamical simulations for benthic ecological systems of Mejillones and Antofagasta bays (SE Pacific): comparative network structure and assessment of human impacts. Ecol. Model, **309:** 153–162.
- Owen, R. B., Renaut, R. W., Hover, V., Ashley, G. M., and Muasya, A. M. (2004). Swamps, springs and diatoms: wetland regions of the semi-arid Bogoria– Baringo Rift, Kenya. Hydrobiologia, **518**: 59–78.
- Paine, R. T. (1966). Food web complexity and species diversity. Am. Nat., **100:** 65–75.
- Paine, R.T. (1969). A note on trophic complexity and community stability. Am. Nat., **103:** 91–93.
- Palomares, M. L. D., and Pauly, D. (1998). Predicting food consumption of fish populations as functions of mortality, food type, morphometrics, temperature and salinity. Mar. Freshwater Res., 49: 447-453.
- Patnaik, K.N., 2005. Studies on environmental pollution of major industries in Paradip Area. Ph.D. Thesis, Utkal University, Bhubneshwar, (Unpublished)

- Patterson, G. and Kachinjika, O. (1995). Limnology and phytoplankton ecology. In: The Fishery Potential and Productivity of the Pelagic Zone of Lake Malawi/Niassa. Natural Resources Institute, Chatham, UK, pp. 1-68.
- Pauly, D., and Christensen, V. (1995). Primary production required to sustain global fisheries. Nature, 374: 255–257.
- Pauly, D., Christensen, V. and Walters, C. (2000). Ecopath, Ecosim, and Ecospace as tools for evaluating ecosystem impact of fisheries. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 57: 697–706. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.2000.0726.
- Pauly, D., Christensen, V., Dalsgaard, J., Froese, R., Torres, F. J. (1998). Fishing down marine food webs. Science, 279: 860–863.
- Pencol Engineering Consultants (1981). Central Baringo Water Development Plan 1983-2003, *Preliminary Design Study*, 4Vols., Ministry of Water Development, Government of Kenya.
- Penman, H. L. (1948). Natural evaporation from open water, bare soil and grass. Proc.R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Sci., 193: 120-145.
- Perez-Espana H. and Arreguin-Sanchez F. (1999). A measure of ecosystem maturity. Ecological Modelling, **119:** 79–85.
- Pesce, S. F., and Wunderlin, D. A. (2000). Use of water quality indices to verify the impact of Córdoba City (Argentina) on Suquía River. Water research. 34(11), 2915-2926. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(00)00036-1.
- Pinel-Alloul, B., Andre, A., Legendre, P., Cardille, J. A., Patalas, K. and Salki, A. (2013). Large-scale geographic patterns of diversity and community structure of pelagic crustacean zooplankton in Canadian lakes. Global Ecol. Biogeogr., 22: 784–95.

- Piraino, S., Fanelli, G. and Boero, F. (2002). Variability of species' roles in marine communities: change of paradigms for conservation priorities. Mar. Biol., 140: 1067–1074.
- Piroddi, C., Coll, M., Steenbeek, J., Moy, D. M. and Christensen, V. (2015). Modelling the Mediterranean marine ecosystem as a whole: Addressing the challenge of complexity. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 533: 47–65. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11387.
- PNRM (Pan National sur les Résidus de Médicaments dans l'eau) (2009). Eléments techniques pour la préservation des ruisseaux, PNRM/ONF/ADAPEMONT. En ligne sur http://www.google.ec. Europa. eu/environnement/life du 25 Mars 2019.
- Polovina, J. J. (1984). Models of coral reef ecosystems. I: The ECOPATH model and its application to French Frigate Shoals. Coral Reefs, **3:**1-11.
- Popovicova, J. and Celi, D. E. F. (2009). The trophic status of Prairie creek reservoir: Implications for resource management. Proceedings of Indiana Academy of Science, **118(1):** 1-12.
- Power, M. E., Tilman, D., Estes, J. A., Menge, B. A., Bond, W. J., Mills, L. S., Daily, G., Castilla, J. C., Lubchenco, J. and Paine, R. T. (1996). Challenges in the quest for keystones. Bioscience, 46 (8): 609–620.
- Rahul, U.; Arvind, P. K. and Upadhyay, S. K. (2013). Assessment of lake water quality by using Palmer and trophic state index- a case study of upper lake, Bhopal, India. International Research Journal of Environmental Sciences, 2(5): 1-8.

Ramakrishnaiah, C. R., Sadashivaiah, C. and Ranganna, G. (2009). "Assessment of water quality index for the groundwater in Tumkur Taluk, Karnataka State, India." Journal of Chemistry, 6.2: 523-530. https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/757424.

Ramakrishnaiah, C. R., Sadashivaiah, C., and Ranganna, G. (2009). Assessment of Water Quality Index for the Groundwater in Tumkur Taluk, Karnataka State, India. *Journal of Chemistry*, 6(2): 523–530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/757424</u>.

- Ramsar (2002). Information sheet on Ramsar Wetlands (RIS). Retrieved from http://www.ramsar.org/ris_kenya_baringo1.htm.
- Rehren, J., Wolff, M. and Jiddawi, N. (2018). Holistic assessment of Chwaka Bay's multi-gear fishery–using a trophic modeling approach. Journal of Marine Systems, 180: 265–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmars ys.2018.01.002</u>.
- Renaut, R. W, Ego, J, Tiercelin, J-J., Le Turdu, C., and Owen, R. B. (1999). Saline, alkaline palaeolakes of the Tugen Hills–Kerio Valley region, Kenya Rift Valley. In Late Cenozoic Environments and Hominid Evolution: A Tribute to Bill Bishop, Andrews P, Banham P (eds). Geological Society Publishing House: Bath; 41–58.
- Renaut, R. W., Tiercelin, J-J, and Owen, R. B. (2000). Lake Baringo, Kenya Rift Valley, and its Pleistocene Precursors. In Lake Basins through Space and Time, Gierlowski-Kordesch EH, Kelts KR (eds). AAPG Studies in Geology Series, no. 46. American Association of Petroleum Geologists: Tulsa; 561– 568.

- Revenga, C., Brunner, J., Henninger, N., Kassem, K. and Payne, R. (2000). Pilot Analysis of Global Ecosystems: Freshwater Ecosystems. World Resources Institute (WRI), Washington DC.
- Reynolds, C. S. (1999). Metabolic sensitivities of lacustrine ecosystems to anthropogenic forcing. *Aquatic Science*, **61**(3): 183–205.
- Ribeiro, J. P. C., Elvarsson, B. Þ., Sturludóttir, E., and Stefánsson G. (2019). An overview of the marine food web in Icelandic waters using Ecopath with Ecosim, q-bio-PE. arXiv:1810.00613v2.
- Riebeek, H. (2006). Lake Victoria's falling waters. http://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/Study/Victoria/ printall.php.
- Riis, T. and Hawes, I. (2002). Relationships between water level fluctuations and vegetation diversity in shallow water of New Zealand lakes. Aquatic Botany, 74:133-148.
- Rodier, J., Legube, B., and Merlet, N. (2009). L'analyse de l'eau (9th ed., p. 1530). Dunod.
- Rosenberry, D. O., Winter, T. C., Buso, D. C., and Likens, G. E. (2007). Comparison of 15 evaporation methods applied to a small mountain lake in the northeastern USA, Journal of Hydrology, **340(3–4)**: 149-166, ISSN 0022-1694, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2007.03.018</u>.
- Sahu, P., and Sikdar, P. K. (2008). Hydrochemical framework of the aquifer in and around East Kolkata wetlands, West Bengal, India. *Environmental Geology*, 55: 823–835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00254-007-1034-x</u>.

- Sarvalla, J., Salonen, K., Järvinen, M., Aro, E., Huttula, T., Kotilainen, P., ... Lindqvist, O. V. (1999). Trophic structure of Lake Tanganyika: Carbon flows in the pelagic food web. Hydrobiologia, 407: 149–173. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003753918055.
- Schagerl, M. and Oduor, S. O. (2003). On the limnology of Lake Baringo (Kenya): II. Pelagic primary production and algal composition of Lake Baringo, Kenya. Hydrobiologia, **506** (1-3): 297-303.
- Schindler, D. W. (1978). Factors regulating phytoplankton production and standing crop in the world's freshwaters. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **23**(3):478-486.
- Schindler, D. W., Curtis, P. W., Parker, B. R., and Stainton, M. P. (1996). Consequences of climate warming and lake acidification for UV-B penetration in North American boreal lakes. Nature, **379**:705-708.
- Schlueter, T., (1997). Geology of East Africa. Beitrage zur regionalen Geologie der Erde, 27. Gebruder Borntrager, Berlin, Stuttgart.
- Segers, H. (1995). Rotifera. Vol 2: The Lecanidae (Monogononta) in Dumont, H. J. (Eds). Guides to the Identification of the Microinvertebrates of the Continental Waters of the World. SPB Academic Publishing bv., The Hague, The Netherlands. 6:226 pp.
- Segers, H. (2007). Annotated Checklist of the Rotifers (Phylum Rotifera), with Notes on Nomenclature, Taxonomy and Distribution. Zootaxa, 1564: 104 pp.
- Şener, Ş., Şener, E., and Davraz, A. (2017). Evaluation of water quality using water quality index (WQI) method and GIS in Aksu River (SWTurkey). Science of the Total Environment, 584: 131–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.102</u>.

- Sewagudde, S. M. (2009). Lake Victoria's water budget and the potential effects of climate change in the 21st century.
- Shannon, L. J., Christensen, V. and Walters, C. J. (2004). Modelling stock dynamics in the southern Benguela ecosystem for the period 1978–2002. African Journal of Marine Science 26: 179–196.
- Singh, S. and Kar, A. (1996). Integrated natural and human resources appraisal for sustainable development of Kachchh district. Central Arid Zone Research Institute, Jodhpur.
- Smirnov, N. N. and Timms, B. V. (1983). A revision of the Australian Cladocera (Crustacea). Rec. Austr. Mus. Suppl., 1: 1-132.
- Snelder, D. J., and Bryan, R. B. (1995). The use of rainfall simulation tests to assess the influence of vegetation density on soil loss on degraded rangelands in the Baringo District, Kenya. Catena, 25: 105–116.
- Søndergaard, M., Jensen, J. P., and Jeppesen, E. (2003). Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. Hydrobiologia, 506(1-3) : 135-145.
- Soulsby, C., Langan, S. J., and Neal, C. (2001). Environmental change, land use and water quality in Scotland: current issues and future prospects. *Science of the total environment*, **265(1-3):** 387-394.
- Spigel, R. H. and Coulter, G. W. (1996). Comparison of hydrology and physical limnology of the East African Great Lakes: Tanganyika, Malawi, Victoria, Kivu and Turkana (with reference to some North American Great Lakes). In: Johnson TC, Odada E (Eds), *The Limnology, Climatology and Paleoclimatology of East African Lakes*. pp. 103-139. Toronto: Gordon and Breach.

- Ssentongo, G. W. (1974). On the fish and fisheries of Lake Baringo. African Journal of Tropical Hydrobiology and Fisheries, **3(1)**: 95-105.
- Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (1998). 20th Edition. Published jointly by American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association and Water Environmental Federation, Washington, DC.
- Strayer, D., (1991). Notes on Lindeman's progressive efficiency. Ecology, 348–350.
- Subramani, T., Rajmohan, N., and Elango, L. (2009). Groundwater geochemistry and identification of hydrogeochemical processes in a hard rock region, Southern India. Environ. Monit. Ass., 162 (1-4): 123-137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-009-0781-4
- Tanny, J., Cohen, S., Assouline, S., Lange, F., Grava, A., Berge, D., Teltch, B. and Parlange, M. B. (2008). Evaporation from a small water reservoir: direct measurements and estimates. J. Hydrol., 351: 218-229.
- Tarits, C., Renaut, R. W., Tiercelin, J.-J., Herissé, A. L., Cotten, J. and Cabon, J.-Y. (2006). Geochemical evidence of hydrothermal recharge in Lake Baringo, central Kenya Rift Valley, Hydrol. Process, 20: 2027–2055.
- Tarras-Wahlberg, H., Tarras-Wahlberg, N. and Harper, D. (2003). A first limnological description of Lake Kichiritith, Kenya: a possible reference site for the freshwater lakes of the Gregory Rift Valley. South African Journal of Science, 99(9): 494-496.

- Tate, E., Sutcliffe, J., Conway, D. and Farquharson, F. (2004). Water balance of Lake Victoria: update to 2000 and climate change modelling to 2100/Bilan hydrologique du Lac Victoria: mise à jour jusqu'en 2000 et modélisation des impacts du changement climatique jusqu'en 2100. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 49(4).
- Taylor, R. G., Todd, M. C., Kongola, L., Maurice, L., Nahozya, E., Sanga, H. and MacDonald, A. M. (2013). Evidence of the dependence of groundwater resources on extreme rainfall in East Africa. Nature Climate Change, 3:374-378. doi:10.1038/NCLIMATE1731.
- Teng, W., Guoxiang, W. and Qiang, L. (2007). Effects of water turbidity on the photosynthetic characteristics of Myriophyllum spicatum L. Asian Journal of Plant Science, 6:773-780. DIO: 10.3923/ajps.2007.773.780.
- Thiery, W., Davin, E. L., Panitz, H.-J., Demuzere, M., Lhermitte, S. and Lipzig, N.
 V. (2015). The Impact of the African Great Lakes on the Regional Climate.
 American Meteorological Society. Journal of climate, 28:4061-4085. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00565.1.
- Thiery, W., Martynov, A., Darchambeau, F., Descy, J.-P., Plisnier, P.-D., Sushama, L. and Van Lipzig, N. P. M. (2014a). Understanding the performance of the FLake model over two African Great Lakes. Geosci. Model Dev., 7:317–337, doi:10.5194/gmd-7-317-2014.
- Thiery, W., Martynov, A., Darchambeau, F., Descy, J.-P., Plisnier, P.-D., Sushama, L. and Van Lipzig, N. P. M. (2014b). LakeMIP Kivu: Evaluating the representation of a large, deep tropical lake by a set of one dimensional lake models. Tellus, 66A, 21390, doi:10.3402/ tellusa.v66.21390.

- Thom, D. J. and Martin, N. L. (1983). Ecology and Production in Baringo-Kerio Valley, Kenya. Geographical Review, **73**:15-29. Doi:10.2307/214392.
- Thornthwaite, C. W. (1948). An approach towards a rational classification of climate. Geographical Review; **38**(1):55-94.
- Tiercelin, J-J. (1981). Rifts continentaux: tectonique, climats, s´ ediments: Exemples: la s´ edimentation dans le nord du rift Gregory (Kenya) et dans le rift de l'Afar (Ethiopie) depuis le Mioc` ene. PhD thesis, University of Aix-Marseille II, France.
- Törnqvist, R. and Jarsjö, J. (2012). Water savings through improved irrigation techniques: Basin-scale quantification in semi-arid environments. Water Resour. Manag., 26: 949–962.
- Tsuma, J., Kobingi, N., Muli, J., and Mugo, J. (2017). Demarcation and pro tection of Lokuratebem breeding site in Liaison with communities and monitoring: The effect of protection on the fishery of Lake Baringo. Technical Report LB/GOK/17-18/01, Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, Mombasa, Kenya.
- Tyedmers, P. and Ward, B. (2001). A review of the impacts of climate change on BC's freshwater fish resources and possible management responses. Fisheries Centre Research Reports, **9(7):1-12**.
- Ulanowicz, R. and Puccia, C. (1990) Mixed trophic impacts in ecosystems. Coenoses, **5(1):** 7–16.
- Ulanowicz, R. E. (1986). Growth and development: ecosystem phenomenology. Springer Verlag, New York, 203 pp.

- Ulanowicz, R. E. (1997b). Ecology, the ascendent perspective. Columbia University Press, New York, USA Ulanowicz RE (2009). The dual nature of ecosystem dynamics. Ecol Modell., 220:1886–1892.
- Ulanowicz, R. E. and Norden, J. S. (1990) Symmetrical overhead in flow networks. Int J Sys Sci 211429-43.
- Ullah, M. H., Rashed-Un-Nabi, M. and Al-Mamun, M. A. (2012). Trophic model of the coastal ecosystem of the Bay of Bengal using mass balance Ecopath model, Ecol. Modell., 225: 82-94.
- UNEP, Odada, E. O., Olago, D., Kulindwa, K. A. A., Bugenyi, F., West, K., Ntiba, M., Wandiga, S. and Karimumuryango, J. (2004). East African Rift Valley Lakes, GIWA Regional assessment 47, Kalmar, Sweden: University of Kalmar. ISSN 1651-940X, 2004.
- Vallet-Coulomb, C., Legesse, D., Gasse, F., Travi, Y. and Chernet, T. (2001). Lake evaporation estimates in tropical Africa (Lake Ziway, Ethiopia). J. Hydrol., 245:1-8.
- Vandecasteele, I., Moeyersons, J. and Trefois, P., (2010). An assessment of the spatial and temporal distribution of natural hazards in Central Africa. In: Runge, J. (Ed), African Palaeoenvironments and Geomorphic Landscape Evolution. Series 'Palaeoecology of Africa, 30:279-300. London, UK: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Vanderploeg, H. A., Pothoven, S. A., Fahnenstiel, G. L., Cavaletto, J. F., Liebig, J. R., Stow, C. A., Nalepa, T. F., Madenjian, C. P. and Bunnell D. B. (2012).
 Seasonal zooplankton dynamics in Lake Michigan: Disentangling impacts of resource limitation, ecosystem engineering, and predation during a critical ecosystem transition. J. Great Lakes Res., **38**: 336–52.

- Vasconcellos, M., Mackinson, S., Sloman, K., and Pauly, D. (1997). The stability of trophic mass-balance models of marine ecosystems: a comparative analysis. *Ecological modelling*, **100**(1-3): 125-134.
- Verberg, P., Hecky, R. E. and Kling, H. (2003). Ecological consequences of a century of warming in Lake Tanganyika. Science, **301:**505-507.
- Verschuren, D. (2003). Lake-based climate reconstruction in Africa: Progress and Challenges. *Hydrobiologia*, **500**:315-330.
- Verschuren, D., Sinninghe Damsté, J. S., Moernaut, J., Kristen, I., Blaauw, M., Fagaut, M. and Haug, G. H., CHALLACEA project members (2009). Halfprecessional dynamics of monsoon rainfall near the East African Equator. Nature, 462 (7273):637-641. Doi: 10.1038/nature 08520.
- Villanueva, M. C., Ouedraogo, M. and Moreau, J. (2006). Trophic relationships in the recently impounded Bagre Reservoir in Burkina Faso. Ecological Modeling, 191: 243–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.04.031.
- Vollenweider, R. A. (1975). Input-output models with special reference to the phosphorus loading concept in limnology. Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Hydrologie, 37:53-84. doi: 10.1007/BF02505178.
- Vörös, L. and Padisák, J. (1991). Phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll-a in some shallow lakes in central Europe. Hydrobiologia, 215:111–119. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00014715.
- Vuglinskiy, V. (2009). Water level in lakes and reservoirs, water storage. Assessment of the status of the development of the standards for the terrestrial essential climate variables. Report of Global Terrestrial Observing System, Rome, 17p.

- Wagner, T. and Falter, M. C. (2002). Response of an aquatic macrophyte community to fluctuating water levels in an oligotrophic lake. Lake and Reservoir Management, 18:52-65.
- Walters, C., Christensen, V., and Pauly, D. (1997). Structuring dynamic models of exploited ecosystems from trophic mass-balance assessment. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish, 7: 139–172
- Walumona, J. R., Kaunda-Arara, B., Odoli Ogombe, C., Murakaru, J. M., Raburu, P., Muvundja Amisi, F., Nyakeya, K., and Kondowe, B. N. (2021b). Effects of lake-level changes on water quality and fisheries production of Lake Baringo, Kenya. Ecohydrology, e2368. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.2368.
- Walumona, J. R., Odoli, C. O., Raburu, P., Amisi, F. M., Murakaru, M. J., Kondowe,
 B. N. and Kaunda-Arara, B. (2021a). Spatio-temporal variations in selected water quality parameters and trophic status of Lake Baringo, Kenya. Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management, 26:1-16. https://doi.org/10.1111/lre.12367.
- Wantzen, K. M., Rothhaupt, K.-O., Mörtl, M., Cantonati, M., Tóth, L. G. and Fischer,P. (2008a). Ecological effects of water-level fluctuations in lakes: an urgent issue. Hydrobiologia, 613:1-4.
- Waya, R. K., Limbu, S. M., Ngupula, G. W., Mwita, C. J. and Mgaya, Y. D. (2017). Temporal patterns in phytoplankton, zooplankton and fish composition, abundance and biomass in Shirati Bay, Lake Victoria, Tanzania. Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management, 22: 19–42.

- Waya, R. K., Limbu, S. M., Ngupula, G. W., Mwita, C. J. and Mgaya Y. D. (2014). Spatial patterns of zooplankton distribution and abundance in relation to phytoplankton, fish catch and some water quality parameters at Shirati Bay. Lake Victoria-Tanzania. Tanz. J. Sci., 40: 20–33.
- Welcomme, R. L. (1970). Studies on the effect on abnormal high water levels on the ecology in certain shallow regions on Lake Victoria. Journal of Zoology, 160:405-436.
- Welcomme, R. L. (2008). World prospects for floodplain fisheries. Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology, **8:**169-182.
- Welcomme, R. L., Cowx, I, G., Coates, D., Béné, C., Funge-Smith, S., Halla, A. and Lorenzen, K. (2010). Inland capture fisheries. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 365(1554): 2881-2896.
- Wetzel, R. G. (1983). Limnology. 2nd ed. Saunders College Publishing, Philadelphia, Pa. Chambers, P.A., and Kalff, J. 1985. The influence of sediment composition and irradiance on the growth and morphology of Myriophyllum spicatum L. Aquat. Bot., 22: 253-263.
- Wetzel, R. G. (2001). Limnology of Lake and river ecosystems. San Diego, Academic Press, 3rd edition. P. 1006.
- White, M., Xenopoulos, M., Hogsden, K., Metcalfe, R. and Dillon, P. (2008). Natural lake level fluctuation and associated concordance with water quality and aquatic communities within small lakes of the Laurentian Great Lakes region. Hydrobiologia, 613: 21–31.
- WHO (2005). Hardness in drinking-water, background document for development of
 WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality.
 WHO/HSE/WSH/10.01/10/Rev/1. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- WHO (2008). Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- WHO (2011). Hardness in drinking-water, background document for development of WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality.WHO/HSE/WSH/10.01/10/Rev/1.
 World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Wilcox, D. A. and Meeker, J. E. (1991). Disturbance effects on aquatic vegetation in regulated and unregulated lakes in northern Minnesota. Canadian Journal of Botany, 69:1542–1551.
- Winfried, I. (2004). Fish in the littoral zone: ecology, threats and management. Limnologica, **34**:124-131.
- Wootton, J. T. (1994). Predicting direct and indirect effects: an integrated approach using experiments and path analysis. Ecology, **75**: 151–165.
- Wootton, J. T., Power, M. E., Paine, R. T. and Pfister, C. A. (1996). Effects of productivity, consumers, competitors, and El Nino events on food chain patterns in a rocky intertidal community. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 93: 13855– 13858.
- World Health Organization (2008). *Guidelines for drinking Water quality*. World Health Organization.
- Worthington, E. B. and Ricardo, C. K. (1936). Scientific results of the cambridge expedition to the east African lakes 1930- 31.15-The Fish of Lake Rudolf and Lake Baringo. J Linn Soc Zool., **39:** 353-389.
- Wulandari, D. Y. (2015). Phytoplankton Community Structure and Fertility Level of Coastal Waters of Tangerang (Bogor : Bogor Agricultural), p. 31.

- Xu, S., Chen, Z., Li, S., and He, P. (2011). Modeling trophic structure and energy flows in a coastal artificial ecosystem using mass-balance Ecopath model. Estuarine and Coast, 34: 351–363. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-010-9323-0.
- Yamamoto, T., Kohmatsu, Y. and Yuma, M. (2006). Effects of summer drawdown on cyprinid fish larvae in Lake Biwa, Japan. Limnology, **7:**75-82.
- Yidana, S.M., and Yidana, A. (2010). Assessing water quality using water quality index and multivariate analysis. Environ. Earth Sci, 59: 1461-1573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-009-0132-3.
- Yidanaa, S. M., Ophoria , D. and Banoeng, Y. B. (2008). A Multivariate Statistical Analysis of Surface Water Chemistyr Data- The Ankobra Basin, Ghana. Journal of Environmental Management, 86(1): 80-87.
- Yin, X. G. and Nicholson, S. E. (1998). The water balance of Lake Victoria. Hydrol. Sci. J., **43:**789–811.
- Yin, X. G., Nicholson, S. E. and Ba, M. B. (2000). On the diurnal cycle of cloudiness over Lake Victoria and its influence on evaporation from the lake. Hydrol. Sci. J., 45:407–424.
- Zalewski, M., Janauer, G. A. and Jolankai, G. (1997). Ecohydrology. A New Paradigm for the Sustainable Use of Aquatic Resources. International Hydrological Programme IHP-V Technical Documents in Hydrology, (7).
- Zar, J. H. (2010). Biostatistical Analysis. 5th ed. Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data.
- Zbierska, J.; Lawniczak, A. E. and Zbierska, A. (2015). Changes in the trophic status of lakes Niepruszewskie (Poland). Journal of Ecological Engineering, **16(4)**: 65-73.

- Zhang, L., Walker, G. R., and Dawes, W. R. (2002). Water Balance Modelling: Concepts and Applications. In: McVicar, T.R., Rui, L., Walker, J., Fitzpatrick, R.W., Changming, L. (Eds.), Regional Water and Soil Assessment for Managing Sustainable Agriculture in China and Australia. ACIAR Monograph Canberra, Australia, pp. 31–47.
- Zhang, X., Hao, Y., Thomson, V. (2015). Taking ideas from paper to practice: a case study of improving design processes through detailed modeling and systematic analysis. IFAC-PapersOnLine, 48(3):1043–1048.
- Zinyowera, M. C., Jallow, B. P., Maya, R. S. and Okoth-Ogendo, H. W. O. (1998).
 Africa. Pages 30-84. In Watson, R.T., M.C. Zinyowera, R.H. Moss, and D.J.
 Dokken (Eds.) The regional impacts of climate change; An assessment of vulnerability, A special report of IPCC Working Group II. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

APPENDICES

Appendix I: Identification Keys for phytoplankton population: a large file available online:

1.http://www.kaowarsom.be/documents/MEMOIRES_VERHANDELINGEN/Scienc es_naturelles_medicales/Nat.Sc.(NS)_T.23,2_MPAWENAYO,%20B._Le s%20eaux%20de%20la%20plaine%20de%20la%20Rusizi%20(Burundi)-%20les%20milieux,%20la%20flore%20et%20la%20v%C3%A9g%C3%A9tati on%20algales_1996.PDF

2. http://nio.org/userfiles/file/biology/Phytoplankton-manual.pdf

3. http://oceandatacenter.ucsc.edu/home/outreach/PhytoID_fullset.pdf.

Appendix II: Supplementary Tables (S)

Table S1: Two-way ANOVA (P < 0.05) results for 10 selected variables measured in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period of 2008-2020. Bold figures depict parameters with no significant differences of the interaction between stations x years

Variables	Source of variations	SS	DF	MS	F	p_value	F crit
a) D0	Stations	72.24	4	18.06	31.73	0.000	2.38
	Years	118.31	12	9.86	17.32	0.000	1.77
	Interaction	48.68	48	1.01	1.78	0.001	1.38
	Within	406.99	715	0.57			
	Total	646.21	779				
b) Temperature	Stations	2304.27	4	576.07	5.78	0.000	2.38
	Years	2556.11	12	213.01	2.14	0.013	1.77
	Interaction	9528.56	48	198.51	1.99	0.000	1.38
	Within	71244.65	715	99.64			
	Total	85633.60	779				
c) Conductivity	stations	203942.68	4	50985.67	8.47	0.000	2.38
	Years	8880468.06	12	740039.00	122.99	0.000	1.77
	Interaction	865857.23	48	18038.69	3.00	0.000	1.38
	Within	4302358.68	715	6017.28			
	Total	14252626.66	779				
d) Turbidity	Stations	5336.12	4	1334.03	1.21	0.306	2.38
	Years	1004803.33	12	83733.61	75.80	0.000	1.77
	Interaction	47144.46	48	982.18	0.89	0.686	1.38
	Within	789832.88	715	1104.66			
	Total	1847116.80	779				
e) Secchi disk	Stations	7172.74	4	1793.19	7.89	0.000	2.38
	Years	915122.45	12	76260.20	335.74	0.000	1.77
	Interaction	12323.74	48	256.74	1.13	0.257	1.38
	Within	162405.87	715	227.14			
	Total	1097024.81	779				
f) Chlorophyll-a	Stations	10396.76	4	2599.19	2.92	0.022	2.41
	Years	125119.62	12	10426.63	11.72	0.000	1.79
	Interaction	51224.26	48	1067.17	1.20	0.188	1.41
	Within	231358.88	260	889.84			
	Total	418099.52	324				

g) TP	Stations	125742.41	4	31435.60	34.53	0.000	2.41
	Years	1221866.16	12	101822.18	111.86	0.000	1.79
	Interaction	306163.42	48	6378.40	7.01	0.000	1.41
	Within	236666.48	260	910.26			
	Total	1890438.47	324				
h) TN	Stations	82870.02	4	20717.50	3.41	0.010	2.41
	Years	7701595.85	12	641799.65	105.64	0.000	1.79
	Interaction	188182.01	48	3920.46	0.65	0.966	1.41
	Within	1579617.06	260	6075.45			
	Total	9552264.93	324				
i) SiO44	Stations	1803.76	4	450.94	26.37	0.000	2.41
	Years	3247.06	12	270.59	15.82	0.000	1.79
	Interaction	2850.20	48	59.38	3.47	0.000	1.41
	Within	4446.47	260	17.10			
	Total	12347.49	324				
j) PO4 ³⁻	Stations	9078.65	4	2269.66	21.15	0.000	2.41
	Years	21711.70	12	1809.31	16.86	0.000	1.79
	Interaction	22427.61	48	467_24	4.35	0.000	1.41
	Within	27905.86	260	107.33			
	Total	81123.82	324				

DO: Dissolved oxygen, TP: total phosphorus and TN: total nitrogen, SiO_4^{4-} : silicates and PO_4^{3-} : phosphates

Table S2: Two-way ANOVA (P < 0.05) results for 15 selected variables measured in Lake Baringo, Kenya, for the period of January 2020- June 2021. Bold figures depict parameters with significant differences of either both the seasons and stations or one of them, the interaction between station x years did not show significant differences between the parameters

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Source of						
a) DO Seasons $5.70 \ 1 \ 5.70 \ 4.38 \ 0.0382 \ 3.907$ Stations $40.36 \ 8 \ 5.05 \ 3.87 \ 0.0004 \ 2.005$ Interaction $9.15 \ 8 \ 1.14 \ 0.88 \ 0.537 \ 2.005$ Within $187.67 \ 144 \ 1.30$ b) Temperatur e Season $1.50 \ 1 \ 1.50 \ 0.49 \ 0.484 \ 3.907$ Stations $43.63 \ 8 \ 5.45 \ 1.78 \ 0.086 \ 2.005$ Interaction $20.17 \ 8 \ 2.52 \ 0.82 \ 0.584 \ 2.005$	Variables	variations	SS	DF	MS	F	p value	F crit
Stations 40.36 8 5.05 3.87 0.0004 2.003 Interaction 9.15 8 1.14 0.88 0.537 2.003 Within 187.67 144 1.30 1.30 1.14 0.88 0.537 2.003 b) Temperatur e Season 1.50 1 1.50 0.49 0.484 3.907 Stations 43.63 8 5.45 1.78 0.086 2.003 Within 20.17 8 2.52 0.82 0.584 2.003 Within 441.71 144 3.07	a) DO	Seasons	5.70	1	5.70	4.38	0.0382	3.907
Interaction 9.15 8 1.14 0.88 0.537 2.003 Within 187.67 144 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.50	,	Stations	40.36	8	5.05	3.87	0.0004	2.003
Within Total 187.67 242.88 144 1.30 b) 242.88 161 b) Temperatur 1.50 1 1.50 0.49 0.484 3.907 e Season 1.50 1 1.50 0.49 0.484 3.907 Stations 43.63 8 5.45 1.78 0.086 2.003 Interaction 20.17 8 2.52 0.82 0.584 2.003 Within 441.71 144 3.07 3.07 3.07 3.07		Interaction	9.15	8	1.14	0.88	0.537	2.003
Total 242.88 161 b) Temperatur <t< td=""><td></td><td>Within</td><td>187.67</td><td>144</td><td>1.30</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>		Within	187.67	144	1.30			
b) Temperatur e Season 1.50 1 1.50 0.49 0.484 3.907 Stations 43.63 8 5.45 1.78 0.086 2.003 Interaction 20.17 8 2.52 0.82 0.584 2.003 Within 441.71 144 3.07		Total	242.88	161				
Temperatur e Season 1.50 1 1.50 0.49 0.484 3.907 Stations 43.63 8 5.45 1.78 0.086 2.003 Interaction 20.17 8 2.52 0.82 0.584 2.003 Within 441.71 144 3.07	b)							
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	U) Tomporatur							
Stations 43.63 8 5.45 1.78 0.086 2.003 Interaction 20.17 8 2.52 0.82 0.584 2.003 Within 441.71 144 3.07 3.07		Season	1.50	1	1.50	0.40	0.484	3 007
Interaction 20.17 8 2.52 0.82 0.584 2.003 Within 441.71 144 3.07	C	Stations	1.50	1 8	1.30 5.45	1 78	0.484	2 003
Within 441.71 144 3.07		Interaction	43.03	0 8	2.43	1.70	0.080	2.003
Within 441.71 144 5.07		Within	20.17	0 144	2.32	0.82	0.384	2.003
Total 507 007 161		Total	507.007	144	5.07			
101	-	Total	507.007	101				
c)	c)							
Conductivit	Conductivit							
y Season 3508.52 1 3508.52 0.56 0.46 3.91	У	Season	3508.52	1	3508.52	0.56	0.46	3.91
Stations 74721.87 8 9340.23 1.49 0.16 2.00		Stations	74721.87	8	9340.23	1.49	0.16	2.00
Interaction 50908.02 8 6363.50 1.02 0.43 2.00		Interaction	50908.02	8	6363.50	1.02	0.43	2.00
Within 900265.29 144 6251.84		Within	900265.29	144	6251.84			
Total 1029403.7 161		Total	1029403.7	161				
d) SD Season 4142.52 1 4142.52 12.64 0.0005 3.91	d) SD	Season	4142.52	1	4142.52	12.64	0.0005	3.91
Stations 5853.06 8 731.63 2.23 0.028 2.00	,	Stations	5853.06	8	731.63	2.23	0.028	2.00
Interaction 351.59 8 43.95 0.13 0.998 2.00		Interaction	351.59	8	43.95	0.13	0.998	2.00
Within 47209.16 144 327.84		Within	47209.16	144	327.84			
Total 57556.33 161		Total	57556.33	161				
a) Chl a Sancar $75.66 + 1.75.66 + 0.02 + 0.88 + 2.05$	a) Chl a	Saacon	75 66	1	75 66	0.02	0.00	2.01
1.500 1.500 1.500 1.500 1.500 1.52 $1.$	e) Chi-a	Stations	20214.08	1	75.00	0.02	0.00	2.00
Interaction 24424.00 8 2052.12 0.04 0.48 2.00		Interaction	24424.00	0	4914.37	1.52	0.10	2.00
$\begin{array}{rcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrc$		Within	24424.99 166713.81	0 144	3033.12	0.94	0.40	2.00
Total $530529 M$ 161		Total	530529 44	144	3241.07			
10tai 550529.44 101	-	Total	550529.44	101				
f) TP Season 2347.61 1 2347.61 0.76 0.38 3.91	f) TP	Season	2347.61	1	2347.61	0.76	0.38	3.91
Stations 37392.19 8 4674.02 1.52 0.15 2.00		Stations	37392.19	8	4674.02	1.52	0.15	2.00
Interaction 11948.84 8 1493.61 0.49 0.86 2.00		Interaction	11948.84	8	1493.61	0.49	0.86	2.00
Within 442309.89 144 3071.59		Within	442309.89	144	3071.59			
Total 493998.53 161		Total	493998.53	161				
g) TN Season 14297.03 1 14297.03 13.631 0 0003 3 9	g) TN	Season	14297 03	1	14297 03	13 631	0.0003	3 91
Stations 16839.10 8 2104.89 2.007 0.0495 2.00	5/ 111	Stations	16839 10	8	2104 89	2 007	0.0495	2.00
Interaction 5359,46 8 669.93 0.639 0.7441 2.00		Interaction	5359.46	8	669.93	0.639	0.7441	2.00

	Within Total	151033,4 187528,99	144 161	1048.84			
h) SiO4 ⁴⁻	Season Stations Interaction Within Total	113.14 1430.10 239.95 11988.62 13771.81	1 8 8 144 161	113.14 178.76 29.99 83.25	1.36 2.15 0.36	0.246 0.035 0.939	3.91 2.00 2.00
i) NO ₃ -	Season Stations Interaction Within Total	605.88 5897.13 6434.74 69006.89 81944.64	1 8 144 161	605.88 737.14 804.35 479.21	1.26 1.54 1.68	0.263 0.149 0.108	3.91 2.00 2.00
j) NO ₂ -	Season Stations Interaction Within Total	1.84 716.05 113.43 6206.59 7037.92	1 8 144 161	1.843 89.507 14.178 43.101	0.043 2.077 0.329	0.836 0.041 0.954	3.91 2.00 2.00
k) PO4 ³⁻	Season Stations Interaction Within Total	2843.68 6447.56 5032.98 96437.10 110761.32	1 8 8 144 161	2843,68 805.94 629.12 669.70	4.25 1.20 0.94	0.0411 0.301 0.486	3.91 2.00 2.00
l) NH4 ⁺	Season Stations Interaction Within Total	12.99 16006.73 9162.92 223445.02 248627.66	1 8 8 144 161	12.99 2000.84 1145.37 1551.70	0.008 1.289 0.738	0.927 0.253 0.658	3.91 2.00 2.00
m) pH	Season Stations Interaction Within Total	5.457 3.112 1.272 52.668 62.510	1 8 8 144 161	5.457 0.389 0.159 0.366	14.919 1.064 0.435	0.00016 0.392 0.899	3.91 2.00 2.00
o) TDS	Season Stations Interaction Within Total	13470.332 46282.214 18103.050 200971.576 278827.171	1 8 8 144 161	13470.33 2 5785.277 2262.881 1395.636	9.652 4.145 1.621	0.002 0.00017 0.123	3.91 2.00 2.00
p) WQI	Season	68689.278	1	68689.27 8 21358.33	6.759	0.010	3.91
	Stations	170866.651	8	1 18288.65	2.102	0.039	2.00
	Interaction	146309.228 1463331.42	8	4 10162.02	1.799	0.081	2.00
	Within Total	1 1849196.58 2	144 161	4			
	10101	4	101				

Table S3: Annual catch landings, surface water temperature, length and growth coefficient estimates of fish species used in Ecopath model for Lake Baringo (Kenya) for 1999, 2000, and 2020

		Catches	%	n	Lc	Lmax	Lmean	$L\infty$		Tc
	Species name/group	(t/year)			(cm)	(cm)	(<i>cm</i>)	(cm)	K	(°C)
Peri	ods (Years) 1999									
1	Protopterus aethiopicus	42.1	72.2	453	32	136.0	86.5	133.4	0.40	26.99
2	Labeobarbus intermedius	0.1	0.2	259	16	40.5	27.2	42.0	0.94	26.99
3	Clarias gariepinus	12.8	21.9	458	18	180.0	52.3	186.9	0.32	26.99
4	Oreochromis niloticus	3.3	5.7	335	10	33.0	21.9	33.6	1.20	26.99
	Total	58.3	100	1,505						
Peri	ods (Years) 2010									
1	Protopterus aethiopicus	38.3	54.9	509	21	148.0	81.0	150.7	0.33	27.40
2	Labeobarbus intermedius	0.5	0.7	633	15	70.3	25.1	75.1	0.48	27.40
3	Clarias gariepinus	12.92	18.5	631	18	141.0	48.3	147.0	0.27	27.40
4	Oreochromis niloticus	18.04	25.9	652	10	62.5	22.2	64.1	0.67	27.40
	Total	69.76	100	2,425						
Peri	ods (Years) 2020									
1	Protopterus aethiopicus	42.4	37.1	5376	10	160.0	75.5	168.0	0.25	26.78
2	Labeobarbus intermedius	9.8	8.6	5889	13	100.0	23.0	108.2	0.01	26.78
3	Clarias gariepinus	33.6	29.4	2016	17	102.0	44.3	107.1	0.22	26.78
4	Oreochromis niloticus	28.5	24.9	1027	10	92.0	22.6	94.5	0.14	26.78
	Total	114.3	100	14,308						

Abbreviations: Lc: length at first capture; Tc: mean annual surface water temperature; *L*max: maximum length or total length; *Lmean*: mean length; $L\infty$: asymptotic length; *k*: growth coefficient and n stands for the number of fish specimens.

Appendix III: Similarity Report



	Similarity	Index Ó	Similarity by Internet Sour Publications: Student Pape	Source ces: rs:	16% 6% 5%	
include quoted	include bibliog	caphy ex	cluding match	nes < 4 wor	ds	mode
quickview (classic) rep	ort v	Change m	ode print	refresh	download	
<1% match (stu Submitted to Kw 2018-09-07	dent papers fr ame Nkrumah	om 07-Se Universit	p-2018) y of Scienc	e and Tecl	hnology or	1 🖪
<1% match (Inte http://www.jlake	ernet from 04 s.org	Oct-2021)			E
<1% match (Inte https://pure.unan /Muvundja_Fabric	rnet from 23- nur.be/ws/file e_Thesis_ext	Mar-2021 s/126056 raits_inte) <u>19</u> met.pdf			E
<1% match (Inter http://www.kmae	net from 30- -journal.org	Nov-2016)			1
<1% match () Mbanguka, René, I Jarsjö, Jerker. "Wa sensitivity to hydro	yon, Steve V ter balance a polimatic force	V, Holmgr nd level (ings", MD	en, Karin, hange of I PI Publishi	Girons Lo ake Baba ng, 2016	opez, Marc ati, Tanzar	iia:
<1% match (Intern http://oris.nacosti.	net from 14-l g <u>o.ke</u>	Dec-2014)			
<1% match (Intern http://www.corpi.k	net from 14-0 u.lt	Oct-2010)			

<1% match (student naners from 19-Sen-2019)